Marcela Prada Acuña

Kumulative Dissertation Univ.-Diss.

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades ''doctor rerum naturalium'' (Dr. rer. nat.) in der Wissenschaftsdisziplin ''Epidemiologie''

angefertigt am Deutschen Institut für Ernährungsforschung Potsdam-Rehbrücke (DIfE) und eingereicht an der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Universität Potsdam

Potsdam, 15.06.2022

Die Publikation ist durch das Urheberrecht und/oder verwandte Schutzrechte geschützt. Nutzende sind berechtigt, die Publikation in jeder Form zu nutzen, die das Urheberrechtsgesetz (UrhG) und/oder einschlägige verwandte Schutzrechte gestatten. Für weitere Nutzungsarten ist die Zustimmung der Rechteinhaber\*innen einzuholen. https://rightsstatements.org/page/InC/1.0/

Hauptbetreuer: Prof. Dr. Matthias Schulze Betreuerin: Prof. Dr. Cornelia Weikert

Gutachter\*innen: Prof. Dr. Sarah Egert Prof. Dr. Stefan Lorkowski

Datum der mündlichen Prüfung: 25.01.2023

Online veröffentlicht auf dem Publikationsserver der Universität Potsdam: https://doi.org/10.25932/publishup-58159 https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:kobv:517-opus4-581598

# Table of Contents

1.		Summary	1
2.		List of Abbreviations	3
3.		Introduction	5
	,	Type 2 diabetes	5
		Dietary and circulating fatty acids	5
	,	Trans fatty acids	9
	,	Saturated fatty acids1	1
		Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids1	2
	-	Detailed fatty acid profiles in EPIC Potsdam case-cohort study 1	.4
	3.1	Objectives and Outline1	5
4.		Manuscripts 1	6
	Lis	st of manuscripts and contributions1	6
	Ma	anuscript 1: Plasma Industrial and Ruminant Trans Fatty Acids and Incident Type 2	
	Di	abetes in the EPIC-Potsdam Cohort 1	7
	Ma	anuscript 2: Association of the odd-chain fatty acid content in lipid groups with type 2	
	dia	betes risk: A targeted analysis of lipidomics data in the EPIC-Potsdam cohort	9
	Ma	anuscript 3: Plasma lipidomic n-6 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids and Type 2 Diabetes Rist	k
	in	the EPIC-Potsdam Prospective Cohort Study	57
5.		Discussion12	21
	5.1	Trans Fatty Acids (Manuscript 1)12	21
	,	TFA subtypes12	21
		Not all ruminant TFAs are the same12	2
	,	TFA as potential biomarkers of dairy intake12	23
	5.2	2 Odd Chain Fatty Acids (Manuscript 2) 12	24
		Plasma OCFAs distribution across the different lipid classes	24
		Class-specific associations of OCFAs with T2D risk12	24
		15:0 and 17:0 as potential biomarkers of dairy intake	25

5.3 N-6 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids (Manuscript 3)	
Class distribution of PUFAS	
Class-specific associations of PUFAs with T2D risk	
5.4 Strengths and Limitations	129
6. Conclusions and Future Perspectives	131
7. References of Introduction and Discussion	
Acknowledgements	141
Eidesstattliche Erklärung	142

#### 1. Summary

**Background:** The role of fatty acid (FA) intake and metabolism in type 2 diabetes (T2D) incidence is controversial. Some FAs are not synthesised endogenously and, therefore, these circulating FAs reflect dietary intake, for example, the trans fatty acids (TFAs), saturated odd chain fatty acids (OCFAs), and linoleic acid, an n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA). It remains unclear if intake of TFA influence T2D risk and whether industrial TFAs (iTFAs) and ruminant TFAs (rTFAs) exert the same effect. Unlike even chain saturated FAs, the OCFAs have been inversely associated with T2D risk, but this association is poorly understood. Furthermore, the associations of n-6 PUFAs intake with T2D risk are still debated, while delta-5 desaturase (D5D), a key enzyme in the metabolism of PUFAs, has been consistently related to T2D risk. To better understand these relationships, the FA composition in circulating lipid fractions can be used as biomarkers of dietary intake and metabolism. The exploration of TFAs subtypes in plasma phospholipids and OCFAs and n-6 PUFAs within a wide range of lipid classes may give insights into the pathophysiology of T2D.

**Aim:** This thesis aimed mainly to analyse the association of TFAs, OCFAs and n-6 PUFAs with self-reported dietary intake and prospective T2D risk, using seven types of TFAs in plasma phospholipids and deep lipidomics profiling data from fifteen lipid classes.

**Methods:** A prospective case-cohort study was designed within the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)-Potsdam study, including all the participants who developed T2D (median follow-up 6.5 years) and a random subsample of the full cohort (subcohort: n=1248; T2D cases: n=820). The main analyses included two lipid profiles. The first was an assessment of seven TFA in plasma phospholipids, with a modified method for analysis of FA with very low abundances. The second lipid profile was derived from a highthroughout lipid profiling technology, which identified 940 distinct molecular species and allowed to quantify OCFAs and PUFAs composition across 15 lipid classes. Delta-5 desaturase (D5D) activity was estimated as 20:4/20:3-ratio. Using multivariable Cox regression models, we examined the associations of TFA subtypes with incident T2D and class-specific associations of OCFA and n-6 PUFAs with T2D risk.

**Results:** 16:1n-7*t*, 18:1n-7*t*, and *c*9*t*11-CLA were positively correlated with the intake of fatrich dairy foods. iTFA 18:1 isomers were positively correlated with margarine. After adjustment for confounders and other TFAs, higher plasma phospholipid concentrations of two rTFAs were associated with a lower incidence of T2D: 18:1n-7*t* and *t*10*c*12-CLA. In contrast, the rTFA *c*9*t*11-CLA was associated with a higher incidence of T2D. rTFA 16:1n-7*t* and iTFAs (18:1n-6*t*, 18:1n-9*t*, 18:2n-6,9*t*) were not statistically significantly associated with T2D risk.

We observed heterogeneous integration of OCFA in different lipid classes, and the contribution of 15:0 versus 17:0 to the total OCFA abundance differed across lipid classes. Consumption of fat-rich dairy and fiber-rich foods were positively and red meat inversely correlated to OCFA abundance in plasma phospholipid classes. In women only, higher abundances of 15:0 in phosphatidylcholines (PC) and diacylglycerols (DG), and 17:0 in PC, lysophosphatidylcholines (LPC), and cholesterol esters (CE) were inversely associated with T2D risk. In men and women, a higher abundance of 15:0 in monoacylglycerols (MG) was also inversely associated with T2D. Conversely, a higher 15:0 concentration in LPC and triacylglycerols (TG) was associated with higher T2D risk in men. Women with a higher concentration of 17:0 as free fatty acids (FFA) also had higher T2D incidence.

The integration of n-6 PUFAs in lipid classes was also heterogeneous. 18:2 was highly abundant in phospholipids (particularly PC), CE, and TG; 20:3 represented a small fraction of FA in most lipid classes, and 20:4 accounted for a large proportion of circulating phosphatidylinositol (PI) and phosphatidylethanolamines (PE). Higher concentrations of 18:2 were inversely associated with T2D risk, especially within DG, TG, and LPC. However, 18:2 as part of MG was positively associated with T2D risk. Higher concentrations of 20:3 in phospholipids (PC, PE, PI), FFA, CE, and MG were linked to higher T2D incidence. 20:4 was unrelated to risk in most lipid classes, except positive associations were observed for 20:4 enriched in FFA and PE. The estimated D5D activities in PC, PE, PI, LPC, and CE were inversely associated with T2D and explained variance of estimated D5D activity by genomic variation in the FADS locus was only substantial in those lipid classes.

**Conclusion:** The TFAs' conformation is essential in their relationship to diabetes risk, as indicated by plasma rTFA subtypes concentrations having opposite directions of associations with diabetes risk. Plasma OCFA concentration is linked to T2D risk in a lipid class and sexspecific manner. Plasma n-6 PUFA concentrations are associated differently with T2D incidence depending on the specific FA and the lipid class. Overall, these results highlight the complexity of circulating FAs and their heterogeneous association with T2D risk depending on the specific FA structure, lipid class, and sex. My results extend the evidence of the relationship between diet, lipid metabolism, and subsequent T2D risk. In addition, my work generated several potential new biomarkers of dietary intake and prospective T2D risk.

# 2. List of Abbreviations

AA	Arachidonic acid (20:4n-6)
CE	Cholesteryl esters
Cer	Ceramides
D5D	Delta-5 desaturase
DG	Diacylglycerols
DGLA	Dihomo-gamma-linolenic acid (20:3n-6)
dhCer	Dihydroceramides
EPIC	European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition
FA	Fatty acid
FFA	Free fatty acids
FFQ	Food frequency questionnaire
GLA	Gamma-linolenic acid (18:3n-6)
HexCer	Hexosylceramides
LA	Linoleic acid
LacCer	lactosylceramides
LPC	Lysophosphatidylcholines
LPE	Lysophosphatidylethanolamines
MG	Monoacylglycerols
OCFA	Odd chain fatty acid
PC	Phosphatidylcholines
PE	Phosphatidylethanolamines
PI	Phosphatidyl inositol
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acid
SFA	Saturated fatty acid

- SM Sphingomyelins
- T2D Type 2 diabetes
- TFA Trans fatty acids
- TG Triacylglycerols

### 3. Introduction

#### **Type 2 diabetes**

Five hundred thirty-seven million adults worldwide were estimated to have diabetes in 2021, and approximately 90-95% of them have type 2 diabetes (T2D), the most common form of diabetes (1, 2). T2D is a chronic condition derived from insufficient insulin secretion by the pancreas and peripheral insulin resistance. These two interrelated mechanisms lead to dysregulation of blood glucose uptake and, therefore, high glucose concentration in the blood. Chronic hyperglycemia can induce damage to the circulatory, nervous, and immune systems, apart from organs like the eyes and kidneys (1). Therefore, prevention, early detection, and management of T2D are public health priorities (3).

The specific causes of T2D are not fully understood; still, there is a strong link with some risk factors, for example, overweight and obesity, increasing age, lack of physical activity, and ethnicity (4). While some risk factors are not modifiable, modifying certain lifestyle aspects may constitute an effective strategy for preventing diabetes-related morbidity, complications, and mortality. The recommendations suggest achieving and maintaining a healthy body weight and a healthy diet (2). Regarding diet, randomised controlled trials have demonstrated that dietary modifications can largely prevent T2D (5-8), in line with meta-analyses of prospective cohort studies (9, 10). There is consensus that interventions that modify diets to achieve weight loss can prevent the development of T2D in individuals at risk, however, uncertainty exists over which dietary composition is best to reduce T2D risk, independent of the weight loss (11).

#### Dietary and circulating fatty acids

One aspect that has been under debate for decades is the role of dietary fat as a risk factor for T2D. Nutritional guidelines have recommended limiting total and saturated fat to reduce the risk of chronic diseases like T2D (12). However, accumulating evidence has pointed out that the type of dietary fat is more important than just quantity. For example, a systematic review of prospective cohort studies indicated that total fat intake was not associated with T2D risk, but intake of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) in exchange for carbohydrates or saturated fatty acids (SFAs) was associated with a reduced risk of T2D (13). Overall, investigations suggest that the role of dietary fats depends on the specific fatty acid (FA) and the food source. Advances in nutritional research have highlighted a complex relationship between

dietary fat and cardiometabolic diseases, with pathophysiological pathways yet to be discovered.

A major difficulty in the investigations into the role of dietary fat in the development of T2D is documenting the intake. In epidemiological research, the assessment of fat intake is commonly carried out with validated methods such as food frequency questionnaires (FFQ), food diaries, and 24-hour recalls. These self-reporting tools, which are subjective in nature, have many advantages but are limited by measurement errors. Errors arise from under- or over-reporting (frequency and portion size), which could be intentional (e.g., underreporting food perceived as unhealthy, changing food intake to make recording simpler) or unintentional (inability to estimate portion size). The accuracy of self-reported methods could also be influenced by many other reasons; for example, day/seasonal variations in foods consumed, the ability of the interviewer to assist in recalling and estimating portion sizes, the imprecise estimation of FA intake due to variations in composition tables or variations in FA food content (e.g., among different types of cheese), miscoding, among others (14). Furthermore, compared with other diet components, the amount and type of dietary fat are particularly challenging to measure with traditional self-report assessments. This is because fat is added in food preparation (frying, cooking) and is hidden in dressing, sauces, or composite foods that are difficult to quantify and recognise. Besides, high-fat foods are underreported by people with overweight or obesity (14).

Self-reported methods have been validated by comparing results with another method that is presumed to be more accurate. However, the exact value is unknown because even weighted records depend on reports by the participants. Given these limitations, there has been a growing interest in using circulating FAs as biomarkers of intake, which allows an objective measurement of dietary intake. Intake biomarkers are an alternative to the traditional assessment by self-report in nutritional studies or a promising addition to calibrate or validate the accuracy of self-reported methods (15).

Controlled feeding and supplementation studies have confirmed that a higher intake of dietary FAs is reflected in higher proportions in the blood (16). FAs not synthesised endogenously tend to have stronger associations between dietary intake and circulating levels, potentially reflecting dietary intake. Examples are trans fatty acids (TFAs), saturated odd chain fatty acids (OCFAs), and linoleic acid, an n-6 PUFA. These FAs are found in blood and other tissues as part of lipid molecules or non-esterified (free) (17). However, in addition to reflecting intake, circulating biomarkers might also reflect nutrient status and metabolism. As

part of lipid metabolism, for example, enzymatic processes modify the length and saturation of the FA carbon chain or affect the composition of lipid tissues (16). Thus, the determinants of FA biomarkers include dietary intake and endogenous FA modification or relocation, providing a more integrated measure of exposure.

FAs in adipose tissue are considered a good choice as biomarkers for long-term intake (years) because adipose tissue has a slow turnover rate (18). However, the sampling of adipose tissue is very invasive and not easily available in large cohort studies. Investigators, especially in studies with a large number of participants, prefer to measure FAs in plasma or other blood compartments. FAs in total plasma or total plasma phospholipids are commonly used in many epidemiological studies. Furthermore, FAs measured from triglycerides or triacylglycerols (TG), erythrocytes phospholipids, cholesteryl esters (CE), and total plasma lipids are also often presented in the literature (16). Plasma, moreover, is a complex tissue with many more lipid classes available (**Figure 1**).



### Figure 1. Plasma lipid classes in lipidome profiles

Regardless of the interest in FA biomarkers in clinical and epidemiological trials, the selective incorporation of FAs into the different plasma lipid classes is poorly researched. Compared with earlier investigations, nutrition science has benefited from advanced methodologies like

metabolomic platforms that allow the characterisation of diverse lipid molecules across many lipid classes. The lipid classes differ in headgroup structure and FAs attached (17).

Phospholipids can be subdivided into different classes, depending on the headgroups: phosphatidylcholines (PC), phosphatidylethanolamines (PE), lysophosphatidylethanolamines (LPE), lysophosphatidylcholines (LPC), and phosphatidylinositol (PI). The glycerolipids are a group that includes TG, diacylglycerols (DG), and monoacylglycerols (MG) and are formed by one glycerol with three, two, or one FA, respectively. The sphingolipids involve sphingomyelins (SM), ceramides (Cer), dihydroceramides (dhCer), lactosylceramides (LacCer), and hexosylceramides (HexCer). CE are cholesterol backbones with FAs linked to the hydroxyl group. The free fatty acids (FFA) are FAs that circulate non-esterified.

The lipid class may influence the associations between specific FAs and T2D incidence analysed, given the differences in origin (liver, adipose tissue, diet) and functions (16). For example, phospholipids are part of the lipid bilayer of cell membranes, secreted mainly by the liver and released into circulation in lipoproteins (19). Phospholipids influence cell properties, like their permeability and fluidity, and are involved in metabolism and signalling (insulin signalling, receptor binding affinities, glucose transporters) (20). CE are formed from free cholesterol esterified to a FA for transport in circulating lipoproteins and storage in lipid droplets within cells. In circulation, CE are transported from digestive organs to tissues by very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) and from tissues to the liver by high-density lipoprotein (HDL) (21). Phospholipids and CE reflect recent intake (in terms of weeks or months) (16).

Lipoproteins also carry TG derived from dietary fat intake or endogenous synthesis, mainly in the liver and adipose tissue. TG are a major form of energy storage, especially in adipose tissue, but also in various cells and represent very recent intake (days). Another group is the plasma FFA, derived from adipose tissue during fasting and from lipoproteins after absorption from dietary fat intake (16), and thus are used as biomarkers of adipose tissue composition in fasted individuals.

Irrespective of the lipid fraction, the FAs measured therein are conventionally grouped into broad categories of FAs, such as total SFAs, total TFAs, and total n-6 PUFAs. This conventional classification ignores structural and biological differences. Within each category, there is diversity in carbon chain length, number and location of double bonds, and cis or trans conformation. This thesis focused on these three categories, commonly used as biomarkers of intake and part of the current scientific debate. But instead of a broad classification into these main groups, specific FAs were investigated across total phospholipids (TFAs) or several lipid fractions (OCFAs and n-6 PUFAs).

#### **Trans fatty acids**

TFAs are unsaturated FAs with at least one double bond in *trans* configuration. TFAs are formed during the industrial partial hardening of vegetable oils. Therefore, they are found in margarine, frying fats, baked goods, confectionery, and convenience foods (22). Industrial TFAs are used in food products because they improve some aspects of the industrial fat: texture, structure, thermal and oxidative stability, and provide longer shelf life. Ruminant TFAs, on the other hand, are formed in the digestive tract of ruminants and are a natural component of milk and butter along with beef, goat, and sheep meat. Both industrial and ruminant sources of TFAs contain a diverse distribution of TFA subtypes (22).

TFA subtypes vary by the carbon chain length and the number and location of the double bonds (**Figure 2**). A commonly used nomenclature indicates the number of carbons (first number), the number of double bonds (second number), and the position of the double bond from the methyl end (omega end or n-carbon). For example, 18:1n-7*t* (*trans*-vaccenic acid) has 18 carbons and 1 double bond in the location n-7 in *trans* configuration. The conjugated linoleic acids (CLA) are a particular type of TFA with only one carbon between two double bonds, one in *trans* and one in *cis* configuration. By convention, their nomenclature differs from other TFAs. The position of the double bonds is indicated by the carbon atom counting from the carboxylic end of the carbon chain. *cis*-9,*trans*-11 CLA (*c*9*t*11-CLA or rumenic acid), with 18 carbons and 2 double bonds, has a *cis* double bond in carbon 9 and a *trans* double bond in carbon 11, counting from the carboxylic end.



Figure 2. Ruminant and industrial trans fatty acid structures

Investigating TFA intake is challenging. Apart from the mentioned measurement errors (e.g., imprecision in estimating food intakes by participants, selective underreporting of fat-rich foods), TFAs are present in very small quantities in foods, and there is limited availability of detailed and accurate food composition databases for specific TFA isomers. Furthermore, TFA food composition has changed over time due to reformulation (23), which might not be reflected in food composition databases. That is why the use of TFAs biomarkers in blood for studying TFA intake is of high interest, and, as mentioned, it is assumed that circulating TFAs come mostly from dietary intake.

Consensus exists on the strong association between high TFA intake and increased risk of coronary heart disease and mortality (24, 25). However, in prospective cohort studies, total TFA intake was not linked to a higher risk of T2D (26) and, instead, higher circulating ruminant-derived *trans*-palmitoleic acid (16:1n-7*t*) was associated with lower T2D risk (26, 27). Evidence for *trans*-vaccenic acid (18:1n-7*t*), a major ruminant-derived TFA, is scarce and has not been studied compared to the other dairy TFAs. Other ruminant-derived TFAs are the *c9t*11-CLA and *trans*-10,*cis*-12 CLA (*t*10*c*12-CLA), common CLA isomers found in dairy fat (28). The relation between CLA and T2D has not been well established, and prospective cohort studies investigating circulating levels of specific CLA isomers with type 2 diabetes are lacking.

Because of this lack of evidence about specific TFA subtypes and their association with T2D incidence, the work presented in the first manuscript of this thesis aimed to examine the

relation of seven TFAs (from industrial and ruminant sources) measured in plasma phospholipids with T2D risk and dietary sources.

#### Saturated fatty acids

Dietary SFAs have traditionally been associated with an increased risk of T2D and its complications (29, 30). In prospective cohort studies, while higher concentrations of plasma SFAs with an even number carbon chain were associated with higher T2D risk (31, 32), plasma SFAs with an odd chain were associated with a lower T2D risk (27, 31, 32). Pentadecanoic acid (15:0) and heptadecanoic acid (17:0) are the main OCFAs found in human plasma.

Ruminants, such as cows, sheep, and goats, produce OCFAs by bacterial fermentation, and thus OCFAs are found in dairy fat. Despite being present in small amounts of total dairy fat, 15:0 and 17:0 have been extensively used as biomarkers of dairy fat intake, as they were assumed to be consumed mostly through dairy products. These OCFAs correlated with dairy fat consumption in many observational (33) and interventional studies (34). Furthermore, higher intakes of total dairy are linked with a reduced T2D risk (35), but this association appears to be driven primarily by some dairy subgroups, such as low-fat dairy and yoghurt (35). Still, no conclusive pathway has been determined to confirm the involvement of OCFAs (or ruminant TFAs) as mediators of this association between dairy and T2D.

It should be noted that researchers have also proposed an endogenous synthesis of OCFAs by intestinal bacterial fermentation of dietary fibre (36) and by branched-chain amino acids (37). And some criticism has emerged for OCFAs as valid biomarkers of dairy intake because low amounts are present in fish, beef, veal, lamb, and other foods (38). Thus, examining plasma OCFAs determinants is relevant to validating them as reliable biomarkers.

Although results from OCFAs in plasma phospholipids and T2D risk are available (27), results from other lipid classes or types of phospholipids are scarce. The selective incorporation of OCFAs into different plasma lipid classes is poorly understood. Moreover, it remains unclear whether the associations of plasma OCFAs with dairy intake and T2D risk are similar across plasma lipid classes. With the help of high-resolution lipidomics, the analyses presented in the second manuscript involved the distribution of OCFAs in different lipid classes, their class-specific associations with T2D incidence, and their associations with food groups as potential determinants.

#### **Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids**

A meta-analysis of randomised controlled feeding trials provided evidence that replacing SFA or carbohydrate intake with PUFAs improved glycemia, insulin resistance, and insulin secretion (39). Three main PUFAs groups are commonly found in human tissues: n-3, n-6, and n-9. The n nomenclature reveals the position of the first double bond counting from the methyl end, also known as the omega end. The most abundant PUFA in plasma is linoleic acid (LA, 18:2n-6).

Circulating 18:2n-6 was inversely associated with T2D incidence in a meta-analysis of 27 prospective cohorts (40). 18:2n-6 cannot be endogenously synthesised and, thus, is consumed by dietary intake. This FA is metabolised to n-6 PUFAs with longer chains and more double bonds (**Figure 3**). Therefore, the linoleic acid concentration in tissues depends on the dietary intake and the activity of enzymes in the elongation and desaturation pathway. The addition of carbons (elongation) and double bonds (desaturation) leads to the formation of gamma-linolenic acid (GLA, 18:3n-6), dihomogamma-linolenic acid (DGLA, 20:3n-6), and arachidonic acid (AA, 20:4n-6). Prospective cohort studies have revealed different associations of these FAs with T2D risk. For example, 20:3n-6 is related to an increased risk of T2D (30, 32, 41-48), while 20:4n-6 was not associated with T2D risk (30, 32, 41-44, 48-53).



Figure 3. N-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids synthesis pathway

Most studies that have measured circulating n-6 PUFAs have reported these FAs in total plasma or phospholipids, with only a few other lipid compartments evaluated for PUFA concentrations. A pooled analysis from 20 prospective cohort studies from ten countries presented associations of 18:2n-6 and 20:4n-6 with T2D by lipid compartment. Only four lipid pools were included: total plasma, total phospholipids, CE, and one study with adipose tissue (49). The inverse associations between 18:2n-6 biomarkers and T2D were generally similar in these lipid compartments, and 20:4n-6 levels were generally not associated with T2D. However, other lipid classes have not been assessed, and thus, the potential differences in associations of n-6 PUFAs measured in other lipid classes with T2D risk are unknown.

In the PUFAs desaturation pathway, one of the desaturase enzymes well characterised is the delta-5 desaturase (D5D). The delta nomenclature indicates that the double bond is added in the 5th position from the carboxyl end. D5D then produces 20:4n-6 (delta 5,8,11,14) from the desaturation of 20:3n-6 (delta 8,11,14). Because higher concentrations of 20:4n-6 may result from increased enzymatic conversion from 20:3n-6, an increase in the ratio of 20:4n-6 to 20:3n-6 has been used to reflect higher D5D activity. Individuals with higher estimated D5D activity had a lower risk of T2D in prospective studies (41, 42, 45, 52, 54), supported by the indication of a causal effect from desaturase genotype information in a mendelian randomisation study (55).

The higher or lower D5D enzymatic activity is partly influenced by genetic factors (56). Within the FA desaturase (*FADS*) gene cluster, single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the genes encoding for D5D have been associated with the estimated desaturase activity using the ratio of 20:4n-6/20:3n-6 in total plasma/serum or red blood cell phospholipids (55, 57, 58), individual phospholipids (PC, PE, and PI) (56, 59), CE and adipose tissue (60). Still, evidence of associations of genetic variants in the *FADS* region with estimated D5D activity in these and other lipid classes is little explored. Distinguishing between classes enables us to identify which compartments are more representative of genetic factors.

Because the essential n-6 PUFA 18:2n-6 cannot be synthesised by humans and seem to play a role in T2D prevention, biomarkers of n-6 PUFAs status are of research interest. There is limited evidence on how n-6 PUFAs are distributed among lipid classes and if the n-6 PUFAs class-specific abundance is relevant in terms of their association with T2D risk. With the analyses presented in the third manuscript, this thesis adds evidence to those points to contribute to understanding n-6 PUFAs biomarkers. Moreover, gene variants were evaluated regarding their association with estimated D5D activity across the lipid classes.

#### Detailed fatty acid profiles in EPIC Potsdam case-cohort study

To characterise FA biomarkers (different TFA subtypes, and OCFAs and n-6 PUFAs in a range of lipid classes), data from participants of the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)-Potsdam cohort study was used in this thesis. The main analyses included two lipid profiles. The first was an assessment of TFAs in plasma phospholipids. With a modified method for analysis of FAs with very low abundances, seven TFAs subtypes were measured in total plasma phospholipids. The second lipid profile was derived from a high-throughout lipid profiling technology, which generated detailed information to allow the identification of 940 distinct molecular species concentrations and FA composition across 15 lipid classes (FFA, CE, MG, Cer, dhCer, LacCer, HexCer, SM, LPE, LPC, PI, DG, TG, PC, PE). The associations with T2D risk were assessed with a prospective nested case-cohort study design.

Overall, with high-resolution lipidomics and deep characterisation of TFA subtypes, novel biomarkers of health and risk were identified to understand further the relationships between diet, metabolism, and disease. The investigation of the plasma FA biomarkers may contribute to recognising potential biological pathways connecting FA intake with T2D incidence and could provide further evidence for a causal role of FAs or enzymes in T2D incidence.

### 3.1 Objectives and Outline

#### **Main Objective**

The main objective of this thesis was to investigate TFAs, OCFAs, and n-6 PUFAs and their link to T2D incidence by profiting from technological advances that allow better definition of these three categories. The work presented aimed to examine TFAs according to their specific conformation, and OCFAs and n-6 PUFAs within diverse lipid classes.

#### **Specific Objectives**

- To examine seven individual TFAs from industrial and ruminant sources (including two CLAs) measured in plasma phospholipids in relation to food sources and T2D risk

In the first manuscript, a prospective study was conducted to analyse the associations of seven subtypes of TFAs with T2D risk. This manuscript also presents mediation analysis by cardiometabolic biomarkers and different levels of model adjustments. Correlations between TFAs and food group intake derived from an FFQ were also reported.

- To characterise the distribution of OCFAs (15:0 and 17:0) among lipid classes and investigate the class-specific association of the lipids containing OCFAs with T2D incidence and their dietary determinants

The second manuscript, using lipidomic profiling, served the purpose of identifying the abundance of OCFAs in a wide range of 15 plasma lipid classes, the OCFA class-specific prospective associations with T2D, and the differences in associations between men and women. Also, we evaluated the correlations between OCFAs in phospholipid classes and dietary determinants based on the self-reported dietary assessment by FFQ.

- To investigate the prospective associations of PUFA abundance across lipid classes and class-specific estimated desaturase activity with T2D risk

In the third manuscript, the n-6 PUFAs concentrations across 15 plasma lipid classes were investigated. With a prospective case-cohort study, we investigated the associations of n-6 PUFAs abundance in lipid classes with T2D risk. This manuscript also presents estimated desaturase activities in different lipid classes and their associations with T2D risk and genomic variants.

### 4. Manuscripts

### 4.1 List of manuscripts and contributions

Prada M, Wittenbecher C, Eichelmann F, Wernitz A, Kuxhaus O, Kröger J, et al. **Plasma Industrial and Ruminant Trans Fatty Acids and Incident Type 2 Diabetes in the EPIC-Potsdam Cohort.** Diabetes Care. 2022; 45(4):845-853 (Impact Factor 19.1)

<u>Contribution:</u> Literature search, research questions formulation, data extraction, data management, statistical analysis, risk of bias assessment, illustration and interpretation of the results, and writing of the manuscript.

Prada M, Wittenbecher C, Eichelmann F, Wernitz A, Drouin-Chartier J-P, Schulze MB.
Association of the odd-chain fatty acid content in lipid groups with type 2 diabetes risk:
A targeted analysis of lipidomics data in the EPIC-Potsdam cohort. Clinical Nutrition.
2021;40(8):4988-99. (Impact Factor 7.3)

<u>Contribution:</u> Literature search, research questions formulation, data extraction, data management, statistical analysis, risk of bias assessment, illustration and interpretation of the results, and writing of the manuscript.

Prada M, Eichelmann F, Wittenbecher C, Kuxhaus O, Schulze MB. Plasma lipidomic n-6
Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids and Type 2 Diabetes Risk in the EPIC-Potsdam
Prospective Cohort Study. Submitted to *Diabetes Care* (Impact Factor 19.1)

<u>Contribution:</u> Literature search, research questions formulation, data extraction, data management, statistical analysis, risk of bias assessment, illustration and interpretation of the results, and writing of the manuscript.

Manuscript 1: Plasma Industrial and Ruminant Trans Fatty Acids and Incident Type 2 Diabetes in the EPIC-Potsdam Cohort

# Plasma Industrial and Ruminant *Trans* Fatty Acids and Incident Type 2 Diabetes in the EPIC-Potsdam Cohort

Diabetes Care 2022;45:845-853 | https://doi.org/10.2337/dc21-1897

Marcela Prada,<sup>1,2</sup> Clemens Wittenbecher,<sup>1,2,3</sup> Fabian Eichelmann,<sup>1,2</sup> Andreas Wernitz,<sup>1,2</sup> Olga Kuxhaus,<sup>1,2</sup> Janine Kröger,<sup>1,2</sup> Cornelia Weikert,<sup>4</sup> and Matthias B. Schulze<sup>1,2,5</sup>

#### OBJECTIVE

Although dietary intake of *trans* fatty acid (TFA) is a major public health concern because of the associated increase in the risk of cardiovascular events, it remains unclear whether TFAs also influence risk of type 2 diabetes (T2D) and whether industrial TFAs (iTFAs) and ruminant TFAs (rTFAs) exert the same effect on health.

#### **RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODS**

To investigate the relationship of 7 rTFAs and iTFAs, including 2 conjugated linoleic acids (CLAs), plasma phospholipid TFAs were measured in a case-cohort study nested within the European Prospective Investigation Into Cancer and Nutrition–Potsdam cohort. The analytical sample was a random subsample (n =1,248) and incident cases of T2D (n = 801) over a median follow-up of 6.5 years. Using multivariable Cox regression models, we examined associations of TFAs with incident T2D.

#### RESULTS

The TFA subtypes were intercorrelated with each other, with other fatty acids, and with different food sources. After controlling for other TFAs, the iTFAs (18:1n-6t, 18:1n-9t, 18:2n-6,9t) were not associated with diabetes risk. Some rTFA subtypes were inversely associated with diabetes risk: vaccenic acid (18:1n-7t; hazard ratio [HR] per SD 0.72; 95% CI 0.58–0.89) and t10c12-CLA (HR per SD 0.81; 95% CI 0.70–0.94), whereas c9t11-CLA was positively associated (HR per SD 1.39; 95% CI 1.19–1.62). Trans-palmitoleic acid (16:1n-7t) was not associated with diabetes risk when adjusting for the other TFAs (HR per SD 1.08; 95% CI 0.88–1.31).

#### CONCLUSIONS

The TFAs' conformation plays an essential role in their relationship to diabetes risk. rTFA subtypes may have opposing relationships to diabetes risk. Previous observations for reduced diabetes risk with higher levels of circulating *trans*-palmitoleic acid are likely due to confounding.

*Trans* fatty acids (TFAs), which are unsaturated fatty acids (FAs) with at least 1 double bond in *trans* configuration, have been a focus of public health initiatives (1) because their intake has been related to coronary heart disease and all-cause



<sup>2</sup>German Center for Diabetes Research (DZD), München-Neuherberg, Germany

<sup>3</sup>Department of Nutrition, Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Boston, MA

<sup>4</sup>German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment, Department of Food Safety, Berlin, Germany

<sup>5</sup>Institute of Nutritional Science, University of Potsdam, Nuthetal, Germany

Corresponding author: Matthias B. Schulze, mschulze@dife.de

Received 10 September 2021 and accepted 9 January 2022

This article contains supplementary material online at https://doi.org/10.2337/figshare.18405188

© 2022 by the American Diabetes Association. Readers may use this article as long as the work is properly cited, the use is educational and not for profit, and the work is not altered. More information is available at https://www. diabetesjournals.org/journals/pages/license. 845

mortality (2). Although initiatives to reduce TFA intake have focused on TFAs derived industrially by partial hydrogenation of vegetable oils, TFAs can also be found naturally in dairy foods.

Industrial TFAs (iTFAs) and ruminant TFAs (rTFAs) exist in a range of different FA molecules, differing in carbon-chain length and position of the double bond. The rTFAs and iTFAs share common isomers; however, the proportions are different (3). For example, trans-vaccenic acid (18:1n-7t) is predominant in rTFAs, whereas elaidic acid (18:1n-9t) is predominant in iTFAs (3). The conjugated linoleic acids (CLAs) are TFAs with only 1 carbon between 2 double bonds, 1 in trans configuration and 1 in cis configuration. Two common CLA isomers found in dairy fat are cis-9,trans-11 CLA (c9t11-CLA) and trans-10, cis-12 CLA (t10c12-CLA) (4).

Whether iTFA and rTFA exert the same effect on health is an ongoing debate. iTFAs and rTFAs have similar effects on blood lipoprotein concentrations (5), but the epidemiological evidence predominantly links iTFA intake with coronary heart disease risk (2). A higher intake of total TFAs is not clearly linked to higher risk of type 2 diabetes (T2D) in prospective cohort studies (2). However, in cohort studies, researchers have observed lower diabetes risk with higher blood concentrations of the ruminant-derived trans-palmitoleic acid (16:1n-7t) (2,6). Still, evidence for the role of iTFAs and rTFAs in diabetes is limited given that most studies examined only single TFA isomers (6-9) or did not distinguish between specific isomers from industrial and ruminant sources (7,10-13).

Furthermore, the role of CLA for T2D remains largely unknown. Short-term randomized controlled trials usually used a mix of CLA isomers and results suggest an influence on insulin sensitivity (14), which may depend on PPARG polymorphism (15). However, we are not aware of prospective studies investigating blood levels of specific CLA isomers with T2D risk. Therefore, in our study, we aimed to examine the relation of individual TFAs from industrial and ruminant sources, including 2 CLAs, measured in plasma phospholipids as a marker of intake, with T2D risk in a large, population-based cohort study.

#### RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODS

Study Design and Population

The European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)-Potsdam study is part of the multicenter prospective cohort study EPIC. In Potsdam, Germany, 27,548 participants (n = 16,644 women, most aged be-)tween 35 and 65 years; n = 10,904men, most aged between 40 and 65 years) from the general population were recruited between 1994 and 1998 (16). The baseline examination included collecting blood samples, anthropometry, a self-administered validated food frequency questionnaire (FFQ), an interview including questions on prevalent diseases, and a questionnaire on sociodemographic and lifestyle characteristics (17,18). Follow-up questionnaires were administered every 2-3 years to identify incident cases of chronic diseases, including diabetes. Response rates for followup rounds 1, 2, and 3 were 96%, 95%, and 91%, respectively. We also considered questionnaires within the fourth follow-up round sent out until 31 January 2005, of which 90% were returned by 31 August 2005.

For efficient molecular phenotyping, a case-cohort study within the EPIC-Potsdam study was designed (19). From all participants with blood samples (n = 26,437), we randomly selected a subsample (n = 1,248) and all case patients with incident diabetes (n = 801)(Supplementary Figure 1). By randomly selecting a subcohort, the results are expected to be generalizable to the entire cohort without measuring biomarkers in the whole cohort (19). We excluded participants who had missing TFA analyses (n = 5), prevalent diabetes (n = 58), and missing follow-up information (n = 31). The analytical sample thus included 1,927 participants: 1,159 from the subcohort and 796 incident diabetes case patients, with an overlap of 28 participants. The median follow-up was 6.5 years. Consent was obtained from all participants, and approval was given by the Ethical Committee of the State Brandenburg, Germany.

#### Ascertainment of Diabetes Cases

Incident diabetes case patients were identified during follow-up via selfreports of diabetes diagnosis, diabetes-- 20 - relevant medication, or dietary treatment due to diabetes. Diabetes information was also obtained from death certificates or other sources such as tumor centers, physicians, or clinics. All incident cases were verified by questionnaires mailed to the diagnosing physician asking about the date and type of diagnosis, diagnostic tests, and treatment of diabetes. Only cases with a physician diagnosis of T2D (ICD10 code E11) and a diagnosis date after the baseline examination were considered confirmed incident cases of T2D.

#### **Dietary Assessment**

All participants were asked to complete a validated semiquantitative FFQ (20–22), which was used to assess the average intake frequency and portion size of 148 foods consumed during the 12 months before the examination. Additional questions were asked about fat products used for food preparation. Moderate to high correlations were found with repeated administration of the FFQ at a 6-month interval: milk and milk products (r = 0.55), cheese (r = 0.61), bread (r = 0.49), cereals (r = 54), meat (r = 0.77), and processed meat (r = 0.73) (22).

We analyzed dairy foods in 2 main groups based on their fat content: Low-fat dairy and full-fat dairy (Supplementary Table 1). In addition, the following dairy subgroups were considered separately: low-fat cheese, full-fat cheese, and butter. Apart from dairy foods, we included other potential dietary sources of TFAs or food that might correlate with TFA intake and thus potentially confound associations: margarine, other vegetable fat (vegetable fat or oil for cooking or salads), other fat (animal cooking fat, various fats and oils), eggs, poultry, meat, processed meat, fish, nuts, fried potatoes, confectionery, cakes, cookies, and desserts, fresh fruit, raw vegetables, cooked vegetables, grains, pasta and rice, bread (whole grain and other), and alcohol from alcoholic beverages.

#### Plasma Phospholipid TFAs

Venous blood samples were collected at baseline following standardized procedures. Phospholipid TFAs were measured from plasma samples that were stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C (Supplementary Material). In brief, we measured TFAs using total lipid extraction with *tert*-butyl methyl ether/methanol, solid-phase separation, hydrolysis,

and methylation with trimethyl sulfonium hydroxide, and subsequently analyzed samples by gas chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. The method was modified for biomarker-relevant FA profile analysis with low abundances in plasma phospholipids. The area count values of multiple reaction monitoring were calibrated against area count values of detection by flame ionization detector (FID) using appropriate standard FAs. This enables relativization between low abundance TFA data with high abundance FA data based on FID detection. A full FA profile, including the odd-chain FAs 15:0 and 17:0, was assessed simultaneously by FID detection, splitting the eluting gas flow for FID and mass spectrometry detection

We defined 16:1n-7t, 18:1n-7t, c9t11-CLA, and t10c12-CLA as rTFAs. All other TFAs, 18:1n-6t, 18:1n-9t, and 18:2n-6,9t, were defined as iTFAs (Supplementary Table 2).

#### **Other Measurements**

Measurements of plasma HDL cholesterol, triglycerides,  $\gamma$ -glutamyltransferase (GGT), hs-CRP, adiponectin, fetuin-A, and red blood cell concentrations of hemoglobin A<sub>1c</sub> (HbA<sub>1c</sub>) were performed as described in previous publications (23,24). Participants were genotyped for the Pro-12Ala polymorphism in *PPARG* using the TaqMan technology (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). The reproducibility of the genotyping method was  $\geq$  99.5%.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

All TFA variables were log-transformed to stabilize skewed distributions (Supplementary Figure 2) and standardized (mean = 0, SD = 1). We explored intercorrelations of the TFAs and food groups, using Pearson correlation coefficients with adjustment for age, sex, and total energy intake in the subcohort; their 95% Cls were obtained by Fisher z-transformation.

We used Cox proportional hazard regression models stratified by age to study the relationship between FAs and diabetes risk in the case cohort, accounting for the oversampling of cases by Prentice weighting (19). We estimated hazard ratios (HRs) and 95% CIs per 1-SD increase in log-transformed TFA concentrations. The following variables were considered covariables in the models: waist circumference (continuous), BMI (continuous), smoking status (never, past, current <20 cigarettes/day, current  $\geq$ 20 cigarettes/day), cycling (0, 0.1-2.4, 2.5-4.9, ≥5 h/ week), sports activity (0, 0.1-4.0, >4.0 h/week), occupational activity (light, moderate, heavy), education (in or no training, skilled worker, technical school, or university degree), alcohol intake (0, 0.1-5.0, 5.1-10.0, 10.1-20.0, 20.1-40.0, or >40.0 g/day), red meat intake (energy adjusted), coffee intake (energy adjusted), fiber intake (energy adjusted), fasting status, and total energy intake. For energy adjustment, the residual method was used (25). To evaluate the independent associations of each TFA subtype, we further mutually adjusted all TFAs in a separate model. To further explore intercorrelations, a principal component (PC) analysis (PCA) based on the individual TFA was performed on the subcohort's data. We then calculated a PC score for all participants and constructed Cox models adjusting for this score. We also assessed the nonlinear association of TFAs with diabetes, using restricted cubic splines with 3 knots placed at the 5th, 50th, and 95th percentiles.

In sensitivity analyses, we included TFA food sources as covariates in the models to confirm that TFAs associated with T2D risk are not just markers of intake of these food groups. We also considered other FAs for adjustment: the dairy fat-derived 15:0 and 17:0 (expected to correlate with rTFAs), FAs in the de novo lipogenesis pathway as suggested in a previous study (10), and other FAs as potential confounders derived from our correlation analyses. We then examined whether associations between TFAs and diabetes were modified by sex. alcohol intake. BMI. and PPARG gene polymorphism (wild type vs. Ala carriers), because it has been reported that CLA isomers influence insulin sensitivity depending on the PPARG polymorphism (15). Tests for statistical interactions were conducted by including cross-product terms in the models. Last, we excluded participants with baseline HbA<sub>1c</sub> >6.5%, thus potentially those with undiagnosed or nonreported diabetes.

We used Pearson correlation analysis adjusted for age and sex to examine the relationship of the TFAs to cardiometabolic risk biomarkers (namely, triglycerides, non-HDL cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, HbA<sub>1c</sub>, GGT, adiponectin, hs-CRP, and fetuin-A) and the fatty liver index (FLI) (26) in the subcohort. Then, we conducted mediation analyses to assess the extent to which significantly TFA-related biomarkers potentially explained the associations between TFAs and diabetes risk. Cox regression models with and without adjustment for the potential mediator were compared. Differences between the TFA  $\beta$ -coefficients of the reference model and the TFA  $\beta$ -coefficients of the biomarker-fitted model, their stability as well as the corresponding HRs, were estimated as median and dispersion from a bootstrapping procedure (n = 500bootstrap replicates). All statistical analyses were conducted with SAS Software Enterprise Guide 7.1 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC).

#### RESULTS

Baseline characteristics of the random subcohort were similar to those in the full EPIC-Potsdam cohort (Supplementary Table 3). The characteristics of the 1,159 subcohort participants (n = 454 men and 705 women) were considered according to the distribution of ruminant TFAs in plasma phospholipids (Supplementary Table 4). The most abundant of the rTFAs was c9t11-CLA (0.26%), followed by 18:1n-7t (0.19%). Only small portions were 16:1n-7t (0.04%) and t10c12-CLA (0.01%). The most abundant iTFA was 18:1n-9t (0.16%), followed by its isomer 18:1n-6t (0.09%). Study participants with higher rTFA concentrations were more likely to be women and nonsmokers and to have lower waist circumference and less alcohol consumption than participants with lower rTFA concentrations. Age, BMI, and other characteristics were similar across quintiles.

The rTFAs were positively intercorrelated, with the strongest correlation observed between 16:1n-7t and 18:1n-7t (r = 0.70) (Supplementary Table 5). Of note is that the rTFAs 16:1n-7t, 18: 1n-7t, and t10c12-CLA were moderately positively correlated with some of the iTFAs (r = 0.29-0.66). Among the iTFAs, the most abundant, 18:1n-9t, was strongly correlated with its isomer, 18:1n-6t (r = 0.75); and moderately correlated with the ruminant isomer, 18:1n-7t (r = 0.50), and some of the 18:2 isomers (18:2n-6,9t, r = 0.32; t10c12-CLA, r = 0.34). All rTFAs were positively correlated to 15:0 and 17:0 (r = 0.16-0.62), whereas iTFAs were mainly correlated with 17:0 (r = 0.22-0.41). TFAs were also correlated with polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) concentrations, particularly n-6 PUFAs.

The rTFAs 16:1n-7t, 18:1n-7t, and c9t11-CLA were positively correlated with intake of fat-rich dairy foods, particularly with butter (strongest for c9t11-CLA; r = 0.34), whereas low-fat dairy foods were not appreciably correlated (Fig. 1). In contrast, these rTFAs were negatively correlated with margarine consumption, especially c9t11-CLA (r = -0.29). Noteworthy, c9t11-CLA correlated with dietary variables differently from the other 18:2 isomers. The iTFA 18:1 isomers showed correlations contrasting with those observed for rTFAs: positive for margarine (18:1n-9*t*; r = 0.17) and negative for butter (18:1n-9*t*; r = -0.16). Still, both rTFAs and iTFAs were positively correlated to a similar degree with confectionery, cakes, cookies, and desserts. Correlations with alcohol intake were inverse and relatively strong compared with most other foods for iTFAs and rTFAs.

In models adjusted for age and sex, inverse associations with diabetes risk were observed for all TFAs except c9t11-CLA (Fig. 2). Among the iTFAs, adjustment for demographic, lifestyle, and anthropometric risk factors rendered the associations of 18:1n-6t and 18:1n-9t with diabetes risk nonsignificant, whereas 18:2n-6,9t remained inversely associated (HR per SD 0.87; 95% CI 0.77-0.98). This association was largely attenuated when adjusted for other TFAs (HR per SD 0.95; 95% CI 0.81-1.12). Among the rTFAs, 18:1n-7t and t10c12-CLA were inversely associated with diabetes risk, and these associations were unaffected or strengthened by further adjustment for other TFAs (for 18:1n-7t and t10c12-CLA, respectively: HR per SD 0.72 [95% CI 0.58–0.89]; and 0.81 [95% CI 0.70–0.94]). In contrast, c9t11-CLA was positively associated with diabetes risk (in the fully adjusted model, HR 1.39; 95% CI 1.19–1.62). The inverse association of 16:1n-7t with diabetes risk in the age- and sex-adjusted model was attenuated with further adjustment, particularly for other TFAs. Multivariable-adjusted restricted cubic splines did not indicate relevant deviation from linearity (*P* for linearity > 0.05 for each rTFA) (Supplementary Figure 3).

The first PC from PCA accounted for a large variance proportion and was positively correlated with all TFAs (Supplementary Table 6). Subsequently, we used the PC1 score for adjustment in Cox models, which did not substantially affect our results (Supplementary Figure 4).







Downloaded from http://diabetesjournals.org/care/article-pdf/45/4/845/672210/dc211897.pdf by DT INSTITUT FUER user on 15 June 2022

**Figure 2**—Prospective associations of plasma TFAs with risk of T2D in EPIC-Potsdam (N = 1,927; cases, n = 796). HR and 95% CI per 1 SD increase of each TFA. Model 1 was adjusted for age (stratum variable) and sex. Model 2 was further adjusted for waist circumference, BMI, smoking status (never, past, current, <20 cigarettes/day, or current >20 cigarettes/day), cycling ( $0, 0.1-2.4, 2.5-4.9, \text{ or } \ge 5$  h/week), sports activity (0, 0.1-4.0, or >4.0 h/week), occupational activity (light, moderate, or heavy), education (in or no training, skilled worker, technical school, or university degree), alcohol intake (0, 0.1-5.0, 5.1-10.0, 10.1-20.0, 20.1-40.0, or >40.0 g/day), red meat intake (energy adjusted), coffee intake (energy adjusted), fiber intake (energy adjusted), fasting status, and total energy intake. Model 3 was further adjusted for all other TFA subtypes: 16:1n-7*t*, 18:1n-6*t*, 18:1n-7*t*, 18:1n-9*t*, 18:2n-6,9*t*, c9t11-CLA, and t10c12-CLA.

In additional sensitivity analyses, we adjusted the models of the 3 significantly diabetes risk–associated rTFAs for other potential confounders (Table 1). Adjustment variables included the strongest food correlates (butter and margarine), dairy-fat biomarkers (15:0 and 17:0), and FAs in the de novo lipogenesis pathway (16:0, 16:1n-7*c*, 18:0, and 18:1n-9*c*). All adjustments had little impact on the rTFA–diabetes risk associations. When adjusting for n-6 PUFA concentrations (18:2n-6*c*, 20:3n-6*c*, and 20:4n-6*c*), the inverse association of t10c12-CLA with diabetes risk remained unchanged. However, the associations for 18:1n-7*t* 

and *c9t11*-CLA were somewhat attenuated, although directions remained unchanged (for 18:1n-7*t* and *c9t11*-CLA, respectively, HR per SD: 0.86 [0.67–1.11] and 1.21 [0.99–1.48]). We did not observe significant interactions of TFAs with alcohol intake, sex, BMI, or the *PPARG* Pro12Ala polymorphism on Table 1—Prospective association between TFAs and T2D in the EPIC-Potsdam study (N = 1,927; cases, n = 796), with additional models\*

		HR per 1 SD (95	5% CI)	
	18:1n-7 <i>t</i>	<i>c</i> 9 <i>t</i> 11-CLA	t10c12-CLA	AIC
Reference model†	0.72 (0.58–0.89)	1.39 (1.19–1.62)	0.81 (0.70-0.94)	4,408
+ 15:0 and 17:0	0.78 (0.61-0.99)	1.41 (1.20-1.66)	0.82 (0.70-0.95)	4,407
+ Butter	0.72 (0.58-0.89)	1.39 (1.18-1.63)	0.81 (0.70-0.94)	4,411
+ Margarine	0.72 (0.58-0.89)	1.41 (1.20-1.65)	0.81 (0.70-0.94)	4,409
+ Total dairy	0.72 (0.58-0.89)	1.38 (1.18-1.61)	0.81 (0.70-0.94)	5,271
+ FAs in the de novo lipogenesis pathway‡	0.68 (0.51-0.90)	1.44 (1.16-1.79)	0.78 (0.67-0.91)	4,374
+ n-6 PUFAs§	0.86 (0.67-1.11)	1.21 (0.99-1.48)	0.81 (0.69-0.94)	4,332

\*Adjusted for dairy fat-derived FAs pentadecanoic acid (15:0) and heptadecanoic acid (17:0), butter, margarine, total dairy, FAs in the de novo lipogenesis pathway, and n-6 PUFAs. AIC, Akaike information criterion. †Model adjusted for age (stratum variable), sex, waist circumference, BMI, smoking status (never, past, current, <20 cigarettes/day, or current >20 cigarettes/day), cycling (0, 0.1–2.4, 2.5–4.9, or  $\geq$ 5 h/ week), sports activity (0, 0.1–4.0, or >4.0 h/week), occupational activity (light, moderate, or heavy), education (in or no training, vocational training, technical school, or technical college or university degree), alcohol intake (0, 0.1–5.0, 5.1–10.0, 10.1–20.0, 20.1–40.0, or >40.0 g/ day), red meat intake (energy adjusted), coffee intake (energy adjusted), fiber intake (energy adjusted), fasting status, total energy intake, and all other TFA subtypes: 16:1n-7t, 18:1n-6t, 18:1n-7t, 18:1n-9t, 18:2n-6,9t, c9t11-CLA, t10c12-CLA. ‡16:0, 16:1n-7c, 18:0, and 18:1n-9c. §18:2n-6c, 20:3n-6c, and 20:4n-6c.

diabetes risk (Supplementary Tables 7–10). Associations remained unaffected when excluding participants with baseline  $HbA_{1c} > 6.5\%$  (Supplementary Figure 5).

The different cardiometabolic biomarkers generally had comparable correlations with all TFA isomers (Fig. 3) but *c9t11-CLA*. Most TFA subtypes were negatively correlated with blood lipids (with the strongest correlations observed for triglycerides), negatively with GGT, and positively with adiponectin. The correlations of *c*9t11-CLA with biomarkers appeared different in comparison: triglyceride levels (fasted) were positively correlated, whereas other lipids and nonlipid biomarkers showed little correlation overall.

We next evaluated whether adjustment for the correlated biomarkers attenuated the observed associations between rTFAs and diabetes risk (Supplementary Table 11). No appreciable attenuation was observed for the inverse association of 18:1n-7t with diabetes risk. The associations of c9t11-CLA and t10c12-CLA with T2D risk were attenuated when adjusting for triglycerides (-20% and -35%, respectively) and FLI (-26% and -38%, respectively). Other metabolic markers had no significant impact on the associations.

#### CONCLUSIONS

In this prospective cohort study, we found opposite diabetes risk associations



**Figure 3**—Partial correlations between rTFAs (orange) or iTFAs (purple) and biomarkers, adjusted for age and sex, in the EPIC-Potsdam subcohort. Biomarkers: triglycerides (N = 1,138; fasting, n = 271), non-HDL cholesterol (n = 1,144), HDL cholesterol (n = 1,144), HbA<sub>1c</sub> (n = 1,109), GGT (n = 1,138), adiponectin (n = 1,134), hs-CRP (n = 1,141), and fetuin (n = 1,146).

Prada and Associates 851

among 7 different iTFAs and rTFAs measured in plasma phospholipids. The iTFA subtypes were not associated with diabetes risk independently of other TFAs, and 3 rTFA subtypes were associated with diabetes risk. An inverse association was found for 18:1n-7t and t10c12-CLA, whereas c9t11-CLA was associated with higher diabetes risk. The inverse associations of 18:1n-7t and the positive association of c9t11-CLA were essentially unchanged when models were adjusted for correlated foods, FA biomarkers of dairy intake (i.e., 15:0 and 17:0), or FA biomarkers of de novo lipogenesis. However, adjustment for n-6 PUFA concentration attenuated these associations. In contrast, t10c12-CLA remained inversely associated with diabetes risk irrespective of such adjustments. The rTFA 16:1n-7t was not associated with diabetes risk when controlling for other correlated TFAs.

We observed that individual TFAs had markedly different associations with diabetes risk, other FAs, cardiometabolic risk markers, and dietary intake. Individual TFAs reflect different food sources (industrial vs. ruminant) and distinct chemical structures, for example, total trans-18:1 (7,10,11,13,27), total trans-18:2 (10,11,13), and total CLA (12). Our results highlight that collapsing individual TFAs into 1 broad category may obscure potential etiological roles and health relevance. For example, in the Cardiovascular Health Study (CHS), all trans-18:1 isomers were summed because of shared food correlations and high intercorrelations (10,28), suggesting that assessing total trans-18:1 is sufficient to investigate health outcomes (28). However, although all trans-18:1 isomers were similarly associated with confectionery, cake, cookies, desserts, and alcohol in our study, only trans-vaccenic acid (18:1n-7t) was positively associated with full-fat dairy, full-fat cheese, and butter. Consistently, previous studies reported that 18:1n-7t was more abundant in ruminant fats, and 18:1n-6t and 18:1n-9t were more present in industrial products (3). In addition, 18:1n-7t was not positively associated with margarine in our study, in contrast with the CHS study (28). We found 18:1n-7t more strongly correlated with 16:1n-7t than the other trans-18:1 isomers, consistent with their similar dietary sources. The difference in the observed diabetes risk

associations (null for the iTFAs 18:1n-6t and 18:1n-9t; inverse for 18:1n-7t) indicates that analyzing the *trans*-18:1 isomers as a whole group appears oversimplified. Our detailed analyses might also explain the mixed results reported from prior prospective cohort studies on total *trans*-18:1 and diabetes risk (10,13,27).

Considering 18:1n-7t is the predominant TFA in ruminant fat (3), we further adjusted for total dairy intake and odd-chain FAs as markers of dairy intake. The inverse association of 18:1n-7t with T2D risk was largely unaffected. Therefore, 18:1n-7t does not appear as just a biomarker of dairy intake. Potential explanations for a possible antidiabetic role include GLUT2and PPAR-y-mediated increase of insulin secretion and enhanced  $\beta$ -cell proliferation through 18:1n-7t, shown in animal models and human islets (29). Other studies suggest that 18:1n-7t may activate insulin signaling genes, including PPARA and PPARG in adipose tissue (30,31), and 18:1n-7t may improve energy use and fat distribution (30). However, in double-blind, randomized, controlled clinical trials, diets enriched in 18:1n-7t for 4-5 weeks did not modify fasting insulinemia and glycemia (32,33). The supplementation of 18:1n-7t decreased liver fat accumulation in rats (30), but FLI did not explain the 18:1n-7t diabetes risk association in our study.

In several other cohort studies, researchers have reported inverse associations of trans-palmitoleic acid (16:1n-7t) with diabetes risk (6,8,9,34). Importantly, our observation that the initial inverse association of 16:1n-7t was completely attenuated when adjusting for other TFAs indicates that previous observations may reflect confounding. In our study, 16:1n-7t was associated with dairy products, as previously reported (28), and was highly correlated with 18:1n-7t, consistent with their common food sources. A small randomized controlled trial revealed that 16:1n-7t increased after supplementation with 18:1n-7t, suggesting that 16:1n-7t may be endogenously synthesized (8). To our knowledge, no previous study has analyzed the independence of associations with diabetes risk of these 2 rTFA subtypes.

We also analyzed several *trans*-18:2 isomers, including 2 CLAs naturally - 25 - found in dairy products (4). The weak intercorrelations, variations in the correlations with food groups, and opposing associations with diabetes risk indicate that CLA isomers should be evaluated individually. We are unaware of other epidemiological studies on individual circulating CLA isomers and diabetes risk. Possible heterogeneous effects are particularly relevant because several randomized controlled trials tested the effects of a mix of CLA isomers on diabetes-related traits (14). Some of the few intervention studies focusing on c9t11-CLA reported neutral effects on plasma insulin, glucose, and insulin resistance (measured by HOMA for insulin resistance) (14). However, authors of 1 study reported reduced insulin sensitivity (measured by hyperinsulinemic clamp) (35), which supports our observation of a positive association of this CLA with diabetes risk. Still, c9t11-CLA supplementation did not affect concentrations of circulating triglycerides (15,35). Thus, our observation that triglycerides and hepatic steatosis attenuate the association of c9t11-CLA with diabetes risk must be interpreted with caution. This notion also applies to the isomer t10c12-CLA, because supplementation did not affect concentrations of circulating triglycerides in human intervention studies (15,36). Furthermore, in contrast to the reduced diabetes risk we observed for higher circulating concentrations of this CLA, supplementation of t10c12-CLA had either neutral or adverse effects on insulin, glucose, and insulin sensitivity (14).

It is worth noting that 18:1n-7t and t10c12-CLA (inversely associated with diabetes risk) were inversely associated with alcohol intake, whereas c9t11-CLA (positively associated with diabetes risk) was positively associated with alcohol intake. Associations of TFAs with alcohol intake have been found previously (10). Alcohol intake activates hepatic de novo lipogenesis, an important pathway leading to the development of diabetes (37). However, it is unlikely that alcohol intake and its effect on lipogenesis explain the associations observed for TFAs, because moderate alcohol intake is associated with reduced diabetes risk (38); thus, the correlation of alcohol intake with TFAs instead would result in an underestimation of association. Nevertheless, our models were comprehensively adjusted for alcohol intake.

Consistent with reports from the CHS cohort (10), adjusting for de novo lipogenesis FAs did not appreciably attenuate the associations of 18:1n-7*t*, *c*9*t*11-CLA, and *t*10*c*12-CLA with diabetes risk in our study.

Another finding is that the associations for 18:1n-7t and c9t11-CLA were somewhat attenuated when we adjusted for n-6 FA concentrations. Similar to what we found in our study, phospholipid FA levels have shown strong intercorrelation patterns (39). This intercorrelation may introduce confounding when evaluating individual FAs (40). Thus, low TFA blood levels may partly reflect a replacement by other FAs, with n-6 PUFAs being well established to relate to diabetes risk (41). Although we have controlled for intercorrelated FA in our analysis, this has not been the case in most previous studies of TFA biomarkers (7-9,11,12).

This study has important strengths. We have quantified 7 different TFA subtypes, including 2 CLAs—a large panel compared with most previous studies on TFA subtypes, which included 1 to 3 TFAs in their analyses (7-9,11). Individual analyses of several TFAs, without combining in broader groups, uncovered strikingly different associations. Also, to our knowledge, this is the first prospective study of blood concentrations of specific CLA isomers and diabetes risk. Our study includes a comprehensive investigation of intercorrelations and evaluation of potential pathways. Although our study is observational and, therefore, associations may be prone to confounding, we comprehensively adjusted for various diabetes risk factors, including demographic, lifestyle, and dietary variables.

This study also had limitations. First, we did not measure the stability of the TFAs during storage time from the plasma sample collection to the analysis several years after. However, previous evidence suggested sufficient long-term stability of plasma FA concentration when stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C (42). Second, the association with food groups was investigated using an FFQ that included a limited number of food groups, which probably underestimated TFA sources. Third, TFAs were assessed in single plasma samples at study baseline. Food intake may have changed over time, and iTFA content in foods has been reduced by food reformulation, which is

not reflected in the single baseline measurements. Fourth, we cannot rule out that the TFA concentrations correlate with other unmeasured FAs. Fifth, although several TFAs were significantly associated with diabetes, we might have had limited statistical power to detect weaker associations. Last, identifying cases by self-report could lead to cases remaining undetected. However, case verification ensured no false positives and the false negatives do not bias risk associations if this misclassification is nondifferential to the exposure of interest (43).

In conclusion, our study findings suggest that TFA conformation plays an essential role in TFAs' relationship to diabetes risk. Although iTFAs were not appreciably associated with risk, rTFA isomers may have different relations to diabetes risk, with 18:1n-7t and t10c12-CLA being inversely associated and *c*9t11-CLA positively associated. Previous observations of reduced diabetes risk with higher circulating *trans*-palmitoleic acid are likely due to confounding.

Acknowledgments. The authors thank the Human Study Centre (HSC) of the German Institute of Human Nutrition Potsdam-Rehbrücke, namely, the trustee and the data hub for the data processing and the participants for the provision of the data; the biobank for the processing of the biological samples; and the head of the HSC, Manuela Bergmann, for the contribution to the study design and leading the underlying processes of data generation.

Funding. This work was supported by the European Commission and the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research within the Joint Programming Initiative, A Healthy Diet for a Healthy Life (HDHL), within the ERA-HDHL cofounded joint call, Biomarkers for Nutrition and Health (grant 01EA1704); and the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research and the State of Brandenburg to the German Center for Diabetes Research (grant 82DZD00302). Clemens Wittenbecher was supported by an individual fellowship from the German Research Foundation.

**Duality of Interest**. No potential conflicts of interest relevant to this article were reported. **Author Contributions.** M.P. contributed to the study design, statistical analyses, data visualization, interpretation of results, and manuscript writing. C.Wi. contributed to study design, interpretation of results, and manuscript writing. F.E. contributed to the data visualization and interpretation of results. A.W. contributed to the acquisition of data and manuscript writing. O.K. performed statistical analyses. J.K. contributed to the study design and analysis design. C.We. contributed

to interpretation of results and provided critical revisions to the manuscript. M.B.S. contributed to the study design and interpretation of results and provided critical revisions to the manuscript. All authors revised the manuscript. M.P. takes responsibility for the data integrity and the accuracy of the analyses.

#### References

1. World Health Organization. Countdown to 2023: WHO report on global *trans*-fat elimination 2020. Geneva, Switzerland; 2020.

2. de Souza RJ, Mente A, Maroleanu A, et al. Intake of saturated and *trans* unsaturated fatty acids and risk of all cause mortality, cardiovascular disease, and type 2 diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. BMJ 2015;351:h3978

3. Stender S, Astrup A, Dyerberg J. Ruminant and industrially produced *trans* fatty acids: health aspects. Food Nutr Res 2008;52. DOI: 10.3402/fnr.v52i0.1651

4. Kraft J, Collomb M, Möckel P, Sieber R, Jahreis G. Differences in CLA isomer distribution of cow's milk lipids. Lipids 2003;38:657–664

5. Gebauer SK, Destaillats F, Dionisi F, Krauss RM, Baer DJ. Vaccenic acid and *trans* fatty acid isomers from partially hydrogenated oil both adversely affect LDL cholesterol: a double-blind, randomized controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2015;102:1339–1346

6. Imamura F, Fretts A, Marklund M, et al.; InterAct Consortium; Fatty Acids and Outcomes Research Consortium (FORCE). Fatty acid biomarkers of dairy fat consumption and incidence of type 2 diabetes: a pooled analysis of prospective cohort studies. PLoS Med 2018;15: e1002670

7. Kröger J, Zietemann V, Enzenbach C, et al. Erythrocyte membrane phospholipid fatty acids, desaturase activity, and dietary fatty acids in relation to risk of type 2 diabetes in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)-Potsdam Study. Am J Clin Nutr 2011; 93:127–142

8. Mozaffarian D, de Oliveira Otto MC, Lemaitre RN, et al. *trans*-Palmitoleic acid, other dairy fat biomarkers, and incident diabetes: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). Am J Clin Nutr 2013;97:854–861

9. Yakoob MY, Shi P, Willett WC, et al. Circulating biomarkers of dairy fat and risk of incident diabetes mellitus among men and women in the United States in two large prospective cohorts. Circulation 2016;133:1645–1654

10. Wang Q, Imamura F, Ma W, et al. Circulating and dietary *trans* fatty acids and incident type 2 diabetes in older adults: the Cardiovascular Health Study. Diabetes Care 2015;38:1099–1107

11. Harris WS, Luo J, Pottala JV, Margolis KL, Espeland MA, Robinson JG. Red blood cell fatty acids and incident diabetes mellitus in the Women's Health Initiative Memory Study. PLoS One 2016;11:e0147894

12. Hodge AM, English DR, O'Dea K, et al. Plasma phospholipid and dietary fatty acids as predictors of type 2 diabetes: interpreting the role of linoleic acid. Am J Clin Nutr 2007;86: 189–197

13. Lai H, Imamura F, Korat AA, et al. *Trans* fatty acid biomarkers and incident type 2 diabetes:

pooled analysis from 10 prospective cohort studies in the Fatty Acids and Outcome Research Consortium (FORCE) (OR33-02-19). Curr Dev Nutr 2019;3(Suppl. 1):nzz039.OR33-02-19.

14. Tremblay BL, Rudkowska I. Nutrigenomic point of view on effects and mechanisms of action of ruminant *trans* fatty acids on insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Nutr Rev 2017; 75:214–223

15. Rubin D, Herrmann J, Much D, et al. Influence of different CLA isomers on insulin resistance and adipocytokines in pre-diabetic, middle-aged men with PPAR $\gamma$ 2 Pro12Ala polymorphism. Genes Nutr 2012;7:499–509

16. Boeing H, Korfmann A, Bergmann MM. Recruitment procedures of EPIC-Germany. European Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Ann Nutr Metab 1999;43:205–215

17. Kroke A, Bergmann MM, Lotze G, Jeckel A, Klipstein-Grobusch K, Boeing H. Measures of quality control in the German component of the EPIC study. European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Ann Nutr Metab 1999;43:216–224

18. Klipstein-Grobusch K, Georg T, Boeing H. Interviewer variability in anthropometric measurements and estimates of body composition. Int J Epidemiol 1997;26(Suppl. 1):S174–S180

19. Prentice RL. A case-cohort design for epidemiologic cohort studies and disease prevention trials. Biometrika 1986;73:1–11

20. Bohlscheid-Thomas S, Hoting I, Boeing H, Wahrendorf J. Reproducibility and relative validity of energy and macronutrient intake of a food frequency questionnaire developed for the German part of the EPIC project. European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Int J Epidemiol 1997;26(Suppl. 1):S71–S81

21. Kroke A, Klipstein-Grobusch K, Voss S, et al. Validation of a self-administered food-frequency questionnaire administered in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) Study: comparison of energy, protein, and macronutrient intakes estimated with the doubly labeled water, urinary nitrogen, and repeated 24-h dietary recall methods. Am J Clin Nutr 1999;70:439–447

22. Bohlscheid-Thomas S, Hoting I, Boeing H, Wahrendorf J. Reproducibility and relative validity of food group intake in a food frequency questionnaire developed for the German part of the EPIC project. European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Int J Epidemiol 1997;26(Suppl. 1):S59–S70.

23. Stefan N, Fritsche A, Weikert C, et al. Plasma fetuin-A levels and the risk of type 2 diabetes. Diabetes 2008;57:2762–2767

24. Wittenbecher C, Kuxhaus O, Boeing H, Stefan N, Schulze MB. Associations of short stature and components of height with incidence of type 2 diabetes: mediating effects of cardiometabolic risk factors. Diabetologia 2019;62: 2211–2221

25. Willett WC, Howe GR, Kushi LH. Adjustment for total energy intake in epidemiologic studies. Am J Clin Nutr 1997;65(Suppl.):1220S–1228S

26. Bedogni G, Bellentani S, Miglioli L, et al. The Fatty Liver Index: a simple and accurate predictor of hepatic steatosis in the general population. BMC Gastroenterol 2006;6:33

27. Zong G, Sun Q, Yu D, et al. Dairy consumption, type 2 diabetes, and changes in cardiometabolic traits: a prospective cohort study of middle-aged and older Chinese in Beijing and Shanghai. Diabetes Care 2014;37:56–63

28. Micha R, King IB, Lemaitre RN, et al. Food sources of individual plasma phospholipid *trans* fatty acid isomers: the Cardiovascular Health Study. Am J Clin Nutr 2010;91:883–893

29. Wang X, Gupta J, Kerslake M, Rayat G, Proctor SD, Chan CB. *trans*-11 vaccenic acid improves insulin secretion in models of type 2 diabetes in vivo and in vitro. Mol Nutr Food Res 2016;60:846–857

30. Jacome-Sosa MM, Borthwick F, Mangat R, et al. Diets enriched in *trans*-11 vaccenic acid alleviate ectopic lipid accumulation in a rat model of NAFLD and metabolic syndrome [published correction appears in J Nutr Biochem 2016;28:201]. J Nutr Biochem 2014;25:692–701

31. Wang Y, Jacome-Sosa MM, Ruth MR, et al. The intestinal bioavailability of vaccenic acid and activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- $\alpha$  and - $\gamma$  in a rodent model of dyslipidemia and the metabolic syndrome. Mol Nutr Food Res 2012;56:1234–1246

32. Tholstrup T, Raff M, Basu S, Nonboe P, Sejrsen K, Straarup EM. Effects of butter high in ruminant *trans* and monounsaturated fatty acids on lipoproteins, incorporation of fatty acids into lipid classes, plasma C-reactive protein, oxidative stress, hemostatic variables, and insulin in healthy young men. Am J Clin Nutr 2006;83: 237–243

33. Tardy A-L, Lambert-Porcheron S, Malpuech-Brugère C, et al. Dairy and industrial sources of *trans* fat do not impair peripheral insulin sensitivity in overweight women. Am J Clin Nutr 2009;90:88–94

34. Mozaffarian D, Cao H, King IB, et al. *Trans*palmitoleic acid, metabolic risk factors, and newonset diabetes in U.S. adults: a cohort study. Ann Intern Med 2010;153:790–799

35. Risérus U, Vessby B, Arnlöv J, Basu S. Effects of *cis-9,trans-*11 conjugated linoleic acid supplementation on insulin sensitivity, lipid peroxidation, and proinflammatory markers in obese men. Am J Clin Nutr 2004;80:279–283

36. Risérus U, Arner P, Brismar K, Vessby B. Treatment with dietary *trans*10*cis*12 conjugated linoleic acid causes isomer-specific insulin resistance in obese men with the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes Care 2002;25:1516–1521

37. Imamura F, Fretts AM, Marklund M, et al. Fatty acids in the de novo lipogenesis pathway and incidence of type 2 diabetes: a pooled analysis of prospective cohort studies. PLoS Med 2020;17:e1003102-e.

38. Baliunas DO, Taylor BJ, Irving H, et al. Alcohol as a risk factor for type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Care 2009;32:2123–2132

39. Imamura F, Sharp SJ, Koulman A, et al. A combination of plasma phospholipid fatty acids and its association with incidence of type 2 diabetes: the EPIC-InterAct case-cohort study. PLoS Med 2017;14:e1002409

40. Schulze MB. Dietary linoleic acid: will modifying dietary fat quality reduce the risk of type 2 diabetes? Diabetes Care 2021;44:1913–1915

41. Schulze MB, Minihane AM, Saleh RNM, Risérus U. Intake and metabolism of omega-3 and omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids: nutritional implications for cardiometabolic diseases. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2020;8:915–930

42. Matthan NR, Ip B, Resteghini N, Ausman LM, Lichtenstein AH. Long-term fatty acid stability in human serum cholesteryl ester, triglyceride, and phospholipid fractions. J Lipid Res 2010;51:2826–2832

43. Rothmann KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL. Validity in epidemiologic studies. In: *Modern Epidemiology*. Third ed. Rothmann KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL, eds. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2008.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

# Plasma industrial and ruminant *trans* fatty acids and incident type 2 diabetes in the EPIC-Potsdam cohort

Marcela Prada, MSc<sup>1,2</sup>; Clemens Wittenbecher, PhD<sup>1,2,3</sup>; Fabian Eichelmann, PhD<sup>1,2</sup>; Andreas Wernitz, Dipl.-Chem.<sup>1,2</sup>; Olga Kuxhaus, MSc<sup>1,2</sup>; Janine Kröger, DrPH<sup>1,2</sup>; Cornelia Weikert, MD, MPH<sup>4</sup>; Matthias B. Schulze, DrPH<sup>1,2,5</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Molecular Epidemiology, German Institute of Human Nutrition Potsdam-Rehbrücke,

Nuthetal, Germany

<sup>2</sup>German Center for Diabetes Research (DZD), München-Neuherberg, Germany

<sup>3</sup> Department of Nutrition, Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Boston, MA

<sup>4</sup>German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment, Department of Food Safety, Berlin, Germany

<sup>5</sup> Institute of Nutritional Science, University of Potsdam, Nuthetal, Germany

Dairy groups	Foods included
Low-fat dairy	low-fat milk and milk beverages ( $\leq 1.5\%$ fat), low-fat yogurt ( $\leq 1.5\%$ fat), kefir ( $\leq 1.5\%$ fat), curd cheese ( $\leq 5\%$ fat), and low-fat cheese (reduced fat or lean: cream cheese, gouda, emmental, tilsiter, camembert, brie, gorgonzola).
Full-fat dairy	full-fat milk and milk beverages (>1.5% fat), full-fat yogurt (>1.5% fat), curd cheese (>5% fat), heavy cream, and full- fat cheese (full-fat cream cheese, gouda, emmental, tilsiter, camembert, brie, gorgonzola, processed cheese).

# Supplementary Table 1. Dairy food groups

Class	Lipid name	Common name	Systematic Name
Ruminant Trans Fatty Acids	16:1n-7 <i>t</i>	trans-palmitoleic acid	9E-hexadecenoic acid
	18:1n-7 <i>t</i>	trans-vaccenic acid	11E-octadecenoic acid
	<i>c</i> 9 <i>t</i> 11-CLA	Rumenic acid	9Z,11E-octadecadienoic acid
	<i>t</i> 10 <i>c</i> 12-CLA	10E,12Z-octadecadienoic acid	10E,12Z-octadecadienoic acid
Industrial Trans Fatty Acids	18:1n-9 <i>t</i>	9-elaidic acid	9E-octadecenoic acid
	18:1n-6 <i>t</i>	trans-12-elaidic acid	12E-octadecenoic acid
	18:2n-6,9 <i>t</i>	Linoelaidic acid	9E,12E-octadecadienoic acid

# Supplementary Table 2. Trans fatty acids profile

Characteristics	Full cohort	Subcohort before	Subcohort after
		exclusions	exclusions
Ν	26437*	1248	1159
Sex (% women)	59.8	60.1	60.8
Age (median, IQR)	50.7 (42.6-58.4)	50.7 (42.4-58.0)	49.4 (42.1-57.7)
BMI (median, IQR)	25.7 (23.2-28.6)	25.6 (23.2-28.2)	25.4 (23.0-28.0)
Education (%)			
Currently in training/no	3.5	3.8	
certificate			3.5
Skilled worker	35.0	34.6	35.1
Professional school	24.8	24.0	23.8
High education/university	36.7	37.5	37.5
Smoking status (%)			
Never smoker	46.8	47.5	48.5
Ex-smoker	32.5	31.6	31.4
Smoker <20 units/day	14.8	15.3	14.8
Smoker >=20 units/day	5.8	5.6	5.3

Supplementary Table 3. Comparison between full cohort with blood samples and random subcohort before exclusions

\*There were missing values for BMI (n=198), education (n=17), smoking (n=16)

	Fift	hs of plasma phosphol	lipid total dairy trans-	-fatty acid concentrati	01	
I	First	Second	Third	Fourth	Fifth	Total
Ruminant trans fatty acids (%) $^{*}$ , $\ddot{\uparrow}$	0.37 (0.34-0.39)	0.44 (0.43-0.46)	0.50 (0.49-0.52)	0.58 (0.56-0.60)	0.71 (0.66-0.78)	0.50 (0.43-0.60)
16.1n-71(%) †	0 03 (0 02-0 03)	0 04 (0 03-0 04)	0 04 (0 03-0 04)	0 04 (0 04-0 05)	0.05 (0.04-0.06)	0 04 (0 03-0 05)
18:1n-7t (%) †	0.13 (0.11-0.15)	0.17 (0.15-0.18)	0.19 (0.17-0.21)	0.23 (0.20-0.26)	0.28 (0.25-0.32)	0.19 (0.15-0.24)
$c9t11$ -CLA (%) $^{+}$	0.20 (0.17-0.22)	0.23 (0.22-0.25)	0.27 (0.24-0.29)	0.30 (0.27-0.33)	0.37 (0.32-0.43)	0.26 (0.22-0.31)
<i>t</i> 10 <i>c</i> 12-CLA (%) <sup>†</sup>	0.01 (0.01-0.01)	0.01 (0.01-0.01)	0.01 (0.01-0.01)	0.01 (0.01-0.01)	0.01 (0.01-0.01)	0.01 (0.01-0.01)
Industrial TFA						
$18:1n-6t(\%)^{\dagger}$	0.08 (0.06-0.09)	0.09 (0.08-0.11)	$0.10\ (0.08-0.11)$	0.11 (0.09-0.13)	0.11 (0.09-0.16)	0.09 (0.08-0.12)
$18:1n-9t(\%)^{\dagger}$	0.14 (0.12-0.16)	0.16 (0.14-0.19)	0.16 (0.14-0.19)	0.18 (0.14-0.23)	0.19 (0.14-0.27)	0.16 (0.13-0.20)
18:2n-6.9t(%) <sup>+</sup>	0.02 (0.02-0.02)	0.02 (0.02-0.03)	0.02 (0.02-0.03)	0.02 (0.02-0.03)	0.02 (0.02-0.03)	0.02 (0.02-0.03)
Age (years) <sup>†</sup>	48.8 (42.2-56.2)	49.5 (41.7-57.4)	52.7 (42.3-58.5)	46.7 (41.4-57.5)	50.9 (43.0-58.5)	49.4 (42.1-57.7)
Sex (% women)	42.7	56.0	64.5	69.4	71.6	60.8
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> ) $^{\dagger}$	26.4 (24.0-29.5)	26.0 (23.3-29.3)	25.2 (23.3-28.1)	24.5 (22.2-27.4)	24.5 (22.4-26.8)	25.4 (23.0-28.0)
Waist (cm) †	89.3 (82.0-97.0)	87.0 (76.0-96.0)	83.0 (75.2-93.0)	80.8 (73.0-90.3)	80.5 (72.0-90.0)	85.0 (75.0-93.8)
Leisure time physical activity (h/week) $^{\dagger}$	0 (0-2)	0 (0-1)	0 (0-1)	0 (0-1.5)	0(0-1.8)	0 (0-1.5)
Alcohol from a coholic drinks (g/day) $^{\dagger}$	15.6 (3.4-29.3)	8.6 (3.1-19.3)	7.9 (2.9-16.3)	6.8 (2.4-18.8)	6.1 (2.0-14.9)	8.4 (2.9-20.1)
Type of work. (%)						
(Heavy) manual work	6.9	7.3	4.3	6.5	4.7	6.0
Sedentary occupation	52.6	59.9	61.0	63.4	60.3	59.4
Standing occupation	40.5	32.8	34.6	30.2	34.9	34.6
Hypertension (%)	35.3	33.2	36.4	28.9	33.2	33.4
Education (%)						
High education/university	34.5	36.6	41.6	37.9	37.1	37.5
Currently in training/no certificate	5.2	1.3	4.3	3.0	3.9	3.5
<b>Professional school</b>	19.1	25.4	19.0	28.0	27.6	23.8
Skilled worker	41.4	36.6	35.1	31.0	31.5	35.1

Supplementary Table 4. Baseline characteristics according to quintiles of total dairy trans fatty acids (sum of 16:1n-7t, 18:1n-7t, *c9t*11-CLA and *t*10*c*12-CLA), EPIC-Potsdam subcohort (n=1159)
35.8	43.1	54.5	51.3	57.8	48.5
37.9	36.2	29.0	28.0	25.9	31.4
18.1	15.5	12.6	15.9	12.1	14.8
8.2	5.2	3.9	4.7	4.3	5.3
5.4 (5.2-5.8)	5.4 (5.1-5.8)	5.4 (5.2-5.8)	5.3 (5.1-5.6)	5.4 (5.1-5.6)	5.4 (5.1-5.7)
126 (82-184)	108 (74-170)	102 (77-148)	94 (70-136)	99 (72-143)	106 (74-161)
154 (124-178)	149 (123-180)	146(122-172)	145 (118-166)	141 (115-173)	147 (119-173)
52 (45-63)	55 (46-63)	55 (47-64)	57 (48-67)	57 (47-66)	55 (46-65)
6.7 (4.8-9.1)	7.3 (5.6-9.8)	8.3 (5.5-11.6)	8.5 (6.2-11.9)	8.4 (6.0-11.6)	7.8 (5.5-10.8)
257 (224-299)	268 (222-302)	265 (224-312)	271 (230-316)	270 (233-312)	265 (227-308)
0.07 (0.02-0.27)	0.10 (0.04-0.25)	0.06 (0.02-0.18)	0.07 (0.02-0.15)	0.07 (0.02-0.16)	0.07 (0.02-0.20)
25 (14-45)	19 (12-35)	16 (10-28)	14 (10-27)	15 (10-27)	17 (12-32)
	35.8 37.9 18.1 8.2 5.4 (5.2-5.8) 126 (82-184) 154 (124-178) 52 (45-63) 6.7 (4.8-9.1) 257 (224-299) 0.07 (0.02-0.27) 25 (14-45)	35.8 $43.1$ $37.9$ $36.2$ $37.9$ $36.2$ $18.1$ $15.5$ $8.2$ $5.2$ $8.2$ $5.4$ (5.1-5.8) $5.4$ (5.2-5.8) $5.4$ (5.1-5.8) $126$ (82-184) $108$ (74-170) $126$ (82-184) $108$ (74-170) $154$ (124-178) $5.4$ (5.1-5.8) $52$ (45-63) $55$ (46-63) $52$ (45-63) $55$ (46-63) $6.7$ (4.8-9.1) $7.3$ (5.6-9.8) $257$ (224-299) $268$ (222-302) $0.07$ (0.02-0.27) $0.10$ (0.04-0.25) $25$ (14-45) $19$ (12-35)	35.8 $43.1$ $54.5$ $37.9$ $36.2$ $29.0$ $37.9$ $36.2$ $29.0$ $18.1$ $15.5$ $12.6$ $8.1$ $15.5$ $12.6$ $8.2$ $5.2$ $3.9$ $5.4 (5.2-5.8)$ $5.4 (5.1-5.8)$ $5.4 (5.2-5.8)$ $126 (82-184)$ $108 (74-170)$ $102 (77-148)$ $126 (82-184)$ $108 (74-170)$ $102 (77-148)$ $154 (124-178)$ $5.4 (5.1-5.8)$ $5.4 (5.2-5.8)$ $5.2 (45-63)$ $5.5 (46-63)$ $5.4 (7-64)$ $52 (45-63)$ $55 (46-63)$ $55 (47-64)$ $6.7 (4.8-9.1)$ $7.3 (5.6-9.8)$ $8.3 (5.5-11.6)$ $257 (224-299)$ $268 (222-302)$ $265 (224-312)$ $007 (0.02-0.27)$ $0.10 (0.04-0.25)$ $0.06 (0.02-0.18)$ $25 (14-45)$ $19 (12-35)$ $16 (10-28)$	35.8 $43.1$ $54.5$ $51.3$ $37.9$ $36.2$ $29.0$ $28.0$ $37.9$ $36.2$ $29.0$ $28.0$ $18.1$ $15.5$ $12.6$ $15.9$ $18.1$ $15.5$ $12.6$ $15.9$ $8.2$ $5.2$ $3.9$ $4.7$ $8.2$ $5.4(5.1-5.8)$ $5.4(5.2-5.8)$ $5.3(5.1-5.6)$ $126(82-184)$ $108(74-170)$ $102(77-148)$ $94(70-136)$ $126(82-184)$ $108(74-170)$ $102(77-148)$ $94(70-136)$ $154(124-178)$ $149(123-180)$ $126(122-172)$ $145(118-166)$ $52(45-63)$ $55(47-64)$ $57(48-67)$ $57(48-67)$ $52(45-63)$ $55(47-64)$ $57(48-67)$ $57(48-67)$ $6.7(4.8-9.1)$ $7.3(5.6-9.8)$ $8.3(5.5-11.6)$ $8.5(6.2-11.9)$ $0.07(0.02-0.27)$ $0.10(0.04-0.25)$ $0.06(0.02-0.18)$ $0.07(0.02-0.15)$ $25(14-45)$ $19(12-35)$ $16(10-28)$ $14(10-27)$ $25(14-45)$ $10(10-28)$ $16(10-28)$ $10(10-27)$	35.8 $43.1$ $54.5$ $51.3$ $57.8$ $37.9$ $36.2$ $29.0$ $28.0$ $25.9$ $18.1$ $15.5$ $12.6$ $15.9$ $12.1$ $8.2$ $5.2$ $3.9$ $4.7$ $4.3$ $8.2$ $5.4$ ( $5.2.5.8$ ) $5.4$ ( $5.2.5.8$ ) $5.4$ ( $5.1-5.6$ ) $5.4$ ( $5.2.5.8$ ) $5.4$ ( $5.2-5.8$ ) $5.4$ ( $5.1-5.8$ ) $5.4$ ( $5.2-5.8$ ) $5.4$ ( $5.1-5.6$ ) $94$ ( $70-136$ ) $94$ ( $74-170$ ) $102$ ( $77-148$ ) $94$ ( $70-136$ ) $99$ ( $72-143$ ) $154$ ( $124-178$ ) $149$ ( $123-180$ ) $102$ ( $77-148$ ) $94$ ( $70-136$ ) $99$ ( $72-143$ ) $154$ ( $124-178$ ) $149$ ( $123-180$ ) $102$ ( $77-148$ ) $94$ ( $70-136$ ) $99$ ( $72-143$ ) $154$ ( $124-178$ ) $149$ ( $123-180$ ) $102$ ( $77-148$ ) $94$ ( $70-136$ ) $99$ ( $72-143$ ) $154$ ( $124-178$ ) $149$ ( $123-180$ ) $146$ ( $122-172$ ) $145$ ( $118-166$ ) $91$ ( $70-136$ ) $52$ ( $45-63$ ) $55$ ( $47-64$ ) $57$ ( $48-67$ ) $57$ ( $48-67$ ) $57$ ( $48-67$ ) $52$ ( $48-9.1$ ) $7.3$ ( $5.6-9.8$ ) $8.3$ ( $5.5-11.6$ ) $8.5$ ( $6.2-11.9$ ) $8.4$ ( $6.0-11.6$ ) $27$ ( $242-299$ ) $258$ ( $222-302$ ) $256$ ( $224-312$ ) $271$ ( $230-316$ ) $270$ ( $233-312$ ) $0.07$ ( $0.02-0.27$ ) $0.10$ ( $0.04-0.25$ ) $0.06$ ( $0.02-0.18$ ) $0.07$ ( $0.02-0.15$ ) $0.07$ ( $0.02-0.15$ ) $25$ ( $14-45$ ) $19$ ( $10-28$ ) $14$ ( $10-27$ ) $15$ ( $10-27$ ) $12$ ( $10-28$ ) $12$ ( $10-28$ ) $25$ ( $14-45$ ) $19$ ( $10-28$ ) $10.10$ ( $0.04-0.25$ ) $0.06$ ( $0$

\* Ruminant trans fatty acids are the sum of the relative concentrations of the fatty acids 16:1n-7t, 18:1n-7t, c9t11-CLA, t10c12-CLA  $\dagger$  Values are presented as median (interquartile range) HbA\_{\rm lc}, hemoglobin A\_{\rm lc}; hsCRP, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; GGT,  $\gamma$ -glutamyl transferase

Supplementary Table 5. Pearson correlation coefficients between specific plasma phospholipid trans fatty acids adjusted for age and sex, EPIC-Potsdam subcohort (n=1159)

	£-nð:22																				1
	22:5n-3																			-	0.29
	20:5n-3																		-	0.36	0.56
	9-U#:07																	-	0.05	0.11	0.07
	9-46:02																~	0.03	-0.12	-0.04	-0.15
A	29-117:01															-	-0.31	-0.51	-0.44	-0.37	-0.39
A or SF	0.9 %C.84														~	-0.21	-0.14	0.15	-0.09	-0.01	0.04
Cis F	52-ut:8t													-	0.27	-0.37	0.07	-0.22	-0.06	0.12	-0.27
	26-01-81												-	-0.21	-0.28	0.04	0.02	0.00	0.06	0.31	0.04
	0:81											-	0.18	-0.27	-0.07	0.18	-0.17	-0.08	0.07	0.19	0.15
	0:21										-	0.42	0.29	0.70	0.26	0.47	0.26	0.08	0.02	0.04	0.14
	27-n1:81									-	0.40	0.22 -	0.79	0.23	0.14	0.32 -	0.16	0.01	0.02	0.28	0.02 -
	0:91								٦	0.09	0.17	0.51 -	0.13 -	0.09	0.26	0.11 -	0.03	0.17 -	0.06	0.14 -	0.08
	15:0							1	0.06	0.07	0.21 -	0.41	0.07 -	0.20 -	0.10 -	0.17	0.23	0.06 -	0.04	0.03	0.08
rial TFA	16,9-nS:81						~	0.32	0.12	0.20 -	0.03	0.22	0.10	0.03 -	0.06	0.15	0.11	- 60.0	0.05 -(	00.0	0.09
Industi	19-n1:81					١	.75	.41 (	.17 -(	.22 -(	.16 -(	.40 (	.10 (	.13 (	.07 (	.18 (	.10 -(	). 13 -(	.04 -(	0.06 (	.10 -(
	19-n1:81				1	.54	.34	.53 0	.16 0	.11 -0	.18	.44	.12	.10 -0	.03 -C	.10	.10 -0	0- 60.	00.	.08	.07 0
FA	10c12-CLA			-	.12	.16 0	.05 0	.04 0	.50 0	.28 -0	.36 -0	.28 0	.22 0	.41 -0	.02 -0	.24 0	.12 -0	.24 -0	.16 0	.17 0	.04 0
ninant T	AJD-11360		-	47	39 0	66 0	50 0	29 -0	49 0	<mark>23</mark> 0	<u>32</u> 0	62 0	11 -0	18 0	16 0	33 -0	<mark>21</mark> 0	22 -0	03 0	06 0	02 0
Run	17-n1:81	1	70	34 0.	49 0.	61 0.	39 0.	46 0.	46 0.	00 -0.	27 -0.	52 0.	05 0.	20 -0.	06 -0.	23 0.	16 -0.	14 -0.	0 <mark>5</mark> 0.	04 0.	10 0.
	17-n1:91	7t	7t 0.	0 0	- <b>A</b>	6t 0.	9t 0.	9t 0.	: <b>0</b>	0:	<u>،</u>	<u>.</u>	:0- .0:	9c -0.	c -0.	<b>c</b> 0.	-0.	-0.	-0.	-0.	-3 0.
		16:1n-	18:1n-	c 9t11-CL	10c 12-CL	18:1n-(	18:1n-	18:2n-6,	15	16	16:1n-7	17	18	18:1n-!	18:1n-7	18:2n-6	20:3n	20:4n	20:5n	22:5n	22:6n
				-	t.																
			<u> </u>	L			L	L													

TFA	Principal Component 1 (PC1)*
16:1n-7 <i>t</i>	0.83
18:1n-7 <i>t</i>	0.83
c9t11-CLA	0.38
t10c12-CLA	0.69
18:1n-6 <i>t</i>	0.88
18:1n-9 <i>t</i>	0.73
18:2n-6,9 <i>t</i>	0.60

Supplementary Table 6. Factor loadings of the seven trans fatty acids on the retained principal component

\*53% explained total variance

Supplementary Table 7. Prospective associations of TFA and T2D risk, with and without adjusting for alcohol intake and according to quartiles of alcohol intake

		Hazard Ratio pe Quartiles of	r 1-SD (95%CI)* by Alcohol Intake	Į	p- interaction ‡
Fatty acid	First: 1.0 (0.5-1.9) † (n=501)	Second: 5.2 (4.0-6.7) † (n=472)	Third: 12.8 (10.0-16.1) † (n=468)	Fourth: 33.9 (24.5-46.4) † (n=486)	
18:1n-7 <i>t</i>	0.44 (0.27-0.72)	0.72 (0.47-1.10)	0.62 (0.39-0.98)	0.67 (0.45-0.99)	0.05
<i>c9t</i> 11-CLA	1.70 (1.25-2.30)	1.47 (1.09-1.99)	1.20 (0.88-1.62)	1.42 (1.08-1.87)	0.74
<i>t</i> 10 <i>c</i> 12-CLA	0.76 (0.55-1.04)	0.75 (0.57-0.98)	1.12 (0.80-1.57)	0.78 (0.59-1.02)	0.35

\* Hazard Ratios (HR) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) derived from a multivariable Cox regression model adjusted for age (stratum variable), sex, waist circumference, BMI, smoking status (never, past, current, <20 cigarettes/day, or current >20 cigarettes/day), cycling (0, 0.1-2.4, 2.5-4.9, or >=5 h/week), sports activity (0, 0.1-4.0, or >4.0 h/week), occupational activity (light, moderate, or heavy), education (in or no training, skilled worker, technical school, or university degree), red meat intake (energy-adjusted), coffee intake (energy-adjusted), fiber intake (energy-adjusted), fasting status, total energy intake and all the other trans fatty acids (16:1n-7*t*, 18:1n-6*t*, 18:1n-7*t*, 18:1n-9*t*, 18:2n-6,9*t*, *c*9*t*11-CLA, *t*10*c*12-CLA)

<sup>†</sup>Values are median (interquartile range) of grams of alcohol intake per day

‡ Derived from tests for statistical interactions of trans fatty acids concentrations with quartiles of alcohol intake by including cross-product terms in the fully-adjusted models

Fatty acid	Men	Women	p- interaction *
16:1n-7 <i>t</i>			
Median concentration (IQR) (%) $\dagger$	0.04 (0.03-0.04)	0.04 (0.03-0.05)	
Hazard Ratio per 1 SD (95% CI) ‡	1.05 (0.80-1.38)	1.32 (1.00-1.72)	0.73
18:1n-7 <i>t</i>			
Median concentration (IQR) (%) $\dagger$	0.17 (0.14-0.22)	0.20 (0.16-0.25)	
Hazard Ratio per 1 SD (95% CI) ‡	0.74 (0.56-0.99)	0.55 (0.40-0.75)	0.82
<i>c9t</i> 11-CLA			
Median concentration (IQR) (%) $\dagger$	0.25 (0.21-0.29)	0.27 (0.23-0.32)	
Hazard Ratio per 1 SD (95% CI) ‡	1.39 (1.13-1.72)	1.45 (1.18-1.79)	0.80
<i>t</i> 10 <i>c</i> 12-CLA			
Median concentration (IQR) (%) †	0.01 (0.01-0.01)	0.01 (0.01-0.01)	
Hazard Ratio per 1 SD (95% CI) ‡	1.03 (0.85-1.25)	0.59 (0.46-0.74)	0.06
18:1n-6 <i>t</i>			
Median concentration (IQR) (%) $\dagger$	0.09 (0.07-0.11)	0.10 (0.08-0.12)	
Hazard Ratio per 1 SD (95% CI) ‡	0.91 (0.65-1.25)	1.23 (0.87-1.74)	0.59
18:1n-9 <i>t</i>			
Median concentration (IQR) (%) †	0.16 (0.13-0.19)	0.16 (0.13-0.21)	
Hazard Ratio per 1 SD (95% CI) ‡	1.08 (0.82-1.43)	1.15 (0.87-1.52)	0.15
18:2n-6,9 <i>t</i>			
Median concentration (IQR) (%) †	0.02 (0.02-0.03)	0.02 (0.02-0.03)	
Hazard Ratio per 1 SD (95% CI) ‡	0.82 (0.67-1.00)	1.13 (0.89-1.43)	0.13

Supplementary Table 8. Prospective associations of plasma trans fatty acids with risk of type 2 diabetes in men (total n=904, cases n=462) and women (total n=1023, cases n=334) from EPIC-Potsdam

\* Derived from tests for statistical interactions of trans fatty acids concentrations with sex by including cross-product terms in the continuous fully-adjusted models

† Plasma TFA concentrations based on the subcohort sample (men n=454, women n=705)

‡ The standard deviation (SD) was derived from full cohort. Hazard ratio (HR) and 95% confidence interval (CI) per-1SD increase of each trans fatty acid, after accounting for age (stratum variable), sex, waist circumference, BMI, smoking status (never, past, current, <20 cigarettes/day, or current >20 cigarettes/day), cycling (0, 0.1–2.4, 2.5–4.9, or >=5 h/week), sports activity (0, 0.1–4.0, or >4.0 h/week), occupational activity (light, moderate, or heavy), education (in or no training, skilled worker, technical school, or university degree), alcohol intake (0, 0.1–5.0, 5.1–10.0, 10.1–20.0, 20.1–40.0, or >40.0 g/d), red meat intake (energy-adjusted), coffee intake (energy-adjusted), fiber intake (energy-adjusted), fasting status, total energy intake and all other TFA subtypes (16:1n-7*t*, 18:1n-6*t*, 18:1n-7*t*, 18:1n-9*t*, 18:2n-6,9*t*, *c*9*t*11-CLA, *t*10*c*12-CLA)

	Hazard Ratio	per 1-SD (95%CI) *	
Fatty acid	BMI ≤27 (n = 955)	BMI > 27 (n = 972)	p- interaction BMI †
Ruminant TFA			
16:1n-7 <i>t</i>	1.35 (0.98-1.86)	1.00 (0.79-1.27)	0.42
18:1n-7 <i>t</i>	0.57 (0.41-0.79)	0.76 (0.58-1.01)	0.47
<i>c9t</i> 11-CLA	1.55 (1.21-2.00)	1.31 (1.07-1.59)	0.38
t10c12-CLA	0.76 (0.59-0.98)	0.81 (0.68-0.98)	0.90
Industrial TFA			
18:1n-6 <i>t</i>	1.34 (0.90-2.01)	1.04 (0.76-1.43)	0.72
18:1n-9 <i>t</i>	0.80 (0.53-1.18)	1.06 (0.84-1.35)	0.56
18:2n-6,9t	1.05 (0.76-1.45)	0.99 (0.83-1.19)	0.96

Supplementary Table 9. Prospective associations of plasma trans fatty acids with risk of type 2 diabetes according to BMI (above and below the median) in EPIC-Potsdam

\* Hazard ratio (HR) and 95% confidence interval (CI) per-1SD increase of each trans fatty acid in the EPIC-Potsdam subcohort (total n= 1927, cases n=796), after accounting for age (stratum variable), sex, waist circumference, BMI, smoking status (never, past, current, <20 cigarettes/day, or current >20 cigarettes/day), cycling (0, 0.1–2.4, 2.5–4.9, or >=5 h/week), sports activity (0, 0.1–4.0, or >4.0 h/week), occupational activity (light, moderate, or heavy), education (in or no training, skilled worker, technical school, or university degree), alcohol intake (0, 0.1–5.0, 5.1–10.0, 10.1–20.0, 20.1–40.0, or >40.0 g/d), red meat intake (energy-adjusted), coffee intake (energy-adjusted), fiber intake (energy-adjusted), fasting status, total energy intake and all other TFA subtypes (16:1n-7*t*, 18:1n-6*t*, 18:1n-7*t*, 18:1n-9*t*, 18:2n-6,9*t*, *c*9*t*11-CLA, *t*10*c*12-CLA)

† Derived from tests for statistical interactions of trans fatty acids concentrations with BMI <27 and BMI >27 by including cross-product terms in the continuous fully-adjusted models

Supplementary Table 10. Prospective associations of plasma trans fatty acids with risk of type 2 diabetes according to polymorphisms in the *PPARG* gene, in EPIC-Potsdam

	Hazard Ratio p	er 1-SD (95%CI) *	
Fatty acid	PPARG Pro12Pro (Wild type) (n = 1362)	PPARG Pro12Ala (Ala carriers) (n = 485)	p-interaction †
<i>c9t</i> 11-CLA	1.37 (1.13-1.65)	1.48 (1.12-1.96)	0.92
<i>t</i> 10 <i>c</i> 12-CLA	0.78 (0.66-0.92)	0.82 (0.59-1.14)	0.50

\* Hazard ratio (HR) and 95% confidence interval (CI) per-1SD increase of each trans fatty acid in the EPIC-Potsdam subcohort (total n= 1927, cases n=796), after accounting for age (stratum variable), sex, waist circumference, BMI, smoking status (never, past, current, <20 cigarettes/day, or current >20 cigarettes/day), cycling (0, 0.1–2.4, 2.5–4.9, or >=5 h/week), sports activity (0, 0.1–4.0, or >4.0 h/week), occupational activity (light, moderate, or heavy), education (in or no training, skilled worker, technical school, or university degree), alcohol intake (0, 0.1–5.0, 5.1–10.0, 10.1–20.0, 20.1–40.0, or >40.0 g/d), red meat intake (energy-adjusted), coffee intake (energy-adjusted), fiber intake (energy-adjusted), fasting status, total energy intake and other TFA subtypes (16:1n-7*t*, 18:1n-6*t*, 18:1n-7*t*, 18:1n-9*t*, 18:2n-6,9*t*, *c*9*t*11-CLA, *t*10*c*12-CLA)

<sup>†</sup> Derived from tests for statistical interactions of conjugated linoleic acid concentrations with *PPARG* polymorphisms (wild type vs ala carriers) by including cross-product dichotomous terms in the continuous fully-adjusted models

		18:1n-7	t		c9t11-CL	V		t10c12-CI	<b>V</b>
	Hazar SD (	d ratio per 1 (95%-CI)	% change (95%-CI) *	Hazard (9	ratio per 1 SD 05%-CI)	% change (95%-CI) *	Hazard ra (95	atio per 1 SD %-CI)	% change (95%-CI) *
Reference Model †	0.61	(0.47-0.79)		1.53	(1.29; 1.87)	I	0.78	(0.60-038)	1
+ Triglycerides	0.60	(0.45-0.79)	5 (-16;24)	1.40	(1.15-1.73)	-20 (-47;-5)	0.85 (	(0.63; 1.10)	-35 (-189; -6)
+ Non-HDL cholesterol	0.61	(0.47-0.81)	-0.8 (-9;4)	·			0.79	(0.6; 1.01)	-7 (-77;19)
+ HDL-cholesterol	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	0.78 (	(0.58; 1.00)	1 (-45;30)
$+ HbA_{1c}$	0.54	(0.37-0.75)	27 (-24; 116)	1.42	(1.12-1.88)	-16 (-65;28)	ı		·
+ GGT	0.57	(0.43-0.75)	16 (-13;49)	I		ı	0.81 (	(0.61; 1.04)	-12 (-107;21)
+ Adiponectin	0.59	(0.45-0.79)	6 (-9;24)	I		ı	·		
+ hsCRP	0.53	(0.39-0.74)	29 (1;68)	ı		ı	0.78 (	(0.59; 0.98)	0 (-38; 53)
+ Fetuin	ı	ı	·	ı	ı	ı	ı		·
+ FLI ‡	0.60	(0.45; 0.78)	6 (-23;39)	1.37	(1.12-1.71)	-26 (-58;-6)	0.86 (	(0.64; 1.10)	-38 (-205;-6)
* The change (%) refl reference model. Its si replicates) † Hazard ratio (HR) a	lects the c tability as	change of the es s well as the co	stimate after additio tresponding hazard	mal adjus ratio wer	tment for each l c estimated as r	viomarkers and fatty nedian and dispersions acides estimated as a	liver index, re in from a boot	elative to the es strapping proce	timate from the dure (500 bootstrap
procedure (500 boots) cigarettes/day, or curr (light, moderate, or he 20.1-40.0, or >40.0 g other TFA subtypes (1)	rap replication reprint the reprint re	sates). Models ( igarettes/day), acation (in or n- neat intake (ene 18:1n-6t. 18:1r	adjusted for age (st cycling (0, 0.1–2.4 o training, skilled v rgy-adjusted), coff	, 2.5–4.9, vorker, te intake $(0.97, 0.97)$	iable), sex, waii or >=5 h/week chnical school, (energy-adjuste	st circumference, BN , sports activity (0, or university degree d), fiber intake (ener 2-CLA)	<i>M</i> . smoking st 0.1−4.0, or >4. , alcohol intal, 'gy-adjusted),	atus (never, pa atus (never, pa 0 h/week), occ ke $(0, 0.1-5.0)$ , f fasting status, t	st, current, <20 upational activity 5.1–10.0, 10.1–20.0, otal energy intake, all
<pre>‡ Fatty liver index (Fi (triglycerides) + 0.139*BMI + 0.71</pre>	$ \int 8^{*loge} (ggt)^{\perp} $	alculated with t -0.053*waist circumfe	the following form rence - 15.745) * 100	ula: FLI =	$(e^{0.953*loge (triglyc}))$	rides) + 0.139*BMI + 0.718*1	oge (ggt) + 0.053*waii	st circumference - 15.74	$^{5})/(1+e^{0.953*loge})$



## Supplementary Figure 1. Flow chart describing study sample

T2D: type 2 diabetes







function with 3 knots placed at the 10<sup>th</sup>, 50<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentiles in the EPIC Potsdam (total n= 1927, cases n=796). Shaded areas are 95% Supplementary Figure 3. Prospective associations between trans fatty acids and incidence of T2D modelled using a restricted cubic spline confidence intervals. Numbers in the bottom right of each panel are p-values based on the likelihood ratio test



cases n=796), with a model further adjusted for PC score. Hazard ratio (HR) and 95% confidence interval (CI) per-1SD increase of each Supplementary Figure 4. Prospective associations of plasma trans fatty acids with risk of type 2 diabetes in EPIC-Potsdam (total n= 1927, trans fatty acid

training, skilled worker, technical school, or university degree), alcohol intake (0, 0.1–5.0, 5.1–10.0, 10.1–20.0, 20.1–40.0, or >40.0 g/d), red meat intake (energy-Model adjusted for age (stratum variable), sex, waist circumference, BMI, smoking status (never, past, current, <20 cigarettes/day, or current >20 cigarettes/day), cycling(0, 0.1-2.4, 2.5-4.9, or >=5 h/week), sports activity (0, 0.1-4.0, or >4.0 h/week), occupational activity (light, moderate, or heavy), education (in or no adjusted), coffee intake (energy-adjusted), fiber intake (energy-adjusted), fasting status, total energy intake and PC score



# Supplementary Figure 5. Sensitivity Analysis, excluding participants with HbA1c>6.5 (Total n=1651, cases n=564)

Model 1: adjusted for age (stratum variable) and sex

Model 2: further adjusted for waist circumference, BMI, smoking status (never, past, current, <20 cigarettes/day, or current >20 cigarettes/day), cycling (0, 0.1–2.4, 2.5–4.9, or >=5 h/week), sports activity (0, 0.1–4.0, or >4.0 h/week), occupational activity (light, moderate, or heavy), education (in or no training, skilled worker, technical school, or university degree), alcohol intake (0, 0.1–5.0, 5.1-10.0, 10.1-20.0, 20.1-40.0, or >40.0 g/d), red meat intake (energy-adjusted), coffee intake (energy-adjusted), fiber intake (energy-adjusted), fasting status, total energy intake Model 3: further adjusted for all other TFA subtypes (16:1n-7*t*, 18:1n-6*t*, 18:1n-7*t*, 18:1n-9*t*, 18:2n-6,9*t*, *c*9*t*11-CLA, *t*10*c*12-CLA

### **Fatty Acid Measurements**

In detail, 50  $\mu$ L of plasma was transferred into 16 x 100 mm teflon coated screw capped vials. After addition of 1 mL deionized water total lipids were extracted with 3 mL *tert*-butyl methyl ether (MTBE)/methanol solution (2/1, v/v) (MTBE containing 0.01% butyl hydroxytoluene (BHT)). The mixture was vortexed for 15 min. After centrifugation, the upper layer containing the lipid fractions was transferred into another vial to evaporate to dryness under a stream of N<sub>2</sub> at 40°C.

For SPE the dried lipids were redissolved into 500  $\mu$ L chloroform. The mixture was applied to conditioned SPE columns (1 mL) containing 100 mg of aminopropyl-modified silica. The columns are placed on a vacuum elution apparatus equipped with vents and manometer. Conditioning of columns was performed by washing with 2 x 1 mL *n*-hexane and 1 x 1 mL chloroform/*i*-propanol (2/1, v/v). The vacuum (~10 kPa) was released in time to prevent columns from becoming completely dry. Firstly, neutral lipids and free FA were eluted with 4 x 1 mL

chloroform/methanol/acetic acid (100/2/2, v/v). After changing vials the PL were eluted with 2 x 1 mL methanol. Solvents were evaporated under a stream of  $N_2$  at 40°C.

For hydrolysis and methylation of FA the dried PL were redissolved into 230  $\mu$ L toluene and transferred into GC-vials. 20  $\mu$ L of trimethyl sulfonium hydroxide solution (TMSH, 0.25 mol/L in methanol, were added to form FA methyl esters (FAME) from FA of PL (except of sphingolipids). Vials were vortexed (30 min, 750 min<sup>-1</sup>, 40°C). Samples containing the FAMEs were analyzed by GC.

Analysis of FAMEs was performed using an Agilent GC system 7890A equipped with Agilent 7000 GC/MS Triple Quad (Agilent Technologies, Waldbronn, Germany) and a FID. 1 µL of sample was injected using a CIS 4C PTV-type GC-inlet (Gerstel) in splitless mode at 30°C, 30-260°C, ramp 12°C/s, held 2 min, 260-320°C, ramp 12°C/s.

The FAMEs were separated on a GC capillary column (HP-88, 100 m x 0.25 mm I.D., 0.2  $\mu$ m film thickness, Agilent) using a constant He carrier gas flow of 1.3 mL/min. The eluting gas flow was splitted for FID and MS detection (1:1) using a 2-way splitter.

FID conditions were as follows: heater at 250°C, H<sub>2</sub> flow at 40 mL/min, air flow at 400 mL/min, and makeup flow at 30 mL/min. GC-MS/MS conditions were as follows: EI ion source at 230°C, He quench gas at 2.25 mL/min, and N<sub>2</sub> collision gas at 1.5 mL/min.

The following FAME standards of odd chain fatty acids (OCFA) and trans fatty acids (TFA) were used for calibration: 15:0 and 17:0 (Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany), 16:1n-7*t*, 18:1n-9*t*, 18:1n-7*t*, 18:1n-6*t*, 18:2n-6*t*, *c*9*t*11-CLA, and *t*10*c*12-CLA (NuChek-Prep, Elysian, USA). The MRM counts were related to corresponding FID counts using calibration standards resulting in individual linear regression curves and conversion factors. The MRM counts of OCFA and TFA of each sample were transformed into FID analogous counts using corresponding conversion factors of each FA. The results were expressed in area percentage of each FA relative to total area of all 9 FA. Simultaneously, a basic FA spectrum of 13 FA can be evaluated by FID detection and expressed in area percentage of each FA. The spectrum consists of the following FA: 15:0, 16:0, 16:1n-7*c*, 17:0, 18:0, 18:1n-9*c*, 18:1n-7*c*, 18:2n-6*c*, 20:3n-6, 20:4n-6, 20:5n-3, 22:5n-3, 22:6n-3.

We did not use lower limits of detection (LOD) because we worked with area sum%. Instead, we used a signal-to-noise ratio better than 3 (S/N=3) for all analytes. This means that all peaks that were at least three times larger than the noise were evaluated. This was true for all fatty acids indicated.

The reproducibility of the analytes was determined by a comparison of intra- and interassay coefficients of variation (CV%, n=10) of the OCFA and TFA detected by MRM (two extractions injected twice) calculated according to Rodbard (1974) were as follows (see table):

Fatty acid	Systematic name	Mean ± SD	Intra-assay CV	Inter-assay CV
		(area sum%)	(%)	(%)
15:0	pentadecanoic acid	$17.10\pm3.18$	1.57	1.97
16:1n-7 <i>t</i>	9E-hexadecenoic acid	$3.04\pm0.44$	1.67	3.65
17:0	heptadecanoic acid	$26.90\pm2.87$	0.69	0.90
18:1n-9 <i>t</i>	trans-9-octadecenoic acid	$16.89\pm3.99$	2.00	2.71
18:1n-7 <i>t</i>	trans-11-octadecenoic acid	$15.94 \pm 1.93$	1.08	1.11
18:1n-6 <i>t</i>	trans-12-octadecenoic acid	$6.45 \pm 1.86$	1.21	1.98
18:2n-6,9 <i>t</i>	9E,12E-octadecadienoic acid	$0.55\pm0.12$	4.17	2.50
<i>c</i> 9 <i>t</i> 11-CLA	9Z,11E-octadecadienoic acid	$12.90\pm5.91$	1.59	1.96
<i>t</i> 10 <i>c</i> 12-CLA	10E,12Z-octadecadienoic acid	$0.23\pm0.06$	9.51	4.66

## **Reference:**

Rodbard D (1974) Statistical quality control and routine data processing for radioimmunoassays and immunoradiometric assays. Clinical chemistry 20 (10):1255-1270

Manuscript 2: Association of the odd-chain fatty acid content in lipid groups with type 2 diabetes risk: A targeted analysis of lipidomics data in the EPIC-Potsdam cohort Clinical Nutrition 40 (2021) 4988-4999

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

## **Clinical Nutrition**

journal homepage: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/clnu

Original article

## Association of the odd-chain fatty acid content in lipid groups with type 2 diabetes risk: A targeted analysis of lipidomics data in the **EPIC-Potsdam cohort**

# Marcela Prada <sup>a, b</sup>, Clemens Wittenbecher <sup>a, b, c</sup>, Fabian Eichelmann <sup>a, b</sup>, Andreas Wernitz <sup>a, b</sup>, Jean-Philippe Drouin-Chartier <sup>d</sup>, Matthias B. Schulze <sup>a, b, e, \*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Molecular Epidemiology, German Institute of Human Nutrition Potsdam-Rehbruecke, Nuthetal, Germany

<sup>b</sup> German Center for Diabetes Research (DZD), Neuherberg, Germany

<sup>c</sup> Department of Nutrition, Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Boston, MA, USA

<sup>d</sup> Centre Nutrition, Santé et Société (NUTRISS), Institut sur la Nutrition et les Aliments Fonctionnels (INAF), Université Laval, Québec, Canada

<sup>e</sup> Institute of Nutritional Science, University of Potsdam, Potsdam, Germany

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 22 February 2021 Accepted 4 June 2021

Keywords: Odd-chain fatty acids Lipidomics Dairy Diabetes

#### SUMMARY

Background: Plasma odd-chain saturated fatty acids (OCFA) are inversely associated with type 2 diabetes (T2D) risk and may serve as biomarkers for dairy fat intake. Their distribution across different lipid classes and consequences for diabetes risk remain unknown.

Aim: To investigate the prospective associations of OCFA-containing lipid species with T2D risk and their dietary determinants.

Methods: Within the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition-Potsdam study (n = 27,548), we applied a nested case-cohort design (subcohort: n = 1,248; T2D cases: n = 820; median follow-up 6.5 years). OCFA-containing lipids included triacylglycerols, free fatty acids (FFA), cholesteryl esters (CE), phosphatidylcholines, phosphatidylethanolamines, lysophosphatidylcholines, lysophosphatidylethanolamines, monoacylglycerols, and diacylglycerols. We estimated lipid class-specific associations between OCFA-containing lipids and T2D in sex-stratified Cox proportional-hazards models. We investigated correlations between lipids and dietary intakes derived from food-frequency questionnaires. Results: We observed heterogeneous integration of OCFA in different lipid classes: triacylglycerols, FFA, CE, and phosphatidylcholines contributed most to the total OCFA-plasma abundance. The relative concentration of OCFA was particularly high in monoacylglycerols, and the contribution of C15:0 versus C17:0 to the total OCFA-abundance differed across lipid classes. In women, several OCFA-containing phospholipids were inversely associated with T2D risk [phosphatidylcholine(C15:0), HR Q5 vs Q1: 0.56, 95% CI 0.32-0.97; phosphatidylcholine(C17:0), HR per SD: 0.59, 95% CI 0.48-0.71; lysophosphatidylcholine(C17:0), HR Q5 vs Q1: 0.42, 95% CI 0.23-0.76]. In men, we did not detect statistically significant inverse associations in phospholipids, and lysophosphatidylcholine(C15:0) was associated with higher T2D risk (HR Q5 vs. Q1: 1.96, 95% CI 1.06-3.63). Besides, CE(C17:0), monoacylglycerols(C15:0), and diacylglycerols(C15:0) were inversely associated with T2D risk; FFA(C17:0) was positively associated with T2D risk in women. Consumption of fat-rich dairy and fiber-rich foods were positively and red meat inversely correlated to OCFA-containing lipid plasma levels.

Conclusions: OCFA-containing lipids are linked to T2D risk in a lipid class and sex-specific manner, and they are correlated with several foods.

© 2021 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

#### 1 Introduction

\* Corresponding author, German Institute of Human Nutrition Potsdam-Rehbrücke, Department of Molecular Epidemiology, Arthur-Scheunert-Allee 114-116. 14558. Nuthetal. Germany. Fax: +49 033 200 88 2437. E-mail address: mschulze@dife.de (M.B. Schulze).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2021.06.006

Dietary saturated fatty acids (SFA) have been traditionally related to higher type 2 diabetes (T2D) risk and complications [1,2]. However, recent research shows that different lengths of SFA have









Abbrevia	tions	MAG	monoacylglycerols
		OCFA	odd-chain saturated fatty acids
C15:0	pentadecanoic acid	PC	phosphatidylcholines
C17:0	heptadecanoic acid	PE	phosphatidylethanolamines
CE	cholesteryl esters	PL	phospholipids
DAG	diacylglycerols	PL-C15:0	phospholipid species containing C15:0
FA	fatty acids	PL-C17:0	phospholipid species containing C17:0
FFA	free fatty acids	PL-OCFA	phospholipid species containing odd-chain fatty
FFQ	food frequency questionnaire		acids
L-C15:0	lipid species containing C15:0	SFA	saturated fatty acids
L-C17:0	lipid species containing C17:0	T2D	type 2 diabetes
LPC	lysophosphatidylcholines	TAG	triacylglycerols
LPE	lysophosphatidylethanolamines		

opposing effects on cardiometabolic risk. In several prospective cohort studies, including EPIC-InterAct [3] and EPIC-Postdam [4], the quantitatively most abundant even-chain SFA were associated with higher T2D risk. In contrast, higher levels of odd-chain SFA (OCFA) – pentadecanoic acid (C15:0) and heptadecanoic acid (C17:0) – were inversely associated [3–5]. Interestingly, these inverse associations were stronger for women compared to men [5].

In observational studies, OCFA are proposed biomarkers of dairy fat intake [5], while total dairy intake is also inversely associated with T2D risk [6]. Still, it remains unclear whether OCFA are involved in dairy's protective effects, considering OCFA constitute a very small fraction of dairy fat, plus the correlations between OCFA and dairy fat intake in previous studies are relatively low [7]. Besides, the association between total dairy and T2D seems to be driven by dairy subgroups, such as low-fat dairy and yogurt [6]. In addition, fiber-rich foods may also be linked to circulating OCFAconcentrations through intestinal production of short-chain fatty acids and their hepatic elongation [8]. Recent studies point out that OCFA may influence metabolism, inflammation, mitochondrial function, and antifibrotic activities [9], which might explain their inverse association with diabetes risk. Clarifying the dietary determinants that affect OCFA concentrations could provide insight into understanding their mechanistic role in T2D.

Novel lipidomic biomarkers may help to elucidate the links between dairy and fiber-rich food consumption, circulating OCFA, and T2D risk in more detail. Previous studies on OCFA biomarkers were restricted to the level of total serum lipids [10-12], plasma phospholipids [3,13-16], erythrocyte membranes phospholipids [4,16–18], and, less frequently, total plasma [17] and cholesteryl esters (CE) [5]. Lipid class-specific analysis allows the investigation of the OCFA abundance in diverse lipid subclasses, e.g., different phospholipid classes, instead of the sum of a blood fraction or subclasses. The question of whether the lipid class containing the OCFA is relevant has to be addressed, considering that some lipid classes have been associated in a different way with diabetes risk. For instance, among phospholipids, several lysophosphatidylcholines (LPC) showed an inverse relationship with T2D [19-22], while predominantly positive associations were found for phosphatidylcholines (PC) [19,23] and phosphatidylethanolamines (PE) [22]. Currently, the distribution of the OCFA across different lipid classes is unknown, and evidence on the associations of major OCFAcontaining lipid metabolites with incident T2D is lacking.

We aimed to characterize the diverse lipid class-specific distribution of C15:0 and C17:0, using the novel lipidomic profiling involving 15 lipid classes. We investigated the sex-specific association of the lipids containing OCFA with T2D incidence and their dietary determinants based on comprehensive dietary assessment. Besides, to assess the comparability with previous studies, we also measured and analyzed total C15:0 and C17:0 in plasma phospholipids by gas chromatography.

#### 2. Material & methods

#### 2.1. Study population and baseline measurements

The European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)-Potsdam cohort study included participants mainly within the age range of 35–65 years that were recruited in Potsdam and surrounding communities between 1994 and 1998 (n = 27,548) [24,25]. At baseline, the participants were asked to complete selfadministered questionnaires and a guided interview that evaluated information about prevalent diseases, lifestyle (smoking, occupation, physical activity), and education. Also, we measured anthropometry following standard protocols [25]. The procedures and measures of quality control were previously described in detail [26,27]. Participants were contacted every 2–3 years to identify incident cases of chronic diseases such as diabetes until the censoring date in August 2005. The response rates ranged between 90% and 96% per follow-up round. The median follow-up time was 6.5 years (interquartile range 6.0–8.7).

For molecular phenotyping, we designed a case-cohort among the participants who provided blood samples (n = 26,437). According to this study design [28], a random subsample was selected (subcohort, n = 1,248) to be representative of the cohort population at baseline, and we included all cases with incident T2D (n = 820) recorded until 31st of August 2005 (Supplemental Fig. 1). We excluded participants due to insufficient plasma samples (n = 75), prevalent or non-verifiable T2D cases (n = 56), and missing followup information (n = 25). The analytical sample thus included 1886 participants: 1137 from the subcohort sample and 775 incident cases with T2D, with an overlap of 26 subjects who belonged both to the random subcohort and the case group. All participants gave informed consent to use their data for research, and the Ethics Committee of the State Brandenburg, Germany, approved the study.

#### 2.2. Type 2 diabetes diagnosis

Participants with potential incident diabetes were detected based on self-report of the diagnosis, antidiabetic medication use, or diabetes dietary treatment. Additionally, T2D information from death certificates or sources as the tumor centers, physicians, or clinics that provided assessments from other diagnoses was obtained. When a participant was identified as a potential case, we inquired the treating physician to verify the diagnosis of type 2 diabetes (International Classification of Diseases, 10th revision code: E11; http://apps.who.int/classifications/icd10/browse/2016/ en). Only cases verified by a physician and having a date of diagnosis posterior to the baseline examination date were included as incident cases.

#### 2.3. Dietary assessment

The habitual diet was assessed by a self-administered, validated semiquantitative food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) [29-31]. The FFQ inquired about the average consumption frequency and portion size of 148 foods consumed during the previous 12 months. The participants had to select frequencies from never to five times per day or more, portions relative to standard portion sizes, and the usual fat content of dairy foods consumed. To assist with the portion size estimation, pictures illustrated the standard portion sizes of butter, cheese, yogurt, kefir, curd cheese, and heavy cream, whereas milk portion size was in cups. Additional questions asked about fat products used for food preparation, including the use of butter and cream. Milk and milk products showed moderate correlations when compared to a FFQ administered six months later (r = 0.55) and when compared with twelve 24-h recalls (r = 0.58)[30]. Other food groups showed moderate to high correlations with repeated administration of the FFQ at a 6-month interval: cheese (r = 0.61), bread (r = 0.49), cereals (r = 0.73), fruits (r = 0.61), vegetables (r = 54), meat (r = 0.77), processed meat (r = 0.73).

We analyzed dairy foods in two main groups based on their fat content and FFQ questions. "Low-fat dairy" included low-fat milk and milk beverages (1.5% fat or less), low-fat yogurt (1.5% fat or less), kefir (1.5% fat or less), curd cheese (5% fat or less), and low-fat cheese (reduced fat or lean: cream cheese, gouda, emmental, tilsiter, camembert, brie, gorgonzola). "Full-fat dairy" included fullfat milk and milk beverages (>1.5% fat), full-fat yogurt (>1.5% fat), curd cheese (>5% fat), heavy cream, and full-fat cheese (full-fat cream cheese, gouda, emmental, tilsiter, camembert, brie, gorgonzola, processed cheese). In addition to these two main groups, total dairy fat intake and specific dairy subgroups were considered separately: low-fat cheese, full-fat cheese, milk 3.5% fat, milk <1.5% fat, low-fat yogurt (1.5% fat), full-fat yogurt (>3.5% fat), and butter. Apart from dairy foods, we considered other food groups based on previously reported correlations with OCFA concentrations [3]. Those groups involved: whole grains (whole grain bread, grain flakes, grains, muesli) and fruits and vegetables, due to their fiber content, which can result in propionate, a possible precursor of endogenous OCFA production [8]; bread, pasta, and rice to compare with the fiber-rich foods; red meat and processed meat because they contain OCFA [32].

#### 2.4. Lipidomic profiling

Venous blood samples were collected at baseline by qualified medical personnel following standardized procedures. Samples were fractioned, and plasma samples were stored in tanks of liquid nitrogen (approximately –196 °C) or deep freezers (–80 °C) [25]. Lipidomics analysis was performed by Metabolon (USA) using the Metabolon® Complex Lipid Panel. This platform identified 1044 molecular species concentrations and complete fatty acid composition across 15 lipid classes. In short, lipids were extracted from plasma samples in the presence of deuterated internal standards using an automated BUME extraction [33]. Extracts were infused, and MS analyzed with a Shimadzu LC with nano PEEK tubing and a Sciex SelexION® –5500 QTRAP mass spectrometer. Upon ionization, the lipids passed through a SelexIon differential mobility spectrometry (DMS), which separates lipids by class. After the DMS filtering, lipids enter the multiple reaction monitoring (MRM), in

which both the mass of lipid and the mass of its characteristic fragments are measured [34]. Individual lipid species were quantified by taking the ratio of the signal intensity of each target compound to that of its assigned internal standard, then multiplying by the concentration of internal standard added to the sample. The coefficients of variation (CVs) of lipid class concentrations were all below 10%. The median CV of species at a 1uM concentration in serum or plasma was approximately 5% [35]. Fasting blood samples (n = 35) collected at two time points four months apart indicate moderate to good reliability for most OCFA-containing lipids, with the exception of individual PC and TAG species (Supplemental Table 1).

## 2.5. Measurements of fatty acid composition in plasma phospholipids

We measured total C15:0 and C17:0 in total plasma phospholipids to compare with concentrations of individual phospholipid species derived from the lipidomics analyses by mass spectrometry. We measured plasma phospholipids fatty acids using total lipid extraction with tert-butyl methyl ether/methanol. The mixture was vortexed using a rotatory shaker. After centrifugation, the upper layer containing the lipid fractions was transferred into another vial to evaporate to dryness. For solid-phase separation, the dried lipids were dissolved into chloroform. The mixture was applied to conditioned solid-phase separation columns containing aminopropyl-modified silica and placed on a vacuum elution apparatus. Firstly, neutral lipids and free fatty acids (FFA) were eluted with chloroform/methanol/acetic acid, and, after changing vials, the phospholipids were eluted with methanol. Solvents were evaporated under a stream of  $N_2$  at 40 °C. The dried phospholipids were redissolved into toluene for hydrolysis and methylation of fatty acids. A trimethyl sulfonium hydroxide solution was added to form fatty acids methyl esters. Vials were vortexed at 40 °C using a thermomixer equipped with a block thermostat. Subsequently, samples were analyzed by gas chromatography with a flame ionization detector. The proportions of the fatty acids are expressed as a percentage of the total fatty acids present in the chromatogram. The spectrum consists of the following fatty acids: C15:0, C16:0, C16:1n-7c, C17:0, C18:0, C18:1n-9c, C18:1n-7c, C18:2n-6c, C20:3n-6, C20:4n-6, C20:5n-3, C22:5n-3, C22:6n-3.

#### 2.6. Statistical analyses

In data preparation, we imputed missing information on covariates by sex-specific median imputation (height: n = 1) and model-based single imputation (body mass index: n = 4, blood pressure: n = 116). No dietary variables were missing. The missing concentrations of lipids species were imputed with half of the minimum detected value for that lipid, as it is very likely that missing values were 9% of lysophosphatidylethanolamine (C17:0) (lysophosphatidylethanolamines, LPE), 31% PE(C17:0), 0.05% LPC(C15:0), 0.05% LPC(C15:0). However, LPE(C15:0) and PE(C15:0) were excluded from analyses due to the high percentage of missing values, 84% and 99%, respectively. There were no missing values of total C15:0 and C17:0 concentrations in plasma phospholipids derived from gas chromatography.

For primary analyses, we selected all lipids containing OCFA (n = 69) (Supplemental Table 2). For lipid classes that contain two or three fatty acids (PC, PE, diacylglycerol [DAG], triacylglycerol [TAG]), the sum within a class was used for calculations, i.e., all lipids in a class containing C15:0 were summed, and all lipids containing C17:0. OCFA-containing phospholipids were also evaluated in broader groups: PL-OCFA reflects the sum of all phospholipid

species containing OCFA: LPE(C17:0), PE(C17:0), PC(C17:0), PC(C17:0), PC(C15:0), LPC(C17:0), and LPC(C15:0); PL-C15:0 reflects the sum of all phospholipids containing C15:0 (PC(C15:0) and LPC(C15:0)) and PL-C17:0 the sum of phospholipids containing C17:0 (LPE(C17:0), PE(C17:0), PC(C17:0), and LPC(C17:0)). Subsequently, we log-transformed the lipid species concentrations to approximate a normal distribution. Values being more than five standard deviations (SD) above or below the mean were considered as outliers and excluded [FFA(C15:0) n = 3, monoacylglycerols (MAG) (C15:0) n = 10, total(C15:0) n = 9, total(C17:0) n = 1].

All descriptive analyses were based on the random subcohort, a representative sample of the full EPIC-Potsdam cohort. To describe the relationship between OCFA measured in total plasma phospholipids by gas chromatography and those from lipidomics analysis, we assessed correlations between lipid variables by Spearman's rank correlation coefficient. Similarly, we assessed pairwise correlations between all phospholipid species containing OCFA. To estimate the link between dietary exposures and circulating lipid species, we calculated Spearman's rank correlation coefficients.

The longitudinal associations with diabetes risk were evaluated in Cox proportional hazards models. The models were weighted with the Prentice method to account for the case-cohort design [36], with age as underlying timescale and including age (years) as strata-variable. We estimated multivariable-adjusted hazard ratios (HR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) considering lipid concentrations as continuous variables standardized to standard deviation (SD) increments. Cox models were adjusted for age, waist circumference, body mass index (BMI), cycling (0, 0.1-2.4, 2.5-4.9, or  $\geq$  5 h/week), sports activity (0, 0.1–4.0, or >4.0 h/week), occupational activity (light, moderate, or heavy), education (in or no training, vocational training, technical school, or technical college or university degree), smoking status (never, past, current < 20 cigarettes/d, or current > 20 cigarettes/d), prevalent hypertension, fasting status, total energy intake (kJ/day), alcohol intake (0, 0.1-5.0, 5.1-10.0, 10.1-20.0, 20.1-40.0, or >40.0 g/d), coffee intake (energy-adjusted), fibre intake (energy-adjusted), and red meat intake (energy-adjusted). For energy adjustment, the residual method was used [37]. Additionally, we conducted tests for statistical interactions of lipids concentrations with sex by including cross-product terms in the continuous fully-adjusted models. We produced sex-stratified models to assess how associations of lipids and T2D differ by sex. To investigate the shape of the associations, we used restricted cubic splines with three knots (located at 5th, 50th<sup>,</sup> and 95th percentiles) to model the relation between lipids and T2D incidence after adjusting for the same covariables previously mentioned. The likelihood ratio test was used to compare the fit between the linear and restricted cubic spline models. When there was evidence (p < 0.05 in likelihood ratio test) for a nonlinear association, we estimated the HR and CI for quintiles of concentration of lipid species containing OCFA, taking the lowest quintile as reference. The quintiles were calculated based on the subcohort distributions.

All analyses were performed with the statistical software SAS Enterprise Guide 7.1.

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. Baseline characteristics

The distribution of baseline characteristics across quintiles of PL-OCFA concentration in the subcohort is presented in Table 1. Among the participants with higher concentrations of PL-OCFA, more were women and never smokers, the median age was higher, and, in men, the median alcohol consumption was lower.

BMI, waist circumference, hypertension, and other variables were similar across the categories.

#### 3.2. OCFA distribution in lipid classes in human plasma

We investigated how OCFA-containing lipids were distributed across the different lipid classes. From the total absolute median concentration of OCFA-containing lipids (1.77 µM, Interquartile range [IQR]: 1.44-2.29, Fig. 1A), the TAG accounted for a median proportion of 37% (IQR: 29-47%), FFA contributed 19% (IQR: 15-24%), and CE 19% (IQR: 15-22%) (Fig. 1B). The phospholipid species (PC, LPC, PE, LPE) contributed 16% (IQR: 13-20%) of the total lipids containing OCFA. The largest proportion of PL-OCFA was attributable to phosphatidylcholines (84%, IQR: 81-86%), followed by lysophosphatidylcholines (14%, IQR: 12-16%) (Fig. 1C). For comparison, the lipid classes with the highest total class concentrations were CE, followed by PC and FFA (Supplemental Table 2). Within distinct lipid classes, the proportion of lipids containing OCFA varied from 38% (IQR: 31-45%) in MAG to less than 0.1% in PE (IQR: 0.01–0.16%), but it was below 2% in most lipid classes (Fig. 2). The relative contribution of L-C15:0 versus L-C17:0 to the total of OCFA-containing lipids was heterogeneous across lipid classes. DAG and MAG with OCFA almost exclusively contained C15:0, while the OCFA content in PE and LPE was predominantly attributable to C17:0. In the other lipid classes, both L-C17:0 and L-C15:0 were present, but the proportion of lipids containing C15:0 (compared to C17:0) in PC, LPC, and FFA were lower than in CE and TG. Women had higher concentrations than men in all OCFA-containing lipids (Supplemental Table 3).

We evaluated the correlations between lipidomics assessment of relative OCFA-content with traditional gas chromatographybased measurement of relative OCFA abundance (Supplemental Table 4). The relative total plasma phospholipid C15:0 assessed by gas chromatography and the relative PL-C15:0 concentrations based on mass spectrometry were very strongly correlated (r = 0.90), while this correlation was lower for C17:0 (r = 0.62). Among individual phospholipid classes, relative OCFA-content in PC and LPC correlated well with the relative OCFA-content in total plasma phospholipids determined by gas chromatography, while correlations for PE and LPE were weaker.

#### 3.3. Mutual relationship of OCFA-containing lipids

To assess intercorrelations among the PL-OCFA, we calculated partial correlations (Supplemental Table 5). Controlling for age and sex only, we observed moderate to strong correlations between all OCFA-containing phospholipids, with the strongest positive correlations between LPC(C17:0) and LPC(C15:0), between PC(C17:0) and PC(C15:0), and between LPC(C17:0) and LPE(C17:0). After further adjustment for all other PL-OCFA concentrations, only LPC(C17:0) and LPC(C15:0) remained strongly correlated (r = 0.71); PC(C15:0) and PC(C17:0) and LPC(C17:0) and LPC(C17:0) and LPC(C15:0), respectively.

#### 3.4. Associations between OCFA-containing lipids and T2D risk

We next investigated the longitudinal association between PL-OCFA and T2D risk, adjusting for a variety of confounding factors - including sociodemographic characteristics, anthropometry, life-style, and dietary variables (Table 2), apart from the minimally adjusted model (Supplemental Table 6). A multiplicative interaction test indicated that the risk association differed between men and women for PL-OCFA (p-interaction = 0.023), PL-C15:0 (p-interaction = 0.090) and PL-C17:0 (p-interaction = 0.016). Higher concentrations of total PL-OCFA were associated with lower

#### Table 1

Baseline characteristics of subcohort participants by quintiles of odd chain fatty acids in phospholipid species (PL-OCFA), derived from lipidomics analysis (n = 1137).

					· · ·	-	
		Quintiles of PL-OCH	FA				Total subcohort
		1	2	3	4	5	
PL-OCFA (µM)	Men	0.18 (0.07–0.22) <sup>a</sup>	0.25 (0.22–0.27) <sup>a</sup>	0.30 (0.27–0.33) <sup>a</sup>	0.36 (0.33–0.39) <sup>a</sup>	0.44 (0.40–0.75) <sup>a</sup>	0.26 (0.20-0.33) <sup>b</sup>
	Women	0.19 (0.12–0.22) <sup>a</sup>	0.25 (0.22–0.27) <sup>a</sup>	$0.30(0.27-0.33)^{a}$	0.36 (0.33-0.40) <sup>a</sup>	0.45 (0.40-0.76) <sup>a</sup>	0.33 (0.26-0.40) <sup>b</sup>
Sex (%)	Men	64	43	39	30	21	39
	Women	36	57	61	70	79	61
Age at recruitment (years) <sup>b</sup>	Men	51 (44-58)	54 (46-59)	54 (44-60)	50 (44-58)	56 (48-62)	53 (44-59)
	Women	46 (39-54)	43 (39-54)	46 (40-56)	50 (41-58)	53 (45-59)	47 (40-57)
Body Mass Index <sup>b</sup>	Men	26 (24-29)	27 (25-29)	26 (25-28)	26 (24-28)	27 (24-29)	26 (24-29)
	Women	25 (22-29)	24 (22-28)	24 (22-28)	24 (22-28)	24 (22-27)	24 (22-28)
Height (cm) <sup>b</sup>	Men	175 (171-178)	176 (173-179)	174 (170-178)	175 (171-179)	173 (169-177)	175 (171-179)
	Women	163 (159-168)	163 (160-167)	163 (159-168)	162 (158-167)	162 (158-166)	163 (159-167)
Waist circumference (cm) <sup>b</sup>	Men	93 (88-100)	93 (88-100)	93 (87-98)	91 (86-96)	95 (88-99)	93 (87-100)
	Women	79 (71-88)	77 (70-87)	78 (71-87)	78 (71-87)	78 (71-85)	78 (71-87)
Sport, biking, gardening (h/week)	Men	6 (2-10)	5 (3-9)	6 (3-12)	5 (3-9)	6 (3-10)	6 (3-10)
	Women	3 (2-6)	5 (3-8)	4 (2-7)	5 (2-7)	5 (2-8)	5 (2-8)
Education (%)							
In training/no certificate/part	Men	3	2	2	3	0	2
skilled worker	Women	5	5	3	6	3	4
Skilled worker	Men	38	31	34	38	33	35
	Women	35	37	33	34	37	35
Professional school	Men	14	15	13	18	10	14
	Women	30	34	35	27	26	30
Higher education, university	Men	46	52	51	41	56	48
	Women	30	24	29	33	34	30
Alcohol from alcoholic beverages	Men	24 (11-43)	15 (8-25)	19 (9-30)	14 (6-26)	14 (7-26)	18 (8-33)
(g/day) <sup>b</sup>	Women	6 (2-12)	5 (2-9)	6 (3-13)	5 (2-10)	4 (1-9)	5 (2-10)
Type of work (%)							
Sedentary occupation	Men	51	56	61	46	58	54
	Women	54	65	63	62	68	63
Standing occupation	Men	37	34	31	41	31	35
	Women	46	34	32	36	29	34
Manual/Heavy work	Men	12	10	8	13	10	11
	Women	0	2	5	2	3	3
Smoking (%)							
Never smoker	Men	23	32	28	34	42	29
	Women	55	55	57	63	69	61
Ex-smoker	Men	46	40	55	47	40	46
	Women	20	23	27	22	18	22
Smoker <20 u/d	Men	17	19	9	10	15	15
	Women	22	20	13	14	11	15
Current smoker $\ge 20 \text{ u/d}$	Men	14	9	8	9	4	10
	Women	2	2	3	1	2	2
Prevalent hypertension (%)	Men	61	66	61	47	63	60
	Women	35	39	42	49	43	43
Dairy fat intake (g/day)	Men	9 (6-14)	10 (7-15)	10 (6-16)	12 (8-17)	13 (9-19)	10 (6-15)
	Women	11 (7-15)	10 (7-16)	10 (7-15)	12 (7-16)	11 (8-17)	11 (7-16)

<sup>a</sup> Median (Range).

<sup>b</sup> Median (IQR).

diabetes risk in women (HR per SD: 0.63, 95% CI 0.51–0.78), while no association was observable in men. A similar picture emerged when evaluating individual OCFA: higher concentrations of both PL-C15:0 and PL-C17:0 were inversely associated with diabetes risk among women, but not men. Noteworthy, even though the association of PL-C17:0 with T2D risk was non-linear in women (p for non-linearity = 0.047, Supplemental Fig. 2), women showed lower T2D risk in higher categories (for example, HR Q5 vs. Q1: 0.21, 95% CI 0.11-0.39). In contrast, associations for both PL-C15:0 and PL-C17:0 appeared to be non-linear in men, and categorical analyses showed no clear association pattern. Among the phospholipid subgroups, we observed statistically significant inverse associations of PC(C15:0) with T2D risk in women (p nonlinearity = 0.049, HR Q5 vs Q1: 0.56, 95% CI 0.32-0.97), but not in men (p non-linearity = 0.039, HR Q5 vs Q1: 0.98, 95% CI 0.54-1.77). Similarly, PC(C17:0) was inversely associated with T2D risk in women (HR per SD: 0.59, 95% CI 0.48–0.71), but not in men (p non-linearity <0.001, HR Q5 vs. Q1: 0.97; 95% CI 0.53-1.78). Tests for statistical interaction suggested effect measure

modification by sex for the risk associations with PC(C17:0) (p-interaction = 0.003) and, to a lesser extent, PC(C15:0) (p-interaction = 0.134).

Noteworthy, LPC(C15:0) was not associated with T2D incidence in women (HR per SD: 0.90, 95% CI 0.74–1.09), but in men, this lipid was positively associated with T2D incidence (p nonlinearity = 0.47, HR Q5 vs Q1: 1.96, 95% CI 1.06–3.63) (pinteraction = 0.017). For LPC(C17:0), the restricted cubic spline analysis indicated significant deviation from linearity (women p = 0.002, men p < 0.001), but still, we observed a lower T2D risk with higher relative LPC(C17:0) content in women (HR Q5 vs. Q1: 0.42, 95% CI 0.23–0.76), while this association was weaker and not statistically significant in men (HR Q5 vs. Q1: 0.71, 95% CI 0.39–1.29). The lipids PE(C17:0) and LPE(C17:0) were not appreciably associated with T2D incidence in women or men.

We analyzed other lipids apart from the phospholipid classes. CE(C15:0) was not significantly associated with T2D risk. In women, CE(C17:0) was inversely associated with T2D risk (HR per SD: 0.73, 95% CI 0.60–0.89), while the associations were weaker and non-



Fig. 1. (A) Total concentration of lipids containing odd-chain fatty acids C15:0 and C17:0 (L-OCFA) and total concentration of phospholipid species containing odd-chain fatty acids C15:0 and C17:0 (PL-OCFA) and total concentration of phospholipid species containing odd-chain fatty acids C15:0 and C17:0 (PL-OCFA) (B) proportion of total L-OCFA from each class (C) proportion of total PL-OCFA from each phospholipid class; based on the subcohort population (n = 1137). CE, cholesteryl esters; DAG, diacylglycerols; FFA, free fatty acids; L-OCFA, lipids containing odd-chain fatty acids; LPC, lysophosphatidylcholines; LPE, lysophosphatidylcholines; PE, phosphatidylcholines; PL-OCFA, phospholipid species containing odd-chain fatty acids (sum of PC, LPC, PE, LPE); TAG, triacylglycerols.

significant for men (HR per SD: 0.93, 95% CI 0.78–1.11). Higher concentrations of MAG(C15:0) were associated with a lower risk of T2D in women (HR Q5 vs. Q1: 0.50, 95% CI 0.30–0.82) and men (HR Q5 vs. Q1: 0.53, 95% CI 0.31–0.91). The association of MAG(C17:0) with T2D risk was not statistically significant in both sexes. Women with higher concentrations of DAG(C15:0) were at lower risk of T2D (HR per SD: 0.78, 95% CI 0.64–0.94), whereas in men, this association was not statistically significant (HR per SD: 0.91, 95% CI 0.77–1.08). We did not observe statistically significant associations between higher concentrations of TAG(C15:0) or TAG(C17:0) and T2D risk for women. In men, we found a positive association between TAG(15:0) and T2D risk (HR per SD: 1.20, 95% CI 1.02–1.41), as well as a similar association between TAG(17:0) and T2D risk (1.17, 95% CI 0.99–1.37).

With regard to FFA, FFA(C15:0) was not appreciably associated; however, FFA(C17:0) was positively associated with T2D risk in women (HR per SD: 1.24, 95% CI 1.04–1.48) and men, although not statistically significant in the latter (HR per SD: 1.13, 95% CI 0.96–1.34). These associations remained largely unchanged when models were further adjusted for total FFA (Supplemental Table 7). When these analyses were stratified by fasting status, FFA(C17:0) was positively associated with T2D risk both in fasted and non-fasted individuals, although the association was stronger among fasted. FFA(C15:0) was positively associated with T2D in fasted individuals but inversely among non-fasted.

#### 3.5. Associations of OCFA-containing lipids and dietary variables

Moreover, we analyzed the correlations between lipids and dietary variables, including total dairy fat intake, dairy foods, grains, fruits and vegetables, and red meat (Fig. 3). Habitual dairy fat intake was weakly positively correlated with PL-C15:0 (men: r = 0.25.) women: r = 0.13) and PL-C17:0 (men: r = 0.23, women: r = 0.10). PL-C15:0 and PL-C17:0 were positively correlated with the habitual consumption of several dairy fat-containing food groups, including total full-fat dairy, butter, full-fat milk, and full-fat yogurt. Butter was the source of dairy fat most strongly correlated with PL-OCFA (men: r = 0.36, women: r = 0.43). In contrast, low-fat dairy consumption (i.e., total low-fat dairy, low-fat cheese, milk, and yogurt) was not correlated with lipids containing OCFA. Remarkably, fiber-containing foods (whole grains) were comparably correlated with PL-OCFA (PL-C15:0 men r = 0.19, women r = 0.12; PL-C17:0 men r = 0.17, women r = 0.15), and meat consumption was inversely correlated with PL-OCFA (PL-C15:0 men r = -0.25, women r = -0.15; PL-C17 men r = -0.21, women r = -0.14). The correlations between lipids containing OCFA and whole grains became stronger after adjusting for butter intake (Supplemental Table 8). When analyzing phospholipid subgroups (Fig. 4), the correlations were consistently stronger with full-fat dairy foods compared to low-fat dairy products. The stronger correlation of the relative abundance of PL-C15:0 compared to PL-C17:0 with dairy fat consumption was also consistent in phospholipid subgroups, specifically LPC and PC.

Although men and women had similar total fat intake from dairy products, women consumed more yogurt (Supplemental Table 9). We divided men into high yogurt intake and low yogurt intake, based on women's median as cutpoint (53 g/day), to evaluate men with intake as high as women with high intake. In the analyses restricted to men with high yogurt intake, PL-OCFA and T2D risk tended to be inversely associated (HR per SD 0.77, 95% CI 0.57–1.04, n = 325). This was not the case when analyses were restricted to



**Fig. 2.** Proportion of lipid species containing odd chain fatty acids (OCFA) within each lipid class (upper panel) and relative proportion of lipid species containing C15:0 versus lipids containing C17:0 in each lipid class (lower panel), based on the subcohort population (n = 1137). **C15:0**, pentadecanoic acid; **C17:0**, heptadecanoic acid; **CE**, cholesteryl esters; **DAG**, diacylglycerols; **FFA**, free fatty acids; **LPC**, lysophosphatidylcholines; **LPE**, lysophosphatidylethanolamines; **MAG**, monoacylglycerols; **PC**, phosphatidylcholines; **PE**, phosphatidylethanolamines; **TAG**, triacylglycerols.

men below the cutpoint (HR per SD 1.11, 95% CI 0.89–1.40, n = 561). In women with yogurt intake above the median, the inverse association of PL-OCFA and T2D risk was stronger (HR per SD 0.51, 95% CI 0.38–0.68, n = 576) than when restricted to women below the median (HR per SD 0.81, 95% CI 0.61–1.09, n = 424).

Further exploratory analyses revealed a similar picture when dividing men and women into groups based on women's median fiber intake as cutpoint (21 g/day). Among men consuming higher amounts of fiber (more than 21 g/day), we observed an inverse association of PL-OCFA with T2D risk (HR per SD 0.77, 95% CI 0.62–0.96, n = 523); while it was not the case when analyses were restricted to men consuming less than 21 g/day of fiber (HR per SD 1.20, 95% CI 0.93–1.55, n = 363). Women consuming more fiber than the median had a stronger inverse association of PL-OCFA with T2D risk (HR per SD 0.58, 95% CI 0.42–0.81, n = 464) than women with less fiber intake (HR per SD 0.72, 95% CI 0.53–0.98, n = 536).

Finally, the main models, already adjusted for fiber intake, were further adjusted for butter and full-fat dairy intake in a sensitivity analysis. The adjustment for these foods had a minor impact on the associations (data not shown).

#### 4. Discussion

We investigated OCFA-containing lipids in a large prospective cohort study, using a comprehensive lipidomics panel with 69 OCFA-containing lipids among 15 classes. The TAG, FFA, CE, and PC involving OCFA contributed the most to the total OCFA-plasma abundance. A large fraction of circulating MAG contained OCFA, while their relative concentration in other classes was low. The relative contribution to the total OCFA content of C15:0 versus C17:0 differed across lipid classes. Moreover, higher baseline levels of total PL-C15:0, PL-C17:0, PC(C15:0), PC(C17:0), LPC(C17:0), MAG(15:0), CE(C17:0), DAG(C15:0) were inversely associated with T2D incidence; with most associations being stronger for women. Conversely, positive associations between LPC(C15:0) (in men) and FFA(C17:0) (in women) and T2D risk were observed. In addition, we found that fat-rich dairy products but also fiber-rich foods were correlated to all OCFA-containing lipids. Our results suggest that part of the divergent associations between women and men may be explainable by gender differences in the intake levels of diabetesrelated dietary OCFA-determinants.

#### Table 2

Sex-stratified associations between lipids<sup>a</sup> containing odd-chain fatty acids (OCFA) and incident diabetes among men (n = 886, cases = 450) and women (n = 1000, cases = 325) in the EPIC-Potsdam case-cohort study<sup>b</sup>.

	PL-OCFA (C15:0 +C1	17:0)				
	Men		Women		p-interaction <sup>d</sup>	
Continuous analysis <sup>c</sup> Q2 vs. Q1 Q3 vs. Q1 Q4 vs. Q1 Q5 vs. Q1	Non-linear 1.61 (1.01–2.57) 0.67 (0.37–1.20) 0.65 (0.36–1.16) 1.11 (0.61–2.03)		0.63 (0.51–0.78)		0.023	
	C15:0			C17:0		
	Men	Women	p-interaction <sup>d</sup>	Men	Women	p-interaction <sup>d</sup>
<b>Total PL species</b> Continuous analysis <sup>c</sup> Q2 vs. Q1 Q3 vs. Q1 Q4 vs. Q1 Q5 vs. Q1	Non-linear 1.37 (0.84–2.25) 1.58 (0.92–2.73) 1.00 (0.58–1.75) 1.11 (0.61–2.01)	0.76 (0.61–0.93)	0.090	Non-linear 1.57 (0.98–2.51) 0.76 (0.44–1.30) 0.67 (0.37–1.21) 0.88 (0.48–1.61)	Non-linear 0.56 (0.35–0.90) 0.54 (0.33–0.87) 0.46 (0.26–0.80) 0.21 (0.11–0.39)	0.016
PC Continuous analysis <sup>c</sup> Q2 vs. Q1 Q3 vs. Q1 Q4 vs. Q1 Q5 vs. Q1 LPC	Non-linear 1.10 (0.67–1.83) 1.60 (0.95–2.71) 0.97 (0.56–1.70) 0.98 (0.54–1.77)	Non-linear 0.68 (0.42–1.09) 0.69 (0.42–1.12) 0.82 (0.50–1.35) 0.56 (0.32–0.97)	0.134	Non-linear 1.76 (1.10–2.83) 0.93 (0.54–1.60) 0.77 (0.42–1.39) 0.97 (0.53–1.78)	0.59 (0.48–0.71)	0.003
Continuous analysis <sup>c</sup> Q2 vs. Q1 Q3 vs. Q1 Q4 vs. Q1 Q5 vs. Q1 <b>PF</b>	Non-linear 1.43 (0.82–2.49) 2.37 (1.33–4.23) 1.71 (0.96–3.04) 1.96 (1.06–3.63)	0.90 (0.74–1.09)	0.017	Non-linear 1.20 (0.74–1.95) 0.88 (0.52–1.49) 0.52 (0.28–0.96) 0.71 (0.39–1.29)	Non-linear 0.91 (0.57–1.46) 1.23 (0.74–2.03) 0.52 (0.31–0.89) 0.42 (0.23–0.76)	0.435
Continuous analysis <sup>c</sup> LPE	_	_		1.15 (0.98–1.36)	1.16 (0.97–1.38)	0.467
Continuous analysis <sup>c</sup> OTHER CLASSES CF	_	_		0.95 (0.82–1.11)	0.89 (0.75–1.05)	0.594
Continuous analysis <sup>c</sup> MAG	1.10 (0.92–1.31)	0.85 (0.70-1.04)	0.119	0.93 (0.78–1.11)	0.73 (0.60-0.89)	0.208
Continuous analysis <sup>c</sup> Q2 vs. Q1 Q3 vs. Q1 Q4 vs. Q1 Q5 vs. Q1 DAG	Non-linear 1.01 (0.62–1.63) 0.43 (0.26–0.71) 0.61 (0.37–1.00) 0.53 (0.31–0.91)	Non-linear 0.40 (0.25–0.66) 0.32 (0.19–0.53) 0.30 (0.18–0.51) 0.50 (0.30–0.82)	0.463	Non-linear 0.99 (0.63–1.57) 0.80 (0.48–1.32) 0.72 (0.43–1.21) 0.75 (0.45–1.26)	Non-linear 1.46 (0.88–2.43) 1.07 (0.66–1.73) 1.10 (0.67–1.80) 0.63 (0.36–1.12)	0.051
Continuous analysis <sup>c</sup> TAG	0.91 (0.77-1.08)	0.78 (0.64-0.94)	0.324	_	_	
Continuous analysis <sup>c</sup> Q2 vs. Q1 Q3 vs. Q1 Q4 vs. Q1 Q5 vs. Q1 <b>FFA</b>	1.20 (1.02–1.41)	Non-linear 0.96 (0.57–1.64) 0.45 (0.25–0.80) 1.05 (0.64–1.71) 1.20 (0.72–2.02)	0.396	1.17 (0.99–1.37)	Non-linear 0.51 (0.30–0.85) 0.43 (0.25–0.72) 0.52 (0.31–0.86) 0.87 (0.54–1.42)	0.355
Continuous analysis <sup>c</sup>	0.89 (0.74-1.07)	0.96 (0.81-1.15)	0.927	1.13 (0.96-1.34)	1.24 (1.04-1.48)	0.552

C15:0, pentadecanoic acid; C17:0, heptadecanoic acid; CE, cholesteryl esters; DAG, diacylglycerols; FFA, free fatty acids; LPC, lysophosphatidylcholines; LPE, lysophosphatidylethanolamines; MAG, monoacylglycerols; OCFA, odd-chain saturated fatty acids; PC, phosphatidylcholines; PE, phosphatidylethanolamines; PL, phospholipids; PL-OCFA, phospholipid species containing odd-chain fatty acids; Q, quintile; TAG, triacylglycerols.

<sup>a</sup> Lipids derived from lipidomics mass spectrometry analysis.

<sup>b</sup> Values are Hazard Ratios (HR) and 95% confidence intervals derived from a multivariable Cox regression model adjusted for: age (strata), waist circumference, BMI, cycling (0, 0.1–2.4, 2.5–4.9, or  $\geq$  5 h/week), sports activity (0, 0.1–4.0, or >4.0 h/week), education (in or no training, vocational training, technical school, or technical college or university degree), smoking status (never, past, current, <20 cigarettes/day, or current > 20 cigarettes/day), occupational activity (light, moderate, or heavy), alcohol intake (0, 0.1–5.0, 5.1–10.0, 10.1–20.0, 20.1–40.0, or 0.40.0 g/d), coffee intake (energy-adjusted), fiber intake (energy-adjusted), red meat intake (energy-adjusted), total energy intake (k]/day), fasting status and prevalent hypertension.

<sup>c</sup> Continuos analysis modeled per 1 SD in Cox regression. If the cubic splines regression analysis showed a non-linear association (p < 0.05) the results for continuous analysis are not presented; instead, the table shows HR calculated for quintiles.

<sup>d</sup> p-interaction with sex obtained by including cross-product terms in the continuous fully-adjusted models.

#### 4.1. OCFA distribution across lipid classes

PC contributed the most to the total PL-OCFA abundance, which was largely explained by high absolute PC concentrations relative to other phospholipids. We also observed that C15:0 versus C17:0 were selectively enriched in specific lipid classes.

While MAG represents only 0.1% concentration of all lipids, their relative OCFA-content was about a magnitude higher than in other classes and almost exclusively was C15:0. Contrarily, C17:0 seemed to be enriched relative to C15:0 in lipids with a phosphoethanolamine headgroup. Heterogeneous integration of OCFA in different lipids may be due to mechanisms related to the

Clinical Nutrition 40 (2021) 4988-4999



**Fig. 3.** Correlations of phospholipid species containing C15:0 (PL-C15:0) and phospholipids containing C17:0 (PL-C17:0) with total dairy fat and food groups intake at baseline in the subcohort population (n = 1137, men = 448 women = 689), adjusted for age and total daily energy intake. **C15:0**, pentadecanoic acid; **C17:0**, heptadecanoic acid.



**Fig. 4.** Correlations of lipid species containing OCFA with total dairy fat and food groups consumption at baseline in the subcohort population (n = 1137), adjusted for age, sex, and total daily energy intake. **15:0**, pentadecanoic acid; **17:0**, heptadecanoic acid; **LPC**, lysophosphatidylcholines; **LPE**, lysophosphatidylethanolamines; **PC**, phosphatidylcholines; **PE**, phosphatidylethanolamines.

different turnover rates of the lipid classes or fatty acid selectivity of the synthesizing enzymes, which, for example, has been described for the hydrolysis of MAG [38,39]. Regardless of the precise mechanisms, our observations indicate that the distribution of OCFA across lipids underlies a complex metabolic regulation, resulting in heterogenous enrichment patterns of OCFA across distinct lipid classes.

#### 4.2. OCFA-containing lipids and T2D risk

Higher plasma concentrations of phospholipids PC(C15:0), PC(C17:0), and LPC(17:0) were associated with lower T2D risk in our study. Most of the studies which linked OCFA in plasma lipids to lower T2D risk detected the OCFA in total phospholipids [3–5]. Our results extend these findings by identifying PC as the main

responsible phospholipid group, followed by LPC. We furthermore observed stronger inverse associations between T2D risk and lipids with C17:0, i.e., PC(C17:0), LPC(C17:0), in comparison to the ones involving C15:0. These results are in line with the previous prospective studies on OCFA in total plasma phospholipids [3,5]. Likewise, a previous study reported CE(C17:0) more strongly associated with a lower risk of T2D than CE(C15:0) [5], similar to our observation.

Our analyses revealed that the inverse links of OCFAcontaining lipids with T2D risk were almost exclusively driven by the strong inverse association in women. In a meta-analysis of sixteen prospective cohorts, inverse associations of C15:0 and C17:0 with T2D risk were stronger in women than in men [5]. A potential explanation for the observed sex differences is that OCFA biomarkers reflect different dietary exposures. In our study, women consumed more yogurt than men. Inverse associations of dairy foods and diabetes risk seem particularly present for yogurt [6,40], and stronger inverse associations of yogurt consumption and T2D risk were observed in women compared with men [40]. Our analyses restricted to high consumers of yogurt suggest that differences in food sources of OCFA may at least in part explain observed sex differences.

Apart from reflecting dietary intake, OCFA may be involved in pathways related to diabetes pathogenesis. One hypothesis is that OCFA oxidation provides intermediates to the tricarboxylic acid cycle, which improves mitochondrial function [41]. Other pathways might be related to anti-inflammatory activities [9], or hepatocyte protection from palmitate-induced insulin resistance and dysfunction — by increasing glycogen and monounsaturated fatty acids concentration and reducing the output of glucose and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF $\alpha$ ) [42]. However, it remains unclear if and how OCFA-containing lipids are mechanistically involved in T2D development.

Interestingly, FFA(C17:0) was associated with higher T2D risk in our study. Previous prospective studies linked elevated total FFA concentrations with increased T2D risk [43]. However, as the association of FFA(C17:0) was independent of total FFA concentrations in our study, it does not reflect the detrimental effects of FFA per se. Fasting plasma FFA(C15:0) and FFA(C17:0) are strongly correlated with C15:0 and C17:0 in adipose tissue [44]. At the same time, C15:0 in adipose tissue is strongly correlated with total dairy consumption, while C17:0 is not [45,46]. FFA(C17:0) might rather reflect metabolic processes in the adipose tissue than acute dietary exposure. The hypothesis that FFA(C17:0) is a marker for endogenous determinants rather than acute dietary intake is supported by its excellent reliability over several weeks, in contrast to all other FFA with greater intraindividual variability. Still, it is unclear why non-esterified OCFA have a contrasting association with T2D in comparison with other lipids. These results require further replication and mechanistic clarification.

#### 4.3. Food determinants of OCFA-containing lipids

We observed stronger correlations of OCFA-lipids with full-fat dairy foods in comparison to the low-fat versions. Other cross-sectional studies also observed that specific phospholipids (PC, LPC) with OCFA are associated with full-fat dairy intake [47,48]. Our findings, however, indicate that none of the OCFA-containing lipids was specific for dairy, but they were also positively correlated with fiber-rich foods, which are inversely related to T2D risk [49]. Plasma C17:0 levels increase after dietary supplementation with inulin and propionate [8], and endogenous production (through elongation of propionyl-CoA or  $\alpha$ -oxidation of C18:0) seems an important source

of circulating C17:0 [50]. Indeed, in some studies, C17:0 in phospholipids was more strongly correlated with fiber intake than with dairy intake [51,52], while C15:0 had stronger correlations with dairy intake [7]. In our data, however, lipids with C17:0 correlated with dietary variables similarly as the lipids with C15:0. Additionally, we found inverse correlations between OCFA-lipids and red meat, which has been positively associated with incident type 2 diabetes [53]. Overall, our results indicate several OCFA-lipid metabolites linked to dairy fat consumption; however, these lipids are not specific biomarkers of dairy intake because they are also sensitive to other foods.

#### 4.4. Strengths and limitations

One strength is the availability of a comprehensive lipidomics analysis in a large sample size within a prospective cohort study. To our knowledge, our analyses are the first focusing on a large variety of lipids containing OCFA, their detailed characterization, and their association with T2D risk. However, for lipids with more than one fatty acid (PC, PE, DAG, TAG), we only considered the OCFA for our exposure classification without taking into account diversity related to other fatty acids present in these lipid molecules. Also, we have not considered interconnections between OCFA containing lipid species and other lipids within a class. While most lipids demonstrated reasonable reliability in a pilot study, differences in intra-individual variability may partly explain differences in risk associations observed. Although we used FFQ with reasonable reliability and validity to assess dietary intake, total dairy consumption may be challenging to assess by self-report. Moreover, whether OCFA-containing lipids are mediators linking specific foods to diabetes risk or whether they are indicators of their intake (and other food constituents are the causal factors) cannot be fully answered from our observational study. However, the inverse associations with risk were unaffected by the adjustment for fiber, butter, and full-fat dairy intake, which presents an argument against OCFA being simply an indicator of intake. Finally, because of the observational study design, the possibility of residual confounding cannot be ruled out.

#### 5. Conclusion

Our findings suggest that lipids containing OCFA have heterogeneous distribution across lipid classes, indicating that OCFA are subject to complex metabolic regulation. They are differently linked to T2D risk, depending on lipid class and sex, with positive associations observed for non-esterified OCFA and inverse associations observed in women for OCFA in several other lipid classes (PC, LPC, CE, MAG, DAG). Our results furthermore suggest that OCFAcontaining lipids are biomarkers for the metabolic response to several T2D-related foods.

#### **Funding statement**

This work was supported by a grant from the European Commission and the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research within the Joint Programming Initiative A Healthy Diet for a Healthy Life, within the ERA-HDHL cofounded joint call Biomarkers for Nutrition and Health (01EA1704) and a grant from the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research and the State of Brandenburg to the German Center for Diabetes Research (DZD) (82DZD00302). Clemens Wittenbecher was supported by an individual fellowship from the German Research Foundation (DFG).

#### Author contributions

The authors' responsibilities were as follows, MP: conceptualization, data curation, formal analysis, writing – original draft; CW: conceptualization, data curation, supervision, writing – original draft; FE: methodology, visualization, validation, writing – review & editing; AW: investigation, writing – review & editing; JD: conceptualization, writing – review & editing; MS: conceptualization, funding acquisition, project administration, supervision, writing – review & editing; and all authors: read and approved the final manuscript.

#### **Conflict of interest**

The authors report no conflicts of interest.

#### Acknowledgment

We thank the Human Study Centre (HSC) of the German Institute of Human Nutrition Potsdam-Rehbrücke, namely the trustee and the data hub for the processing, and the participants for the provision of the data, the biobank for the processing of the biological samples and the head of the HSC, Manuela Bergmann, for the contribution to the study design and leading the underlying processes of data generation.

JPDC received speaker and consulting honoraria from the Dairy Farmers of Canada in 2016 and 2018, outside the current work.

#### Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2021.06.006.

#### References

- Eyre H, Kahn R, Robertson RM, Clark NG, Doyle C, Hong Y, et al. Preventing cancer, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes. A common agenda for the American Cancer Society, and the American Diabetes Association. Circulation 2004;109(25):3244–55.
- 2004;109(25):3244–55.
  [2] Wang L, Folsom AR, Zheng ZJ, Pankow JS, Eckfeldt JH. Plasma fatty acid composition and incidence of diabetes in middle-aged adults: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. Am J Clin Nutr 2003;78(1):91–8.
- [3] Forouhi NG, Koulman A, Sharp SJ, Imamura F, Kroger J, Schulze MB, et al. Differences in the prospective association between individual plasma phospholipid saturated fatty acids and incident type 2 diabetes: the EPIC-InterAct case-cohort study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2014;2(10):810–8.
- [4] Kröger J, Zietemann V, Enzenbach C, Weikert C, Jansen EH, Döring F, et al. Erythrocyte membrane phospholipid fatty acids, desaturase activity, and dietary fatty acids in relation to risk of type 2 diabetes in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)–Potsdam Study. Am J Clin Nutr 2010;93(1):127–42.
- [5] Imamura F, Fretts A, Marklund M, Ardisson Korat AV, Yang WS, Lankinen M, et al. Fatty acid biomarkers of dairy fat consumption and incidence of type 2 diabetes: a pooled analysis of prospective cohort studies. PLoS Med 2018;15(10):e1002670.
- [6] Drouin-Chartier J-P, Brassard D, Tessier-Grenier M, Côté JA, M-È Labonté, Desroches S, et al. Systematic review of the association between dairy product consumption and risk of cardiovascular-related clinical outcomes. Adv Nutr 2016;7(6):1026–40.
  [7] Pranger IG, Joustra ML, Corpeleijn E, Muskiet FAJ, Kema IP, Oude
- [7] Pranger IG, Joustra ML, Corpeleijn E, Muskiet FAJ, Kema IP, Oude Elferink SJWH, et al. Fatty acids as biomarkers of total dairy and dairy fat intakes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Nutr Rev 2018;77(1):46–63.
- [8] Weitkunat K, Schumann S, Nickel D, Hornemann S, Petzke KJ, Schulze MB, et al. Odd-chain fatty acids as a biomarker for dietary fiber intake: a novel pathway for endogenous production from propionate. Am J Clin Nutr 2017;105(6):1544–51.
- [9] Venn-Watson S, Lumpkin R, Dennis EA. Efficacy of dietary odd-chain saturated fatty acid pentadecanoic acid parallels broad associated health benefits in humans: could it be essential? Sci Rep 2020;10(1):8161.
- [10] Santaren ID, Watkins SM, Liese AD, Wagenknecht LE, Rewers MJ, Haffner SM, et al. Serum pentadecanoic acid (15:0), a short-term marker of dairy food intake, is inversely associated with incident type 2 diabetes and its underlying disorders. Am J Clin Nutr 2014;100(6):1532–40.

#### Clinical Nutrition 40 (2021) 4988-4999

- [11] Takkunen MJ, Schwab US, de Mello VDF, Eriksson JG, Lindström J, Tuomilehto J, et al. Longitudinal associations of serum fatty acid composition with type 2 diabetes risk and markers of insulin secretion and sensitivity in the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study. Eur J Nutr 2016;55(3):967–79.
- [12] Akter S, Kurotani K, Sato M, Hayashi T, Kuwahara K, Matsushita Y, et al. High serum phospholipid dihomo- $\gamma$ -linoleic acid concentration and low d5-desaturase activity are associated with increased risk of type 2 diabetes among Japanese adults in the hitachi health study. J Nutr 2017;147(8): 1558–66.
- [13] Hodge AM, English DR, O'Dea K, Sinclair AJ, Makrides M, Gibson RA, et al. Plasma phospholipid and dietary fatty acids as predictors of type 2 diabetes: interpreting the role of linoleic acid. Am J Clin Nutr 2007;86(1):189–97.
  [14] Mozaffarian D, de Oliveira Otto MC, Lemaitre RN, Fretts AM, Hotamisligil G,
- [14] Mozaffarian D, de Oliveira Otto MC, Lemaitre RN, Fretts AM, Hotamisligil G, Tsai MY, et al. trans-Palmitoleic acid, other dairy fat biomarkers, and incident diabetes: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). Am J Clin Nutr 2013;97(4):854–61.
- [15] Lankinen MA, Stančáková A, Uusitupa M, Ågren J, Pihlajamäki J, Kuusisto J, et al. Plasma fatty acids as predictors of glycaemia and type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia 2015;58(11):2533–44.
- [16] Patel PS, Sharp SJ, Jansen E, Luben RN, Khaw K-T, Wareham NJ, et al. Fatty acids measured in plasma and erythrocyte-membrane phospholipids and derived by food-frequency questionnaire and the risk of new-onset type 2 diabetes: a pilot study in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)–Norfolk cohort. Am J Clin Nutr 2010;92(5): 1214–22.
- [17] Yakoob MY, Shi P, Willett WC, Rexrode KM, Campos H, Orav EJ, et al. Circulating biomarkers of dairy fat and risk of incident diabetes mellitus among men and women in the United States in two large prospective cohorts. Circulation 2016;133(17):1645–54.
- [18] Krachler B, Norberg M, Eriksson JW, Hallmans G, Johansson I, Vessby B, et al. Fatty acid profile of the erythrocyte membrane preceding development of Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Nutr Metabol Cardiovasc Dis 2008;18(7):503–10.
- [19] Suvitaival T, Bondia-Pons I, Yetukuri L, Pöhö P, Nolan JJ, Hyötyläinen T, et al. Lipidome as a predictive tool in progression to type 2 diabetes in Finnish men. Metabolism 2018;78:1–12.
- [20] Wang-Sattler R, Yu Z, Herder C, Messias AC, Floegel A, He Y, et al. Novel biomarkers for pre-diabetes identified by metabolomics. Mol Syst Biol 2012;8:615.
- [21] Floegel A, Stefan N, Yu Z, Mühlenbruch K, Drogan D, Joost H-G, et al. Identification of serum metabolites associated with risk of type 2 diabetes using a targeted metabolomic approach. Diabetes 2013;62(2):639–48.
- [22] Razquin C, Toledo E, Clish CB, Ruiz-Canela M, Dennis C, Corella D, et al. Plasma lipidomic profiling and risk of type 2 diabetes in the PREDIMED trial. Diabetes Care 2018;41(12):2617–24.
- [23] Shi L, Brunius C, Lehtonen M, Auriola S, Bergdahl IA, Rolandsson O, et al. Plasma metabolites associated with type 2 diabetes in a Swedish population: a case-control study nested in a prospective cohort. Diabetologia 2018;61(4): 849–61.
- [24] Boeing H, Korfmann A, Bergmann MM. Recruitment procedures of EPIC-Germany. European investigation into cancer and nutrition. Ann Nutr Metab 1999;43(4):205–15.
- [25] Boeing H, Wahrendorf J, Becker N. EPIC-Germany–A source for studies into diet and risk of chronic diseases. European Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Ann Nutr Metab 1999;43(4):195–204.
- [26] Kroke A, Bergmann MM, Lotze G, Jeckel A, Klipstein-Grobusch K, Boeing H. Measures of quality control in the German component of the EPIC study. European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition. Ann Nutr Metab 1999;43(4):216–24.
- [27] Klipstein-Grobusch K, Georg T, Boeing H. Interviewer variability in anthropometric measurements and estimates of body composition. Int J Epidemiol 1997;26(Suppl 1):S174–80.
- [28] Prentice RL, Self SG. Aspects of the use of relative risk models in the design and analysis of cohort studies and prevention trials. Stat Med 1988;7(1-2): 275-87.
- [29] Kroke A, Klipstein-Grobusch K, Voss S, Möseneder J, Thielecke F, Noack R, et al. Validation of a self-administered food-frequency questionnaire administered in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) Study: comparison of energy, protein, and macronutrient intakes estimated with the doubly labeled water, urinary nitrogen, and repeated 24-h dietary recall methods. Am J Clin Nutr 1999;70(4):439–47.
- [30] Bohlscheid-Thomas S, Hoting I, Boeing H, Wahrendorf J. Reproducibility and relative validity of food group intake in a food frequency questionnaire developed for the German part of the EPIC project. European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Int J Epidemiol 1997;26(suppl\_1): S59.
- [31] Bohlscheid-Thomas S, Hoting I, Boeing H, Wahrendorf J. Reproducibility and relative validity of energy and macronutrient intake of a food frequency questionnaire developed for the German part of the EPIC project. European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Int J Epidemiol 1997;26(Suppl 1):S71–81.
- [32] Williams P. Nutritional composition of red meat. Nutr Diet 2007;64(s4): S113-9.
- [33] Lofgren L, Stahlman M, Forsberg GB, Saarinen S, Nilsson R, Hansson GI. The BUME method: a novel automated chloroform-free 96-well total lipid extraction method for blood plasma. J Lipid Res 2012;53(8):1690–700.

- [34] Ubhi BK. Direct infusion-tandem mass spectrometry (DI-MS/MS) analysis of complex lipids in human plasma and serum using the lipidyzer platform. Methods Mol Biol 2018;1730:227–36.
- [35] Lipidomics Metabolon. The complex lipid panel. 2017. Available from: https:// www.metabolon.com/application/files/2715/0388/1905/Lipidomics\_ Complex\_Lipid\_Panel\_handout\_vR2.060617.pdf.
- [36] Prentice RL. A case-cohort design for epidemiologic cohort studies and disease prevention trials. Biometrika 1986;73(1):1–11.
- [37] Willett WC, Howe GR, Kushi LH. Adjustment for total energy intake in epidemiologic studies. Am J Clin Nutr 1997;65:1220S–8S.
- [38] Xia T, Mostafa N, Bhat BG, Florant GL, Coleman RA. Selective retention of essential fatty acids: the role of hepatic monoacylglycerol acyltransferase. Am J Physiol 1993;265(2 Pt 2):R414–9.
- [39] Coleman RA, Lewin TM, Muoio DM. Physiological and nutritional regulation of enzymes of triacylglycerol synthesis. Annu Rev Nutr 2000;20(1):77–103.
- [40] Gijsbers L, Ding EL, Malik VS, de Goede J, Geleijnse JM, Soedamah-Muthu SS. Consumption of dairy foods and diabetes incidence: a dose-response metaanalysis of observational studies. Am J Clin Nutr 2016;103(4):1111–24.
- [41] Pfeuffer M, Jaudszus A. Pentadecanoic and heptadecanoic acids: multifaceted odd-chain fatty acids. Adv Nutr 2016;7(4):730–4.
- [42] Ikwuobe O, Rana K, Brown J, Pararasa C, Shabir K, Bellary S, et al. Odd-chain fatty acids predict insulin sensitivity in people with T2DM and protect HepG2 cells from palmitate-induced insulin resistance via PPARa. Free Radic Biol Med 2016;100:S174.
- [43] Pankow JS, Duncan BB, Schmidt MI, Ballantyne CM, Couper DJ, Hoogeveen RC, et al. Fasting plasma free fatty acids and risk of type 2 diabetes: the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. Diabetes Care 2004;27(1):77–82.
- [44] Hellmuth C, Demmelmair H, Schmitt I, Peissner W, Blüher M, Koletzko B. Association between plasma nonesterified fatty acids species and adipose tissue fatty acid composition. PloS One 2013;8(10):e74927.

Clinical Nutrition 40 (2021) 4988-4999

- [45] Wolk A, Furuheim M, Vessby B. Fatty acid composition of adipose tissue and serum lipids are valid biological markers of dairy fat intake in men. J Nutr 2001;131(3):828–33.
- [46] Brevik A, Veierød MB, Drevon CA, Andersen LF. Evaluation of the odd fatty acids 15:0 and 17:0 in serum and adipose tissue as markers of intake of milk and dairy fat. Eur J Clin Nutr 2005;59(12):1417–22.
- [47] Meikle PJ, Wong G, Barlow CK, Weir JM, Greeve MA, MacIntosh GL, et al. Plasma lipid profiling shows similar associations with prediabetes and type 2 diabetes. PloS One 2013;8(9):e74341.
- [48] Floegel A, von Ruesten A, Drogan D, Schulze MB, Prehn C, Adamski J, et al. Variation of serum metabolites related to habitual diet: a targeted metabolomic approach in EPIC-Potsdam. Eur J Clin Nutr 2013;67(10): 1100–8.
- [49] The InterAct Consortium. Dietary fibre and incidence of type 2 diabetes in eight European countries: the EPIC-InterAct Study and a meta-analysis of prospective studies. Diabetologia 2015;58(7):1394–408.
- [50] Jenkins BJ, Seyssel K, Chiu S, Pan P-H, Lin S-Y, Stanley E, et al. Odd chain fatty acids; new insights of the relationship between the gut microbiota, dietary intake, biosynthesis and glucose intolerance. Sci Rep 2017;7: 44845.
- [51] Rosell M, Johansson G, Berglund L, Vessby B, de Faire U, Hellénius ML. The relation between alcohol intake and physical activity and the fatty acids 14:0, 15:0 and 17:0 in serum phospholipids and adipose tissue used as markers for dairy fat intake. Br J Nutr 2005;93(1):115–21.
  [52] Pertiwi K, Küpers LK, Wanders AJ, de Goede J, Zock PL, Geleijnse JM. Associ-
- [52] Pertiwi K, Küpers LK, Wanders AJ, de Goede J, Zock PL, Geleijnse JM. Associations of dairy and fiber intake with circulating odd-chain fatty acids in postmyocardial infarction patients. Nutr Metab (Lond). 2019;16(1):78.
- [53] The InterAct Consortium. Association between dietary meat consumption and incident type 2 diabetes: the EPIC-InterAct study. Diabetologia 2013;56(1): 47–59.

# Association of the odd-chain fatty acid content in lipid groups with type 2 diabetes risk: a targeted analysis of lipidomics data in the EPIC-Potsdam cohort.

Marcela Prada, Clemens Wittenbecher, Fabian Eichelmann, Andreas Wernitz, Jean-Philippe Drouin-Chartier, Matthias B Schulze

**Supplementary Material** 



### Supplemental Figure 1. Participant flow chart

T2D, Type 2 diabetes

	Median	95% Confid	ence Interval
Lipid	ICC	Lower limit	Upper limit
CE(15:0)	0.691	0.273	0.869
CE(17:0)	0.661	0.301	0.851
DAG(15:0/18:1)	0.564	0.270	0.775
DAG(15:0/18:2)	0.595	0.309	0.758
FFA(15:0)	0.438	0.181	0.669
FFA(17:0)	0.974	0.258	0.989
LPC(15:0)	0.732	0.501	0.839
LPC(17:0)	0.676	0.421	0.827
LPE(17:0)	0.601	0.321	0.827
PC(17:0/16:1)	0.295	0.000	0.665
PC(17:0/18:1)	0.620	0.398	0.793
PC(17:0/18:2)	0.648	0.389	0.816
PC(17:0/18:3)	NA	NA	NA
PC(17:0/20:3)	0.386	0.057	0.654
PC(17:0/20:4)	0.723	0.491	0.848
PC(17:0/20:5)	0.114	0.000	0.673
PC(17:0/22:5)	0.000	0.000	0.000
PC(17:0/22:6)	0.561	0.079	0.843
PC(15:0/16:1)	0.271	0.000	0.590
PC(15:0/18:1)	0.714	0.494	0.832
PC(15:0/18:2)	0.765	0.470	0.916
PC(15:0/20:3)	0.178	0.000	0.685
PC(15:0/20:4)	0.751	0.597	0.888
PC(15:0/20:5)	NA	NA	NA
PC(15:0/22:5)	NA	NA	NA

**Supplemental Table 1.** Intraclass Correlation Coefficients (ICC) and 95% Confidence Interval for lipids containing odd-chain fatty acids (C15:0 and C17:0), derived from fasting blood samples collected at two time points (n=35)

PC(15:0/22:6)	0.116	0.000	0.543
PE(17:0/18:1)	NA	NA	NA
PE(17:0/18:2)	NA	NA	NA
PE(17:0/20:4)	NA	NA	NA
PE(17:0/22:6)	NA	NA	NA
TAG55:7-FA15:0	0.691	0.440	0.870
TAG53:4-FA17:0	0.557	0.279	0.751
TAG53:1-FA17:0	0.596	0.192	0.776
TAG53:2-FA17:0	0.544	0.320	0.757
TAG53:3-FA17:0	0.644	0.331	0.812
TAG51:0-FA17:0	0.627	0.206	0.832
TAG51:1-FA15:0	0.647	0.246	0.825
TAG51:1-FA17:0	0.585	0.211	0.819
TAG51:2-FA15:0	0.621	0.286	0.818
TAG51:2-FA17:0	0.524	0.193	0.797
TAG51:3-FA15:0	0.741	0.514	0.868
TAG51:3-FA17:0	0.431	0.144	0.651
TAG51:4-FA15:0	0.690	0.457	0.842
TAG49:0-FA15:0	0.598	0.183	0.841
TAG49:0-FA17:0	0.566	0.162	0.826
TAG49:1-FA15:0	0.606	0.277	0.842
TAG49:1-FA17:0	0.476	0.146	0.760
TAG49:2-FA15:0	0.568	0.249	0.831
TAG49:2-FA17:0	0.415	0.104	0.723
TAG49:3-FA15:0	0.545	0.260	0.759
TAG47:0-FA15:0	0.570	0.184	0.820
TAG47:0-FA17:0	0.441	0.059	0.720
TAG47:1-FA15:0	0.453	0.130	0.778
TAG47:1-FA17:0	0.363	0.009	0.657
TAG47:2-FA15:0	0.334	0.056	0.730

0.753	0.707	0.837	0.777	0.893	0.424	0.757	0.859	0.848	0.830	
0.073	0.068	0.400	0.314	0.350	0.000	0.429	0.338	0.211	0.533	
0.451	0.422	0.666	0.601	0.716	0.154	0.628	0.695	0.643	0.722	
TAG45:0-FA15:0	TAG45:1-FA15:0	Total TAG	Total DAG	Total CE	Total FFA	Total PE	Total LPC	Total LPE	Total PC	

	Total class co	ncentration <sup>2</sup>	Lipids with C	15:0 or C17:0
Lipid class <sup>1</sup>	Absolute (µM)	Relative <sup>3</sup> (Mol %)	-	
Cholesteryl esters	44.19 (38.32-50.61)	29.37 (27.18-31.54)	CE(15:0)	CE(17:0)
<b>Phosphatidylcholines</b>	38.17 (33.58-42.86)	25.18 (23.13-27.22)	PC(15:0/16:1)	PC(17:0/16:1)
			PC(15:0/18:1)	PC(17:0/18:1)
			PC(15:0/18:2)	PC(17:0/18:2)
			PC(15:0/18:3)	PC(17:0/18:3)
			PC(15:0/20:3)	PC(17:0/20:3)
			PC(15:0/20:4)	PC(17:0/20:4)
			PC(15:0/20:5)	PC(17:0/20:5)
			PC(15:0/22:5)	PC(17:0/22:5)
			PC(15:0/22:6)	PC(17:0/22:6)
Free fatty acids	7.63 (23.77-32.31)	18.4 (15.69-21.47)	FFA(15:0)	FFA(17:0)
Triacylglycerols	20.71 (14.65-30.48)	14.06 (10.73-18.97)	TAG45:0-FA15:0	TAG47:0-FA17:0
			TAG45:1-FA15:0	TAG47:1-FA17:0
			TAG47:0-FA15:0	TAG49:0-FA17:0
			TAG47:1-FA15:0	TAG49:1-FA17:0
			TAG47:2-FA15:0	TAG49:2-FA17:0
			TAG49:0-FA15:0	TAG51:0-FA17:0
			TAG49:1-FA15:0	TAG51:1-FA17:0
			TAG49:2-FA15:0	TAG51:2-FA17:0
			TAG49:3-FA15:0	TAG51:3-FA17:0
			TAG51:1-FA15:0	TAG53:1-FA17:0
			TAG51:2-FA15:0	TAG53:2-FA17:0
			TAG51:3-FA15:0	TAG53:3-FA17:0
			TAG51:4-FA15:0	TAG53:4-FA17:0
			TAG55:7-FA15:0	
<b>Phosphatidylethanolamines</b>	3.10 (2.56-3.72)	2.04 (1.77-2.34)	PE(15:0/20:2)	PE(17:0/18:1)
			PE(15:0/22:6)	PE(17:0/18:2)
			PE(18:0/15:0)	PE(17:0/20:2)
				PE(17:0/20:3)

Supplemental Table 2. Total lipid class concentration in the subcohort participants (n=1137) and lipids involving C15:0 and C17:0 within each class
				PE(17:0/20:4) PE(17:0/22:4) PE(17:0/22:5) PE(17:0/22:6) PE(18:0/17:0)
Lysophosphatidylcholines	3.05 (2.53-3.55)	2.01 (1.64-2.38)	LPC(15:0)	LPC(17:0)
Diacylglycerols	0.45 (0.31-0.67)	0.30 (0.23-0.41)	DAG(15:0/18:1)	DAG(15:0/18:1)
Monoacylglycerols	0.17 (0.11-0.24)	0.10 (0.07-0.16)	MAG(15:0)	MAG(17:0)
Lysophosphatidylethanolamines	0.14 (0.11-0.18)	0.09 (0.08-0.12)	LPE(15:0)	LPE(17:0)

<sup>1</sup> Only classes that contain lipids with odd-chain fatty acids are presented <sup>2</sup> Values are median (Interquartile range) concentration of the sum of all lipid species in each class <sup>3</sup> Relative to total lipid concentration

ഹ

Potsdam	case-cohort	study						
				Quinti	iles of lipids containing	OCFA		Total subcohort
			1	2	3	4	S	
PL-OCFA	Men	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup>	0.37 (0.16-0.43)	0.50 (0.44-0.57)	0.62 (0.58-0.66) 75	0.72 (0.67-0.77) 66	0.86 (0.77-1.26) 65	0.59 (0.16-1.26)
	Women	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.51 (0.20-0.59) 119	0.63 (0.59-0.68) 64	0.72 (0.68-0.77) 61	0.82 (0.77-0.88) 52	0.99 (0.88-1.30) 29 29	0.70 (0.20-1.30) 325
PL-C15:0	Men	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup>	0.09 (0.02-0.12)	0.14 (0.12-0.16)	0.18 (0.16-0.20)	0.22 (0.20-0.25)	0.28 (0.25-0.80)	0.17 (0.02-0.80)
	Women	Cases Median (Range) <sup>1</sup>	97 0.14 (0.05-0.17)	101 0.19 (0.17-0.21)	106 0.23 (0.21-0.25)	79 0.27 (0.25-0.29)	67 0.34 (0.29-0.47)	450 0.22 (0.05-0.47)
DI _ C17.0	Man	Cases Modion (Domo)	93 0.76 (0.13.0.21)	67 0.35 (0.31 0.30)	79	49 0 50 (0 45 0 54)	37	325 0.41.70.13.0.803
	INICII	Cases	108	134	82	73	52	(100-0-01) 1-0
	Women	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.35 (0.14-0.40) 119	0.43 (0.40-0.47) 75	0.50 (0.47-0.53) 57	0.57 (0.53-0.60) 49	0.67 (0.60-0.95) 25	0.48 (0.14-0.95) 325
	Pho	spholipid species						
LPC(15:0)	Men	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.26 (0.14-0.32) 67	0.37 (0.32-0.42) 101	0.46 (0.42 - 0.50) 104	0.54 (0.50-0.59) 83	0.69 (0.59-1.02) 94	0.46 (0.14-1.02) 449
	Women	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.38 (0.19-0.45) 77	0.49 (0.45-0.52) 52	0.56 (0.52-0.60) 76	0.65 (0.60-0.70) 73	0.80 (0.70-1.17) 47	0.55 (0.19-1.17) 325
LPC(17:0)	Men	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.51 (0.22-0.60) 107	0.67 (0.60-0.73) 122	0.77 (0.73-0.84) 83	0.89 (0.84-0.96) 76	1.03 (0.96-1.49) 61	0.75 (0.22-1.49) 449

Supplemental Table 3. Concentrations of lipids containing OCFA according to quintiles, among 886 men (450 cases) and 1000 women (325 cases) in the EPIC-

	Women	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup>	0.65 (0.26-0.74)	0.79 (0.74-0.84)	0.90 (0.84-0.96)	1.02 (0.96-1.09)	1.18 (1.09-1.71)	0.88 (0.26-1.71)
		Cases	106	61	77	49	32	325
PC(15:0)	Men	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	$0.04 \ (0.01 - 0.05)$ 101	0.06 (0.05-0.08) 88	0.09 (0.08-0.10) 112	0.11 (0.10-0.12) 81	0.14 (0.12-0.24) 66	0.08 (0.01-0.24) 448
	Women	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.07 (0.02-0.08) 91	0.09 (0.08-0.10) 68	0.11 (0.10-0.12) 75	0.13 (0.12-0.15) 54	0.17 (0.15-0.23) 37	0.11 (0.02-0.23) 325
PC(17:0)	Men	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.13 (0.05 - 0.15) 99	0.17 (0.15-0.19) 135	0.21 (0.19-0.23) 97	0.24 (0.23-0.26) 64	0.29 (0.26-0.45) 54	0.20 (0.05-0.45) 449
	Women	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.17 (0.07-0.2) 120	0.21 (0.20-0.23) 66	0.24 (0.23-0.26) 62	0.28 (0.26-0.30) 49	0.33 (0.30-0.44) 28	0.24 (0.07-0.44) 325
LPE(17:0)	Men	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.08 (0.08-0.37) 103	0.45 (0.37-0.50) 98	0.55 (0.50-0.60) 103	0.66 (0.60-0.72) 71	0.82 (0.73-1.55) 75	0.53 (0.08-1.55) 450
	Women	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.40 (0.08-0.48) 98	0.54 (0.48-0.59) 67	0.64 (0.59-0.69) 69	0.76 (0.70-0.81) 37	0.90 (0.81-1.55) 54	0.63 (0.08-1.55) 325
PE(17:0)	Men	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.01 (0.0) 169	(-0.04) <sup>2</sup>	0.07 (0.04-0.09) 94	0.12 (0.09-0.14) 94	0.19 (0.14-0.52) 93	0.07 (0.01-0.52) 450
	Women	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.01 (0.01-0.01) 81	0.06 (0.02-0.08) 48	0.11 (0.09-0.13) 66	0.16 (0.13-0.20) 68	0.25 (0.20-0.58) 62	0.11 (0.01-0.58) 325
	Oth	er lipid species						
CE(15:0)	Men	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.21 (0.12-0.25) 85	0.28 (0.25-0.32) 113	0.35 (0.32-0.38) 94	0.41 (0.38-0.45) 78	0.53 (0.45-0.90) 80	0.35 (0.12-0.90) 450
	Women	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.28 (0.14-0.32) 83	0.35 (0.32-0.38) 69	0.41 (0.38-0.44) 83	0.48 (0.44-0.52) 46	0.59 (0.52-0.81) 44	0.40 (0.14-0.81) 325

 $\sim$ 

CE(17:0)	Men Women	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases Median (Range) <sup>1</sup>	0.25 (0.16-0.28) 106 0.28 (0.18-0.31)	0.31 (0.28-0.33) 112 0.34 (0.31-0.35)	0.35 (0.33-0.38) 77 0.37 (0.35-0.40)	0.40 (0.38-0.44) 90 0.43 (0.40-0.46)	0.49 (0.44-0.69) 65 0.51 (0.46-0.79)	0.34 (0.16-0.69) 450 0.37 (0.18-0.79)
DAG(15:0)	Men	Cases Median (Range) <sup>1</sup>	95 0.21 (0.08-0.25)	75 0.27 (0.25-0.31)	74 0.33 (0.31-0.37)	38 0.41 (0.37-0.46)	43 0.53 (0.46-1.03)	325 0.32 (0.08-1.03)
	Women	Cases Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	122 0.25 (0.13-0.30) 110	104 0.33 (0.30-0.37) 101	97 0.40 (0.37-0.43) 51	58 0.47 (0.43-0.51) 39	69 0.59 (0.51-0.88) 24	450 0.38 (0.13-0.88) 325
MAG(15:0)	Men	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	21.90 (7.64-26.91) 143	30.29 (26.94-33.24) 91	35.76 (33.24-38.49) 68	41.44 (38.52-44.90) 82	64.72 (45.49-95.58) 66	34.43 (7.64-95.58) 450
	Women	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	25.54 (5.24-29.50) 101	32.52 (29.50-35.15) 66	37.65 (35.16-40.24) 48	42.97 (40.25-47.08) 49	65.48 (47.13-95.75) 61	37.05 (5.24-95.75) 325
MAG(17:0)	Men	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.48 (0.07-0.72) 96	0.85 (0.72-0.95) 116	1.01 (0.95-1.08) 86	1.14 (1.08-1.22) 78	1.33 (1.22-1.77) 68	0.99 (0.07-1.77) 444
	Women	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.36 (0.05-0.73) 67	0.89 (0.74-0.98) 77	1.06 (0.99-1.13) 72	1.19 (1.13-1.28) 66	1.39 (1.28-1.78) 35	1.04 (0.05-1.78) 317
TAG(15:0)	Men	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.28 (0.17-0.33) 75	0.37 (0.33-0.41) 90	0.45 (0.41-0.49) 98	0.55 (0.49-0.62) 94	0.74 (0.62-1.35) 93	0.45 (0.17-1.35) 450
	Women	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.34 (0.20-0.39) 68	0.43 (0.39-0.47) 79	0.50 (0.47-0.54) 52	0.59 (0.54-0.66) 69	0.76 (0.66-1.19) 57	0.50 (0.20-1.19) 325
TAG(17:0)	Men	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.37 (0.26-0.42) 68	0.46 (0.42-0.49) 87	0.53 (0.49-0.56) 105	0.60 (0.56-0.64) 89	0.72 (0.64-1.04) 101	0.53 (0.26-1.04) 450
	Women	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.43 (0.30-0.47) 71	0.50 (0.47-0.53) 59	0.56 (0.53-0.59) 70	0.63 (0.59-0.66) 54	0.73 (0.66-1.06) 71	0.56 (0.30-1.06) 325
FFA(15:0)	Men	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.17 (0.12-0.20) 88	0.22 (0.20-0.26) 92	0.30 (0.26-0.35) 106	0.49 (0.35-0.61) 96	0.72 (0.61-5.99) 68	0.29 (0.12-5.99) 450

	Women	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.19 (0.13-0.22) 59	0.25 (0.22-0.28) 74	0.31 (0.28-0.36) 67	0.55 (0.36-0.65) 65	0.75 (0.65-5.92) 60	0.31 (0.13-5.92) 325
FFA(17:0)	Men	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.75 (0.62-0.78) 91	0.80 (0.78-0.82) 81	0.84 (0.82-0.87) 82	0.89 (0.87-0.92) 93	0.98 (0.92-1.40) 103	0.85 (0.62-1.40) 450
	Women	Median (Range) <sup>1</sup> Cases	0.76 (0.64-0.79) 53	0.82 (0.79-0.83) 63	0.86 (0.84-0.88) 78	0.91 (0.88-0.95) 68	1.00 (0.95-1.28) 63	0.86 (0.64-1.28) 325
<sup>1</sup> Values ex <sup>2</sup> Due to the	tpressed as pt e very low ct	ercentages in the group oncentrations of PE(15:0	or class. 0), the analysis was ba	sed on Quintile 1 and 2	together as a reference			

C15:0, pentadecanoic acid; C17:0, heptadecanoic acid; CE, cholesteryl esters; DAG, diacylglycerols; FFA, free fatty acids; LPC, lysophosphatidylcholines; LPE, lysophosphatidylethanolamines; MAG, monoacylglycerols; OCFA, odd-chain saturated fatty acids; PC, phosphatidylcholines; PE, phosphatidylethanolamines; PL, phospholipids; PL-C15:0, phospholipid species containing C15:0; PL-C17:0, phospholipid species containing C15:0; PL-C17:0, phospholipid species containing C15:0; PL-C17:0, phospholipid species containing C17:0; PL-OCFA, phospholipid species containing odd-chain fatty acids; TAG, triacylglycerols.

Supplemental Table 4. Correlation between the odd chain fatty acids (OCFA) concentrations in plasma phospholipids measured by gas chromatography<sup>1</sup> with concentrations of phospholipids containing OCFA measured by mass spectrometry (Metabolon Complex Lipid Panel)<sup>2</sup>, based on the subcohort population (n=1137)

OCFA	Li	ipidomics analysis (m	ass spectrometry, <b>I</b>	Aetabolon)	
	Total Phospholipids	PC	LPC	LPE	PE
C15:0	06.0	0.84	0.87	N/A	N/A
C17:0	0.62	0.64	0.66	0.46	0.23

<sup>1</sup> Relative proportion of C15:0 and C17:0 in total plasma phospholipids <sup>2</sup> Relative proportion of lipids containing C15:0 and C17:0 within individual plasma phospholipid classes and in the total of the phospholipids classes All p-value <0.0001

LPC, lysophosphatidylcholines; LPE, lysophosphatidylethanolamines; PC, phosphatidylcholines; PE, phosphatidylethanolamines

	LPC(17:0)	LPC(15:0)	LPE(17:0)	PC(17:0)	PC(15:0)	PE(17:0)
LPC(17:0)	ı	$0.71^{*}$	0.28*	$0.28^{*}$	-0.19*	-0.08*
LPC(15:0)	0.83*	ı	0.16*	-0.17*	0.25*	0.05
JPE(17:0)	0.69*	0.66*	ı	0.05	-0.08*	0.12*
PC(17:0)	0.57*	0.57*	0.45*	ı	0.52*	0.21*
PC(15:0)	0.48*	0.64*	0.38*	0.74*	ı	0.05
<b>PE(17:0)</b>	0.31*	0.35*	0.33*	0.51*	0.43*	I

Supplemental Table 5. Pairwise correlations between phospholipid species containing odd chain fatty acids, based on the subcohort population (n=1137)<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Values below the diagonal are adjusted for age and sex, and above the diagonal are additionally mutually adjusted for all other OCFA-containing lipids levels. \*p-value <0.01

ontaining odd-chain fatty acids (OCFA) and incident diabetes among men (n=886, cases=450) and women	study <sup>2</sup>
Supplemental Table 6. Associations between lipids <sup>1</sup>	(n=1000, cases=325) in the EPIC-Potsdam case-cohort

		PL-OCFA (C15:0	+C17:0)	
		Men	Women	
Continuous analysis	0.8	3 (0.74-0.94)	0.52 (0.43-0.	62)
Q2 vs Q1	1.2	4 (0.84-1.83)	0.56 (0.37-0.	85)
Q3 vs Q1	0.7	2 (0.47-1.11)	0.54 (0.36-0.	82)
Q4 vs Q1	0.4	0 (0.25-0.64)	0.36 (0.23-0.	56)
Q5 vs Q1	0.5	4 (0.35-0.84)	0.17 (0.10-0.	28)
	C1	5:0	CI	7:0
Total PL species	Men	Women	Men	Women
Continuous analysis	0.89 (79-0.99)	0.62 (0.52-0.74)	0.82 (0.73-0.93)	0.51 (0.42-0.61)
Q2 vs Q1	1.07 (0.71-1.62)	0.65(0.43-0.99)	1.29 (0.87-1.91)	0.46 (0.31-0.70)
Q3 vs Q1	1.04 (0.69-1.57)	0.84 (0.56-1.26)	0.74 (0.49-1.12)	0.40 (0.26-0.62)
Q4 vs Q1	$0.69\ (0.45-1.08)$	0.46 (0.29-0.72)	0.50 (0.32-0.79)	0.31 (0.20-0.48)
Q5 vs Q1	0.64 (0.41-0.99)	0.33 (0.20-0.53)	0.43 (0.27-0.68)	0.13 (0.08-0.22)
PC				
Continuous analysis				0.50 (0.41-0.60)
	0.87 (0.77-0.98)	0.64 (0.54-0.76)	0.83 (0.73-0.93)	
Q2 vs Q1	0.86 (0.57-1.29)	0.65 (0.43-0.99)	1.45 (0.98-2.14)	0.41 (0.27-0.63)

Q3 vs Q1	1.06 (0.70-1.59)	0.83 (0.55-1.25)	0.83 (0.55-1.26)	0.39 (0.26-0.60)
Q4 vs Q1	0.75 (0.49-1.15)	0.56 (0.36-0.86)	0.50 (0.32-0.79)	0.29 (0.19-0.46)
Q5 vs Q1	0.56 (0.36-0.88)	0.33 (0.21-0.54)	0.51 (0.32-0.80)	0.14 (0.08-0.23)
LPC				
Continuous analysis	1.04 (0.92-1.17)	0.78 (0.66-0.92)	0.82 (0.73-0.93)	0.59 (0.50-0.69)
Q2 vs Q1	1.27 (0.81-1.97)	0.56 (0.36-0.87)	1.12 (0.75-1.67)	0.58 (0.38-0.89)
Q3 vs Q1	1.35 (0.87-2.10)	0.82 (0.53-1.26)	0.68 (0.45-1.05)	0.69 (0.45-1.05)
Q4 vs Q1	1.11 (0.70-1.74)	0.78 (0.52-1.18)	0.61 (0.40-0.95)	0.37 (0.23-0.57)
Q5 vs Q1	1.14 (0.73-1.77)	0.49 (0.31-0.77)	0.49 (0.31-0.76)	0.20 (0.12-0.32)
PE				
Continuous analysis	I	I	1.01 (0.88-1.16)	0.96 (0.84-1.11)
Q2 vs Q1			0.65 (0.16-2.68)	1.01 (0.64-1.59)
Q3 vs Q1			0.99 (0.68-1.44)	0.86 (0.58-1.28)
Q4 vs Q1			1.02 (0.70-1.47)	0.95 (0.63-1.43)
Q5 vs Q1			1.05 (0.72-1.52)	0.85 (0.56-1.30)
LPE				
Continuous analysis	I	ı	0.85 (0.75-0.96)	0.74 (0.65-0.85)
Q2 vs Q1			1.01 (0.66-1.55)	0.66 (0.44-0.98)
Q3 vs Q1			1.01 (0.66-1.53)	0.65 (0.43-0.98)
Q4 vs Q1			0.74 (0.48-1.15)	0.29 (0.18-0.47)
Q5 vs Q1			0.60 (0.38-0.95)	0.41 (0.26-0.63)

OTHER CLASSES				
CE				
Continuous analysis	0.90 (0.79-1.01)	0.68 (0.57-0.80)	0.83 (0.73-0.95)	0.59 (0.50-0.69)
Q2 vs Q1	1.31 (0.86-1.98)	0.81 (0.53-1.24)	1.14 (0.76-1.71)	0.74 (0.48-1.15)
Q3 vs Q1	1.11 (0.72-1.70)	0.92 (0.60-1.40)	0.59 (0.38-0.92)	0.52 (0.34-0.81)
Q4 vs Q1	0.82 (0.52-1.27)	0.48 (0.31-0.75)	0.85 (0.56-1.29)	0.32 (0.20-0.52)
Q5 vs Q1	0.81 (0.53-1.26)	0.40 (0.25-0.63)	0.50 (0.32-0.79)	0.28 (0.18-0.45)
MAG				
Continuous analysis	0.77 (0.67-0.89)	0.76 (0.65-0.89)	0.93 (0.82-1.07)	0.95 (0.84-1.07)
Q2 vs Q1	0.86 (0.57-1.28)	$0.58\ (0.38-0.87)$	1.11 (0.75-1.66)	1.23 (0.80-1.88)
Q3 vs Q1	0.49 (0.32-0.74)	0.37 (0.24-0.57)	0.88 (0.57-1.35)	1.06 (0.69-1.61)
Q4 vs Q1	0.51 (0.33-0.77)	0.31 (0.20-0.48)	0.79 (0.51-1.21)	0.86 (0.56-1.32)
Q5 vs Q1	0.48 (0.31-0.74)	0.56 (0.37-0.86)	0.72 (0.47-1.10)	0.52 (0.32-0.84)
DAG				
Continuous analysis	0.75 (0.65-0.86)	0.58 (0.50-0.69)	I	I
Q2 vs Q1	0.85 (0.56-1.28)	0.92 (0.64-1.32)		
Q3 vs Q1	0.76 (0.51-1.13)	0.41 (0.27-0.63)		
Q4 vs Q1	0.42 (0.27-0.67)	0.36 (0.22-0.56)		
Q5 vs Q1	0.58 (0.38-0.89)	0.26 (0.16-0.45)		
TAG				
Continuous analysis	1.07 (0.95-1.21)	0.87 (0.74-1.02)	1.10 (0.97-1.24)	0.90 (0.76-1.05)
Q2 vs Q1	1.53 (0.97-2.40)	1.20 (0.79-1.84)	1.38 (0.88-2.15)	0.81 (0.51-1.27)

14

Q3 vs Q1	1.37 (0.89-2.10)	0.57 (0.36-0.91)	1.61 (1.03-2.52)	0.78 (0.51-1.21)
Q4 vs Q1	1.39 (0.89-2.17)	0.87 (0.57-1.34)	1.37 (0.87-2.15)	0.57 (0.37-0.90)
Q5 vs Q1	1.35 (0.87-2.10)	0.72 (0.46-1.13)	1.41 (0.91-2.18)	0.80 (0.51-1.24)
FFA				
Continuous analysis	0.90 (0.78-1.03)	0.90 (0.78-1.04)	1.03 (0.90-1.18)	0.98 (0.85-1.14)
Q2 vs Q1	0.75 (0.49-1.17)	1.03 (0.66-1.62)	0.88 (0.56-1.37)	0.97 (0.60-1.57)
Q3 vs Q1	1.06 (0.70-1.60)	0.87 (0.55-1.37)	0.81 (0.52-1.26)	1.28 (0.80-2.03)
Q4 vs Q1	0.80 (0.52-1.22)	0.91 (0.59-1.43)	0.99 (0.65-1.50)	0.99 (0.63-1.57)
Q5 vs Q1	0.61 (0.39-0.95)	0.76 (0.48-1.20)	0.97 (0.63-1.49)	0.98 (0.61-1.56)

<sup>1</sup>Lipids derived from lipidomics mass spectrometry analysis

<sup>2</sup> Values are Hazard Ratios (HR) and 95% confidence intervals derived from a multivariable Cox regression model adjusted for age (strata)

lysophosphatidylethanolamines; MAG, monoacylglycerols; OCFA, odd-chain saturated fatty acids; PC, phosphatidylcholines; PE, phosphatidylethanolamines; PL, C15:0, pentadecanoic acid; C17:0, heptadecanoic acid; CE, cholesteryl esters; DAG, diacylglycerols; FFA, free fatty acids; LPC, lysophosphatidylcholines; LPE, phospholipids; PL-OCFA, phospholipid species containing odd-chain fatty acids; Q, quintile; TAG, triacylglycerols.

LPC, lysophosphatidylcholines; LPE, lysophosphatidylethanolamines; PC, phosphatidylcholines; PE, phosphatidylethanolamines



Supplemental Figure 2. Associations between lipids and incidence of T2D modelled using a restricted cubic spline function with 3 knots placed at the 5<sup>th</sup>. Multivariable model adjusted for: age, sex, waist circumference, BMI, cycling (0, 0.1–2.4, 2.5–4.9, or >=5 h/week), sports activity (0, 0.1–4.0, or >4.0 h/week), cigarettes/day, or current >20 cigarettes/day), occupational activity (light, moderate, or heavy), alcohol intake (0, 0.1–5.0, 5.1–10.0, 10.1–20.0, 20.1–40.0, or 50<sup>th</sup> and 95<sup>th</sup> percentiles. Shaded areas are 95% confidence intervals. Numbers in the top right of each panel are p-values for men (m) and women (w) education (in or no training, vocational training, technical school, or technical college or university degree), smoking status (never, past, current, <20

.40.0 g/d), coffee intake (energy-adjusted), fiber intake (energy-adjusted), red meat intake (energy-adjusted), total energy intake (kJ/day), fasting status and prevalent hypertension. CE, cholesteryl esters; DAG, diacylglycerols; FFA, free fatty acids; LPC, lysophosphatidylcholines; LPE, lysophosphatidylethanolamines; MAG, monoacylglycerols; OCFA, odd-chain saturated fatty acids; PC, phosphatidylcholines; PE, phosphatidylethanolamines; PL, phospholipids; PL-C15:0, phospholipid species containing C15:0; PL-C17:0, phospholipid species containing C17:0; PL-OCFA, phospholipid species containing C17:0; PL-OCFA, phospholipid species containing odd-chain fatty acids; TAG, triacylglycerols.

Supplementary Table 7. Associations between free fatty acids (FFA) and incident diabetes among men and women in the EPIC-Potsdam case-cohort study <sup>1,2</sup>

	Z	C15:0	% CI) <sup>2</sup> C17:0
eference (All barticipants)	1886	0.91 (0.79-1.04)	1.20 (1.06-1.37)
Fasting Non-fasting	274 1333	1.80(1.28-2.53) 0.83(0.70-0.97)	1.71 (1.08-2.70) 1.19 (1.03-1.38)

Models adjusted for age, sex, waist circumference, BMI, cycling (0, 0.1–2.4, 2.5–4.9, or >=5 h/week), sports activity (0, 0.1–4.0, or >4.0 h/week), education (in or no training, vocational training, technical school, or technical college or university degree), smoking status (never, past, current, <20 cigarettes/day, or current >20 cigarettes/day), or current >20 cigarettes/day), or current >10 cigarettes/day, or current >10 cigarettes/day), or current >10 cigarettes/day), or current >10 cigarettes/day, or currentes/day, or currentes/day, or current >10 cigaret adjusted), red meat intake (energy-adjusted), total energy intake, and prevalent hypertension, total FFA <sup>2</sup> Men (n = 132) and women (n = 147) who only drank (did not eat) were not included

	Whole grain b	read, grain flakes,	, grains, muesli	Fr	uits and vegetables	70
	PL-OCFA	PL-C15:0 <sup>1</sup>	PL-C17:0 <sup>1</sup>	PL-OCFA	PL-C15:0 <sup>1</sup>	PL-C17:0 <sup>1</sup>
Reference <sup>2</sup>	0.17	0.15	0.16	0.07	0.04	0.08
+ total dairy fat	0.15	0.13	0.14	0.08	0.05	0.08
+ butter	0.23	0.20	0.21	0.11	0.07	0.12
+ full-fat dairy	0.17	0.15	0.16	0.08	0.05	0.09

Supplemental Table 8. Partial correlations coefficients of phospholipid species containing OCFA (PL-OCFA) with fiber-rich foods, adjusted for dairy food variables (total dairy fat, butter, full-fat dairy) in the subcohort population (n=1137)

<sup>1</sup> PL-C15:0 is the sum of phospholipids PC(C15:0) and LPC(C15:0), and PL-C17:0 is the sum of phospholipids LPE(C17:0), PE(C17:0), PC(C17:0), LPC(C17:0)

<sup>2</sup> Adjusted for age, sex, total energy intake

		· •	Ouintiles of ph	ospholipid species con	taining OCFA		Total subcohort
		1	5	3	4	Ŋ	
Butter	Men	0.65 (0.03-2.92)	0.86 (0.08-4.32)	1.06 (0.07-5.97)	3.58 (0.90-7.18)	7.97 (2.77-13.85)	1.32 (0.15-5.74)
(g/1000kcal)	Women	0.51 (0.06-2.54)	0.93 (0.28-2.73)	0.94 (0.17-6.02)	1.73 (0.36-6.37)	5.18 (1.79-10.88)	1.59 (0.34-6.37)
Low-fat dairy	Men	5.71 (0-33.69)	17.41 (0-58.75)	7.8 (0-31.88)	3.65 (0-35.84)	1.16 (0-34.19)	5.99 (0-40.76)
products (g/1000kcal)	Women	13.4 (1.73-54.34)	19.12 (0.86-84.35)	24.46 (0.74-74.56)	29.37 (1.00-110.4)	14.12 (0-95.89)	21.59 (1-83.92)
Full-fat dairy	Men	24.15 (14.02-45.25)	29.39 (10.62-52.52)	32.74 (16.23-60.45)	40.40 (20.89-78.18)	35.94 (20.43-79.12)	31.18 (16.04-59.39)
products (g/1000kcal)	Women	38.52 (20.52-92.23)	40.45 (17.86-73.12)	54.94 (24.56-91.75)	40.66 (21.38-87.24)	57.26 (25.06-107.00)	48.42 (21.38-92.34)
Low-fat cheese	Men	0 (0-0.32)	0 (0-3.44)	0 (0-0.92)	0-0) 0	0 (0-0.92)	0 (0-0.84)
(g/1000kcal)	Women	0 (0-2.27)	0 (0-4.55)	0 (0-4.1)	0 (0-2.21)	0 (0-4.54)	0 (0-3.48)
Full-fat cheese	Men	12.03 (4.14-18.35)	12.9 (3.95-21.24)	11.52 (4.88-18.04)	11.62 (5.37-17.45)	14.53 (5.56-18.51)	12.4 (4.57-19.19)
(g/1000kcal)	Women	12.18 (5.25-0)	12.91 (5.02-0)	12.19 (6.1-0)	14.13 (7.62-0)	13.22 (7.01-0)	13 (6.26-0)
Total vogurt	Men	7.21 (0-20.77)	10.95 (1.45-26.67)	8.19 (0.99-30.27)	14.19 (4.02-27.37)	6.27 (0.97-24.34)	8.86 (1.01-24.53)
(g/1000kcal)	Women	25.08 (5.84-43.31)	24.04 (7.25-50.48)	28.93 (8.28-57.03)	28.4 (11.64-57.83)	21.68 (7.4-55.98)	25.13 (8.29-54.35)
Low-fat vogurt	Men	0 (0-0.74)	0 (0-6.98)	0 (0-0)	0 (0-2.31)	0 (0-0)	0 (0-0.6)
(g/1000kcal)	Women	0 (0-5.07)	0 (0-21.86)	0 (0-13.91)	0 (0-28.5)	0 (0-5.94)	0 (0-13.3)
Full-fat vogurt	Men	0-0) 0	0 (0-4.99)	0 (0-7.24)	0 (0-18.84)	0 (0-8.95)	0 (0-7.47)
(g/1000kcal)	Women	0 (0-15.92)	0 (0-10.3)	0 (0-32.07)	0 (0-16.95)	0 (0-22.35)	0 (0-21.44)

Supplemental Table 9. Dairy foods, fat from dairy and fiber intake according to quintiles of phospholipid odd chain fatty acids in the subcohort population

Milk <= 1.5% (g/1000kcal)	Men Women Men	0 (0-6.03) 0 (0-12.47) 0 (0-0)	0 (0-32.66) 0 (0-20.97) 0 (0-0)	0 (0-6.58) 0 (0-18.28) 0 (0-0)	0 (0-5.28) 0 (0-18.28) 0 (0-10 86)	0 (0-0) 0 (0-15.44) 0 (0-4 54)	0 (0-7.09) 0 (0-18.12)
MIIK 3.5% (g/1000kcal)	Women	0 (0-1.56)	(0-0) 0	0 (0-1.26)	0 (0-0)	0 (0-4.58)	0 (0-0.92)
Fat from dairy products (g/1000kcal)	Men Women	3.90 (2.66-5.33) 6.31 (3.95-7.72)	4.72 (3.2-6.68) 5.87 (3.91-7.82)	4.32 (2.4-6.28) 5.64 (4.2-7.86)	5.06 (3.6-6.66) 6.40 (4.5-8.36)	5.12 (3.93-7.10) 6.46 (4.47-8.82)	4.50 (2.98-6.31) 6.06 (4.28-8.13)
Fiber intake (g/1000kcal)	Men Women	9.41 (8.04-11.31) 10.88 (9.23-12.40)	9.83 (8.32-11.3) 10.97 (9.52-12.94)	9.61 (8.42-11.11) 11.07 (9.66-13.06)	9.96 (8.34-11.54) 11.29 (9.77-13.23)	9.4 (8.34-11.26) 11.04 (9.59-12.99)	9.65 (8.26-11.31) 11.09 (9.61-12.90)

21

Manuscript 3: Plasma lipidomic n-6 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids and Type 2 Diabetes Risk in the EPIC-Potsdam Prospective Cohort Study

# Plasma lipidomic n-6 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids and Type 2 Diabetes Risk in the EPIC Potsdam Prospective Cohort Study

Marcela Prada<sup>1,2</sup>; Fabian Eichelmann<sup>1,2</sup>; Clemens Wittenbecher<sup>1,2,3</sup>; Olga Kuxhaus<sup>1,2</sup>; Matthias B. Schulze<sup>1,2,4</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Department of Molecular Epidemiology, German Institute of Human Nutrition Potsdam-Rehbruecke, Nuthetal, Germany
- <sup>2</sup> German Center for Diabetes Research (DZD), München-Neuherberg, Germany
- <sup>3</sup> Department of Nutrition, Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Boston, MA
- <sup>4</sup> Institute of Nutritional Science, University of Potsdam, Nuthetal, Germany

## **Correspondence to:**

Matthias B. Schulze, Department of Molecular Epidemiology, German Institute of Human Nutrition Potsdam-Rehbruecke, Arthur-Scheunert-Allee 114-116, 14558 Nuthetal, Germany, Phone +49-33200-882434, Email: <u>mschulze@dife.de</u>

Word count: 4059

## ABSTRACT

**Aims/hypothesis:** The evidence on plasma n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) and type 2 diabetes (T2D) risk is inconsistent. We examined the associations of lipid class-specific PUFA concentrations with T2D risk.

**Methods:** In a case-cohort study nested within the prospective European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)-Potsdam cohort (subcohort=1,137; T2D cases=775; follow-up median 6.5 years), we measured plasma 18:2, 20:3, and 20:4 concentration in 12 lipid classes, arguably reflecting the plasma concentrations of linoleic acid (18:2n-6), dihomo-gamma-linolenic acid (20:3n-6), and arachidonic acid (20:4n-6). Delta-5 desaturase (D5D) activity was estimated as 20:4/20:3-ratio. Associations with T2D were estimated with Cox proportional-hazards models per SD, adjusted for potential risk factors and respective class sum to separate the association from the total of the class.

**Results:** Higher concentrations of 18:2 were inversely associated with T2D risk, particularly in diacylglycerols (HR 0.68; 95% CI 0.50-0.93), triacylglycerols (HR 0.52; 95% CI 0.36-0.74), and lysophosphatidylcholines (HR 0.69; 95% CI 0.54-0.90), however, monoacylglycerol(18:2) was positively associated (HR 1.40; 95% CI 1.16-1.67). Higher concentrations of 20:3 in phospholipids (HRs 1.14–1.63), free fatty acids (HR 1.28; 95% CI 1.05-1.55), cholesteryl esters (HR 1.45; 95% CI 1.13-1.86), and monoacylglycerols (HR 1.22; 95% CI 1.06-1.41) were linked to higher T2D incidence. Higher 20:4 concentrations were positively associated in free fatty acids (HR 1.30; 95% CI 1.05-1.55) and phosphatidylethanolamines (HR 1.36; 95% CI 1.22-2.17) but not associated in other lipid classes. The estimated D5D activity in phospholipids and cholesteryl esters was associated with lower T2D risk (total phospholipids HR 0.84 95% CI 0.73-0.96 and CE HR 0.78; 95% CI 0.68-0.89). SNPs in the D5D-encoding FADS genes explained relatively high proportions of variation of estimated D5D activity in those lipid classes.

**Conclusion:** n-6 PUFAs concentrations in plasma were associated differently with T2D incidence depending on FA and the lipid class.

# Keywords:

desaturases, diabetes, fatty acids, linoleic acid, lipidomics, lipid metabolism, n-6, omega-6

# **RESEARCH IN CONTEXT**

What is already known about this subject?

- In total plasma phospholipids, higher concentrations of linoleic acid (18:2n-6) are linked to lower type 2 diabetes risk, whereas dihomogamma-linolenic acid (DGLA, 20:3n-6) is associated with higher diabetes risk, and arachidonic acid (AA, 20:4n-6) has not been associated with diabetes risk.
- Estimated delta-5 desaturase activity (AA/DGLA ratio) in total phospholipids is associated with lower type risk.

What is the key question?

• Are the associations of n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) concentrations and estimated desaturase activities with T2D risk consistent across sub-classes of phospholipids and other lipid classes determined by plasma lipidomics?

What are the new findings?

- N-6 PUFAs were associated differently with T2D incidence depending on the specific FA and the lipid class.
- Higher estimated D5D activity was associated with reduced T2D risk when determined in phospholipid classes and cholesteryl esters, but not in other lipid classes.

How might this impact clinical practice in the foreseeable future?

• The identified class-specific associations of PUFAs with T2D contribute to the understanding of the role of PUFA intake and lipid metabolism in the aetiology of type 2 diabetes. They provide evidence for the preventive role of plant-based PUFA and potentially provide novel targets for diabetes prevention.

#### INTRODUCTION

Current dietary recommendations to reduce coronary heart disease risk suggest consuming polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) in exchange for saturated fatty acids (FA) (1). However, recommendations for type 2 diabetes (T2D) prevention do not clearly emphasise PUFAs as a component of diet quality so far (2). In recent years, prospective studies have evaluated the association of the most abundant dietary and circulating PUFA, linoleic acid (LA, 18:2n-6), with T2D incidence. According to a recent meta-analysis of prospective cohorts, higher 18:2n-6 intake and higher concentrations in adipose tissue and different blood compartments were associated with a decreased T2D risk (3).

Besides the dietary intake of 18:2n-6, its downstream metabolism to arachidonic acid (AA, 20:4n-6) may be relevant for diabetes risk (4). Phospholipid 20:4n-6 was not related to T2D risk in the two largest cohort investigations, European Prospective Investigation into Cancer (EPIC)-InterAct and the FORCE cohort consortium (5, 6). However, associations vary substantially across individual cohorts and may also differ for other blood fractions(6). In contrast, dihomo-gamma-linolenic acid (DGLA, 20:3n-6) has been consistently related to an increased risk of T2D in prospective cohort studies (5). Critical enzymes of PUFA conversion are the delta-5 (D5D) and delta-6 desaturases (D6D) (4). Product-to-precursor FA ratios in phospholipids to estimate the activity of these desaturases were associated with T2D risk in prospective studies, but in opposite directions: estimated D5D activity was associated with lower and estimated D6D activity with higher risk (5, 7). Mendelian randomisation analysis using variants in *FADS1* (encoding D5D) and *FADS2* (encoding D6D) supports a causal role of desaturase activity in T2D development (8).

We have previously observed that associations of FA with T2D risk vary across plasma lipid classes (9, 10). Very few studies have examined T2D risk associations of n-6 PUFAs in different lipid compartments simultaneously. Plasma 20:3n-6 levels were positively associated with T2D risk in phospholipids and cholesteryl esters (CE) but not in triglycerides (TG) in a study of Finnish men (11), whereas another study observed 20:3n-6 positively associated in CE but not in phospholipids (12). Apart from phospholipids, CE, and TG, other n-6 PUFAcontaining lipid classes in plasma include, for example, free fatty acids (FFA), other glycerolipids (monoacylglycerols (MG) and diacylglycerols (DG)), and several sphingolipids (ceramides (Cer), dihydroceramides (dhCer), lactosylceramides (LacCer), hexosylceramides (HexCer), sphingomyelins (SM)). In addition, the phospholipid types include phosphatidylcholines (PC), phosphatidylethanolamines (PE), lysophosphatidylethanolamines (LPE), lysophosphatidylcholines (LPC), and phosphatidylinositol (PI). The T2D risk associations of n-6 PUFAs across these lipid (sub)classes have not been systematically examined. Furthermore, whether the estimated desaturase activity is similar in all lipid classes is still largely unexplored, and, to our knowledge, lipid class-specific associations of estimated desaturase activities with T2D risk have not been comprehensively reported. Moreover, while FADS variants have been associated with desaturase activities in phospholipids (8, 13) and CE (14), other plasma lipid classes have been little explored.

We aimed to evaluate associations of n-6 PUFAs concentrations and estimated desaturase activities with T2D risk across twelve lipid classes from plasma lipidomics profiles in a prospective cohort study. We additionally aimed to evaluate the influence of *FADS* genomic variation on estimated D5D activity across the lipid classes.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Design and population**

The EPIC-Potsdam cohort recruited 27,548 participants (16,644 women aged mainly 35-65 years and 10,904 men aged 40-65 years mostly) from the general population in Potsdam, Germany, between 1994-1998 (15). Consent was obtained from all participants, and approval was given by the Ethical Committee of the State Brandenburg, Germany.

The baseline examination included blood sampling, anthropometry, blood pressure measurements, and the collecting of information on prevalent diseases and sociodemographic and lifestyle characteristics. Blood plasma was stored in liquid nitrogen tanks at -196°C or deep freezers at -80°C until analysis. Follow-up questionnaires were administered every two-three years to identify incident T2D cases. Response rates for follow-up rounds 1, 2, 3 and 4 were 96%, 95%, 91% and 90%, respectively. We considered the questionnaires returned by August 31, 2005.

A case-cohort study nested within the prospective EPIC-Potsdam study was designed for efficient molecular phenotyping (10, 16). From all participants who provided blood samples (n=26,437), we randomly selected the subsample (subcohort, n=1,248) and considered all cases with incident T2D identified during follow-up period (median 6.5 years, interquartile range 6.0-8.7 years) (n=801) (**Supplementary Figure S1**). After excluding participants with missing follow-up information, prevalent diabetes at recruitment, and insufficient blood, the

analytical sample involved 1886 participants, including 775 participants with incident T2D from whom 26 were part of the random subcohort.

# Type 2 diabetes ascertainment

Participants with incident T2D were detected by self-report of the diagnosis, antidiabetic medication use, or diabetes dietary treatment, but also based on information from death certificates or sources such as the tumor centers, physicians, and clinics. All potential cases were verified by questionnaires sent to the treating physicianOnly cases diagnosed after the baseline examination date and verified by a physician as T2D (International Classification of Diseases, 10th revision code: E11). were included as incident cases.

# Fatty acid and lipidomic profiling

To compare with the concentrations of PUFAs derived from the lipidomics analyses by mass spectrometry (MS), we measured PUFAs in total plasma phospholipids by gas chromatography (GC) with a flame ionisation detector as previously described (9). The proportions of the FA were expressed as a percentage of the total FA present in the chromatogram (13 FAs, including 18:2n-6, 20:3n-6, and 20:4n-6).

The lipidomics analysis was performed by Metabolon using the Metabolon Complex Lipid Panel, as previously described (10, 16). Briefly, lipids were extracted from plasma samples in the presence of deuterated internal standards using an automated BUME extraction. Extracts were infused, and MS analysed with a Shimadzu LC with nano PEEK tubing and a Sciex SelexION–5500 QTRAP mass spectrometer. Upon ionisation, the lipids passed through a SelexIon differential mobility spectrometry (DMS), which separates lipids by class. After the DMS filtering, lipids enter the multiple reaction monitoring, in which both the mass of lipid and the mass of its characteristic fragments are measured. Individual lipid species were quantified by taking the ratio of the signal intensity of each target compound to that of its assigned internal standard, then multiplying by the concentration of internal standard added to the sample.

This platform quantified a total of 940 distinct molecular species concentrations and FA composition across 15 lipid classes (FFA, CE, MG, Cer, dhCer, LacCer, HexCer, SM, LPE, LPC, PI, DG, TG, PC, PE). Two subclasses of PE were also available: phosphatidylethanolamine ether (PEO) and phosphatidylethanolamine plasmalogen (PEP), presented separately from other PE. Measured concentrations of lipid species were used to calculate within-class FA sums (summing concentrations of all lipid species having a specific

FA within each lipid class). We screened 111 within-class FA sums, of which we identified the ones including PUFAs (18:2, 18:3, 20:2, 20:3, 20:4, 22:2, 22:4, 22:5). When summing all the lipids containing each PUFA, total 18:2 was the most abundant (46.8  $\mu$ M), the second was total 20:4 (13.5  $\mu$ M), followed by total 20:3 (3.3  $\mu$ M) (**Supplementary Table S1**). We compared n-6 PUFAs concentration assessed in total plasma phospholipids by the traditional GC with the PUFA relative concentration in all the phospholipid classes measured by MS. The high correlations (18:2n-6(GC)-18:2(MS) r=0.96, 20:3n-6(GC)-20:3(MS) r=0.93 and 20:4n-6(GC-20:4(MS) r=0.91) indicate n-6 conformation. Besides the sum in all phospholipid classes, the class-specific correlations are presented in **Supplementary Figure S2**. Of note, lipids containing 18:3 were also relatively abundant (2.7  $\mu$ M), however, we did not consider them for our analysis because it remained unclear in our data if they reflect gamma-linolenic acid (18:3n-6 or alpha-linolenic acid (18:3n-3).

Within-class FA sums are synonymous with molecular species level in lipid classes containing only one FA per molecule (FFA, CE, MG, Cer, dhCer, LacCer, HexCer, SM, LPE, LPC). For lipid classes with two or three FA (PC, PE, DAG, TAG), the sum within a class was used for calculations, e.g., all lipids in the class that carry 18:2 were summed. This resulted in 36 lipid variables from 12 lipid classes. For each FA, we also calculated total phospholipid concentration by summing all the phospholipid species with that FA and total plasma by summing all lipids with that FA.

D5D activity was estimated as product-to-precursor ratio (20:4/20:3), calculated for each lipid class.

#### Genotyping

We genotyped rs174546, a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) strongly associated with estimated D5D activity (8) and in strong linkage disequilibrium with other SNPs in that region. We, therefore, used rs174546 to reflect genomic influence on estimated lipid class-specific D5D activity. Detailed information on array types, quality control, and software packages were reported elsewhere (8).

#### Statistical analyses

We imputed missing information on covariates by sex-specific median imputation (height: n=1) and model-based single imputation (BMI: n=4, blood pressure: n=116). There were no missing values of GC plasma phospholipids FA concentrations GC. We assumed that missing values in lipidomics-based lipid species concentrations were below the limit of quantification.

Lipids with more than 70% values missing were excluded. The remaining were imputed using the "Quantile Regression Imputation of Left-Censored data" approach from the R package imputeLCMD (17). We log-transformed to stabilise skewed distributions and z-scaled (mean=0, SD=1) the lipid species concentrations and ratios.

All descriptive analyses were based on the random subcohort. We evaluated and visualised intercorrelations among the lipidomics-measured lipids using gaussian graphical models (18). In this network model, the edges represent covariance between two lipids that could not be explained by adjustment for any subset of other lipids. The reported correlation coefficients are adjusted for all other lipids.

The longitudinal associations between lipids and diabetes risk were evaluated with Cox proportional hazards models stratified by age in the case-cohort study population, accounting for the oversampling of cases by Prentice weighting (19). We estimated multivariable-adjusted hazard ratios (HR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI), considering lipid concentrations as continuous variables standardised to 1-SD increments in the log-scale. Cox models were adjusted for age, sex, waist circumference, height, leisure-time physical activity, highest achieved education level, smoking status, alcohol intake, fasting status at blood draw, total energy intake, blood pressure (systolic and diastolic), standard clinical blood lipid markers: total cholesterol, high-density cholesterol, and TG (except in models using TG class as exposure), medication (antihypertensive, lipid-lowering, acetylsalicylic acid), and respective class sum (to separate the association from the total of the class). In a sensitivity analysis, models were further adjusted for other FA associated with T2D: the odd chain FAs 15:0 and 17:0 (9), and FAs in the de novo lipogenesis pathway (16:0, 18:0, 16:1n-7c, 18:1n-7c) (20). Additionally, we performed multiplicative interaction analyses for sex by including the cross-product to the fully-adjusted Cox proportional hazards models.

Association of rs174546 with estimated D5D activity were assessed assuming an additive genetic model, adjusted for age at recruitment and sex.

All analyses were performed with SAS Enterprise Guide 7.1 and R version 4.1.0.

#### RESULTS

Baseline characteristics of subcohort participants of the EPIC-Potsdam cohort are presented in **Table 1**. Subcohort participants were 61% women and had a median age of 49 years and a

BMI of 25. Almost two-thirds had secondary education or higher, most were never smokers, and half reported a diagnosis of hypertension.

Variable	Median (IQR) or percentage
Women	60.6%
Age (years)	49.4(42.1-57.6)
Body Mass Index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	25.4(23.0-28.0)
Waist circumference (cm)	85.0(75.0-93.5)
Leisure time activity: sport, biking, gardening (hours/week)	5 (2-8)
Education	
Primary school	38.6%
Sec./high school	23.8%
College/higher	37.6%
Smoking	
Never	48.5%
Former	31.5%
Current smoker (<20 U/day)	14.8%
Current smoker (≥20 U/day)	5.2%
Antihypertensive medication	20.0%
Lipid-lowering medication	5.1%
Acetylsalicylic acid medication	10.0%
Alcohol intake (per day)	
0	2.8%
1-6 g	39.3%
6.1-12 g	19.4%
12.1-24 g	19.4%
24.1-60 g	16.8%
60.1-96 g	2.0 %
96 g or more	0.2%
Total energy intake (kJ/day)	8446 (6791-10300)
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	127.5 (116.5-140.0)
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	83.0 (76.0-90.5)
Cholesterol (mg/dl)	204.6 (177.9-231.3)
Triglyceride (mg/dl)	106.8 (75.13-162.8)
HDL cholesterol (mg/dl)	55.0 (46.3-64.8)
Prevalent hypertension (self-report)	49.5%

# Table 1. Baseline characteristics of subcohort (n=1137\*)

\*No participants had missing data

# PUFAs concentrations by lipid classes

The distribution of PUFAs (18:2, 20:3, and 20:4) among the lipid classes was heterogeneous, and some of the lipid classes contained none of them (Cer, dhCer, LacCer, HexCer, SM) (**Figure 1**). In the phospholipid classes, 18:2 accounted for 10% (PEO) to 45% (PC) of the total FA concentration in each class (sum of all compounds containing 18:2 within the lipid

class). TG and CE had a median proportion of 46% and 39% of 18:2, respectively, while other classes had considerably lower proportions. In all classes, 20:3 had less than 8% abundance. 20:4 was particularly abundant in PI (48%) and PE subclasses (40% of PEP, 32% of PEO, and 26% of other PE), whereas lower concentrations were found in CE (8%) and FFA (0.4%).



Figure 1. Fatty acid abundance (%) in each lipid class (subcohort n=1137)

## **Correlation of PUFAs concentrations across lipid classes**

Correlations between PUFAs within a class appeared class-dependent (**Supplementary Figure S3A**). For example, 20:3 and 20:4 (biochemically connected through a desaturation step ) were most strongly positively correlated in CE (r=0.83) and PI (r=0.79), but less so in PE, MG and PEO (**Supplementary Figure S3B**). Correlations of individual PUFAs across lipid classes were strongest between DG and TG. For example, DG(18:2) was positively correlated with TG(18:2) (r=0.88), as well as DG(20:4) with TG(20:4) (r=0.84). However, these lipids were not significantly correlated with the same FA in the phospholipid classes.

#### Longitudinal associations with T2D risk

In Cox regression models adjusted for potential confounders and corresponding lipid class sum (thus, reflecting FA abundance within lipid classes), the associations of PUFAs with incident T2D differed according to the lipid class (**Figure 2, Supplementary Table S2**). Higher 18:2 abundance was inversely associated with T2D risk, particularly in LPC(18:2), DG(18:2), and TG(18:2), however, MG(18:2) was positively associated with T2D risk. Total plasma 18:2, total phospholipids 18:2, and some phospholipids classes, traditionally measured to evaluate 18:2 concentrations, were weakly inversely associated with T2D. Higher 20:3 abundance was positively associated with T2D risk in most classes (PC(20:3), PE(20:3), PEP(20:3), PI(20:3), FFA(20:3), CE(20:3), and MG(20:3)), except for DG(20:3) and TG(20:3). The concentration of 20:4 in total plasma, total phospholipids, and most lipid classes appeared not associated with T2D risk, but PEO(20:4) and FFA(20:4) were positively associated with T2D risk. These associations were not influenced by sex (all p-interaction >0.1) or further adjustments for odd chain FA or FA in the de novo lipogenesis pathway (**Supplementary Figure S4**).



#### Figure 2. Associations of PUFAs and delta-5 desaturase activities with type 2 diabetes.

Hazard ratios per 1 standard deviation higher plasma concentration, derived from models adjusted for age (as underlying time variable), sex, waist circumference, height, leisure-time physical activity (hours/week), highest achieved education level (in or no training, skilled worker, technical school, or university degree), smoking status (never, past, current, <20 cigarettes/day, or current >20 cigarettes/day), alcohol intake (0, 0.1–5.0, 5.1–10.0, 10.1–20.0, 20.1–40.0, or >40.0 g/d), fasting status at blood draw, total energy intake, blood pressure (systolic and diastolic), blood lipids (TC, HDL-C and standard clinical TG -except in the TG class), antihypertensive medication, lipid-lowering medication, acetylsalicylic acid medication, and respective lipid class sum (subcohort n=1137, cases=775)

#### Estimated desaturases activity, FADS genotypes, and T2D risk

We found the highest estimated D5D activity (20:4/20:3 ratio) in PE and the subclasses PEP, PEO, followed by CE and other phospholipids classes (PI, LPE, PC), whereas it was lowest in MG (**Supplementary Figure S5**). When correlating estimated D5D activity between different classes, highest correlations were among PC, LPC, and CE (r=0.81-0.87), while the correlations of estimated D5D activity in MG with those in all the other classes were low (r≤0.10) (**Supplementary Figure S6**). Higher estimated D5D activity was significantly associated with reduced T2D risk when determined in phospholipid classes (PC, PE, PEP, PI) and CE, but not in the other lipid classes (**Figure 2**). The inverse association appeared strongest in CE (HR per SD: 0.78, 95% CI: 0.68-0.89) (**Supplementary Table S2**).

Genetic analysis revealed that SNPs within the *FADS* gene region explain variance in the estimated D5D activity, depending on lipid class: 10-18% in phospholipid classes (PC, PI, LPC, PEP, and PE), 15% in CE, 9% in FFA, 5-7% in LPE and PEO, and  $\leq$ 3% in glycerolipids (**Supplementary Table S3**).

#### DISCUSSION

In this cohort study, we evaluated associations of n-6 PUFA in the lipidome, including 15 lipid classes and two subclasses, with T2D risk. 18:2 was highly abundant in phospholipid classes (particularly PC), CE, and TG; 20:3 represented a small fraction of FA in most lipid classes, whereas 20:4 accounted for a large proportion of circulating PI and PE. DG(18:2) and TG(18:2) were highly intercorrelated and both inversely associated with T2D risk. While LPC(18:2) was also significantly inversely associated with T2D risk, potentially inverse associations of 18:2 in other phospholipids classes did not reach statistical significance. In contrast, a positive association was observed for MG(18:2). Higher concentrations of 20:3 were associated with higher diabetes risk across most lipid classes, except for DG(20:3) and TG(20:3). 20:4 was unrelated to risk in most lipid classes, although positive associations were observed for PEO(20:4) and FFA(20:4). Explained variance of estimated D5D activity by genomic variation in the *FADS* locus was the highest in PC, PI, LPC, PEP, PE and CE, in which the estimated D5D activity was inversely associated with T2D.

The heterogeneous integration of n-6 PUFAs into lipids across different lipid classes is influenced by diet, endogenous synthesis, preferential oxidation of certain FAs, and the

adipose tissue's metabolic regulation of uptake and release. In the case of phospholipids, the different FA compositions and, therefore, varying membrane properties are regulated by the specificity/selectivity of the enzymes in the phospholipid biosynthesis or remodelling pathways (21). Our results align with previous evidence showing that PI had the highest enrichment of 20:4n-6 of all phospholipids (22), attributed to the acyl chain remodelling by acyltransferases (acyl-CoA:l-acyl-GPC acyltransferase) that selectively incorporate 20:4n-6 into PI (23). In contrast, 20:4n-6 is a poor substrate for TG synthesis (22), as reflected in the low concentrations of TAG(20:4) in our data. Another example of acyltransferase is the lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT), catalyser of the synthesis of CE by transferring one FA from PC to CE, with specificity for 18:2n-6 (24), which explains our observation of a high concentration of 18:2 in CE (39%) and the positive correlation between CE(18:2) and PC(18:2). The LCAT specificity is lower for 20:4n-6, explaining the lower proportion of 20:4 in CE (8%). The diverse distribution of PUFAs across the lipid classes supports the notion of a differential role and metabolic control of PUFAs in the different lipid compartments.

Associations of n-6 PUFAs with T2D risk varied in direction, strength, and precision across different lipid classes. The 18:2n-6 levels in total phospholipids and total serum have been previously related to reduced risk of T2D in prospective cohort studies (5, 6). Our findings indicate that the inverse association of phospholipid 18:2 and T2D is mainly observable in LPC. Other prospective cohort studies have linked higher concentrations of LPC(18:2) with a lower T2D risk (25-28). Noteworthy, LPC(18:2) has also been associated with lower coronary heart disease risk (29). Although the mechanisms underlying the protective effects of LPC(18:2) are not well understood, LPC(18:2) was inversely associated with C-reactive protein and plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 in humans (29). Other LPC metabolites have been reported to stimulate glucose uptake in adipocytes improving glycemia in mice (30).

Our observation of an inverse association of TG(18:2) with T2D risk is in line with a previous prospective analysis in Finnish men (HR= 0.87), although this association was not statistically significant (11). Stable isotope studies indicate that FA in TG reflect dietary FA intake (31), and we have recently shown that higher intake (10% vs 4% energy) of (mainly) n-6 PUFAs increased the concentrations of TG(18:2) in a randomised trial (10). In another intervention study, a diet rich in n-6 PUFA influenced plasma TG(18:2), along with total phospholipids(18:2), CE(18:2), and FFA(18:2) (32). Even though DG(18:2) was not reported in those studies, DG(18:2) was strongly positively correlated with TG(18:2) in our study. Consequently, the inverse associations observed for different 18:2 containing lipids likely reflect the beneficial effects of dietary intake of 18:2n-6 (2, 3).

Noteworthy, MG(18:2) was positively associated with T2D incidence, consistent with previous prospective cohort studies (33). MGs, in general, have been reported to have adverse effects even when containing FA that are protective in other classes (10). MGs have been linked to the control of insulin secretion (34), but mechanistic studies are warranted to explain the opposite T2D risk association of MG(18:2) compared to other 18:2-containing lipid metabolites. Noteworthy, MG(18:2) was linked to a higher coronary heart disease risk, supported by Mendelian randomisation analysis (29).

In our study, higher concentrations of 20:3 were related to an increased T2D risk in most lipid classes. These findings are consistent with prospective studies using total plasma phospholipids (5, 11), total serum (35), and CE (11, 12). We did not find significant associations of 20:3 in TG, similar to one previous study (11). In contrast to the widely available 18:2n-6, dietary intake of 20:3n-6 is negligible. The fact that plasma 20:3n-6 was not increased after diets supplemented with 18:2n-6 (36, 37) suggests that endogenous regulation has more impact on plasma 20:3n-6 concentrations than the dietary intake of the substrate for its endogenous production. In previous analyses, we detected minor influence of dietary PUFA content on 20:3-containing plasma lipids (10). Lower concentrations of 20:3n-6 may result from a reduced enzymatic conversion of its precursors (18:2n-6 and 18:3n-6) or increased desaturation of 20:3n-6 to form 20:4n-6 (4).

Our finding that 20:4 enrichment in most phospholipids classes and CE was not associated with T2D risk is consistent with other prospective cohort studies that measured 20:4n-6 in total phospholipids and CE (5, 6). Nonetheless, in our research, PEO(20:4) was associated with higher T2D risk. The exact mechanism of this association is not evident. We also observed a positive association of plasma FFA(20:4) with T2D risk. In a cross-sectional study, individuals with T2D had higher concentrations of FFA(20:4) compared to controls (38), and FFA(20:4) was higher in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance (39). Still, large prospective cohort studies to compare our results are lacking. Higher secretion of 20:4n-6 from adipose tissue in fasting state and reduced 20:4n-6 uptake and turnover are possible explanations for higher plasma FFA(20:4) concentration (22). FFA(20:4n-6) concentration may be more regulated than other predominant FFA, as suggested by greater stability in its levels (40).

Apart from its role in eicosanoid signalling, 20:4n-6 is involved in gene expression and, because it is part of phospholipids in cell membranes, it influences the cell properties. Endogenous production of 20:4n-6 (and therefore the decrease in the concentration of 20:3n6) is regulated by the enzyme D5D, whose activity is commonly estimated with productprecursor fatty acid ratios in different lipid pools in epidemiological studies. The high intercorrelations between the estimated D5D activities in CE and phospholipids classes in the present study confirm results from a previous study (41). In another study, the correlation between D5D in serum total phospholipids and serum FFA was moderate (r=0.31) (42), similar to our observed correlations between plasma phospholipids classes and plasma FFA (r=0.25-0.48). The estimated D5D activities in CE and in adipose tissue were reported to be only moderately correlated (r=0.36) (14). Assuming FFA in plasma are a marker of adipose tissue FA composition, our results are comparable (correlation CE and FFA: r=0.42).

Previous prospective cohort studies observed inverse associations of the estimated D5D activity with T2D risk for total phospholipids (5, 11). Our study confirms and extends these findings by detailing PC, PE, and PI as the phospholipid classes with stronger inverse associations. Estimated D5D activity in CE was also inversely associated in our study as in earlier research (11). We also found that the estimated D5D activities in phospholipids classes and CE were more strongly influenced by genomic variance within the *FADS* locus than the activity estimated in other lipid classes. *FADS1* variants have previously been associated with the estimated D5D activities in plasma phospholipids (8), individual phospholipids species (PC, PE, PI) (13) and CE (14). The consistent associations of estimated D5D activities in plasma phospholipids and CE with T2D risk and with *FADS* variants support that FA composition in these lipid classes reflects the pathogenic involvement of PUFA metabolism in T2D aetiology. In our study, *FADS* variants were not related to D5D activity in glycerolipids (MG, DG, and TG). Thus, FA in glycerolipids may not reflect desaturase activity.

A major strength of the present study is the comprehensive lipidomics data, with three PUFA concentrations that likely reflect 18:2n-6, 20:3n-6, and 20:4n-6 determined across 13 lipid classes in the context of a large prospective cohort study on incident diabetes. However, our study has some limitations. As we focused on relative concentrations of specific PUFA-containing lipids, higher concentrations of one particular lipid may actually be reflecting lower concentrations of other lipids within the class. Still, in our sensitivity analysis, we adjusted for FA commonly associated with T2D (odd-chain SFA, FA from de novo lipogenesis), and the associations remained largely unchanged. Our lipidomics data did not provide information about the conformation (n-3 versus n-6) of the lipids. However, we examined the correlations with several n-6 PUFA measured in total phospholipids by GC in the same study population and found high correlations, supporting that our exposures reflect n-6 PUFA. For lipids with more than one fatty acid (PC, PE, DG, TG), we only considered

one FA, thus, our modelling approach is not sensitive to potential interaction between the FA bound in the same lipid metabolite. Lastly, the population was predominantly white from one region in Germany, limiting the generalisability of the data.

In conclusion, our results indicate a complex variability in the n-6 PUFAs incorporation into different plasma lipid classes. We provide evidence that n-6 PUFAs are associated differently with T2D incidence depending on the specific FA and the lipid class. 18:2 was mostly related to lower T2D risk, most strongly in LPCs, DGs, and TGs. In contrast, MG(18:2) was related to higher T2D risk. While 20:3 was linked to higher risk in most lipid classes, 20:4 was rather neutral – with the exception of PEO(20:4) and FFA(20:4) being associated with higher T2D risk. . Evaluation of estimated D5D activities and *FADS* gene variants further support that the plasma lipidome is an important reflection of T2D-related PUFA metabolism.
## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS

Table S1: Concentrations of the sum of each polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) across all the different lipid classes measured in total plasma from the subcohort participants (n = 1137)

Table S2: Prospective associations of PUFAs and desaturases activities with type 2 diabetes (subcohort n = 1137, cases= 775)

Table S3: Associations between rs174546\* (*FADS1*) and estimated delta-5 desaturase activity in different classes in subcohort participants (n = 1137)

Figure S1: Participant flow chart

Figure S2: Correlations between n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids concentrations measured in plasma phospholipids by gas chromatography with the concentrations of lipids containing the same fatty acid in each lipid class (measured by mass spectrometry, Metabolon Complex Lipid Panel), based on the subcohort population (n=1137)

Figure S3: (A) Network showing intercorrelations between lipids containing polyunsaturated fatty acids and (B) Intraclass correlations (lipids from the same class with different FA) and interclass correlations (lipids from different classes containing the same FA), based on the subcohort population (n=1137)

Figure S4: Sensitivity analysis of n-6 PUFAs in different classes and their associations with type 2 diabetes

Figure S5. Estimated desaturases activity (ratio of 20:4/20:3) in each lipid class

Figure S6. Intercorrelations between D5D estimated activity (ratio of 20:4/20:3) in different lipid classes

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the Human Study Centre (HSC) of the German Institute of Human Nutrition Potsdam-Rehbrücke, namely the trustee and the data hub for the processing, and the participants for the provision of the data, the biobank for the processing of the biological samples and the head of the HSC, Manuela Bergmann, for the contribution to the study design and leading the underlying processes of data generation.

#### FUNDING

This work was supported by a grant from the European Commission and the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research within the Joint Programming Initiative A Healthy Diet for a Healthy Life, within the ERA-HDHL cofounded joint call Biomarkers for Nutrition and Health (01EA1704), grants from the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research and the State of Brandenburg to the German Center for Diabetes Research (DZD) (82DZD00302,

82DZD03D03). Clemens Wittenbecher was supported by an individual fellowship from the German Research Foundation (DFG).

# **CONFLICTS OF INTEREST**

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTION STATEMENT

Conceptualisation, M.P., F.E. and M.B.S.; Methodology, M.P., F.E., C.W, and O.K.; Software, M.P., F.E., C.W. and O.K.; Formal Analysis, M.P. and F.E.; Investigation, M.P. and F.E.; Resources, M.B.S.; Data Curation, M.P., F.E., C.W. and O.K.; Writing – Original Draft Preparation, M.P.; Writing – Review & Editing, M.B.S, F.E., C.W and O.K.; Visualization, F.E.; Supervision, M.B.S.; Project Administration, M.B.S.; Funding Acquisition, M.B.S.

All authors critically revised the manuscript and approved the final version to be published. MP takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the analyses.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets analysed during the current study are not publicly available due to data protection regulations. In accordance with German Federal and State data protection regulations, epidemiological data analyses of EPIC-Potsdam may be initiated upon an informal inquiry addressed to the secretariat of the Human Study Center (office.hsz@dife.de). Each request will then have to pass a formal process of application and review by the respective principal investigator and a scientific board.

# REFERENCES

1. Harris WS, Mozaffarian D, Rimm E, Kris-Etherton P, Rudel LL, Appel LJ, et al. Omega-6 fatty acids and risk for cardiovascular disease: a science advisory from the American Heart Association Nutrition Subcommittee of the Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism; Council on Cardiovascular Nursing; and Council on Epidemiology and Prevention. Circulation. 2009;119(6):902-7.

2. Schulze MB. Dietary Linoleic Acid: Will Modifying Dietary Fat Quality Reduce the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes? Diabetes Care. 2021;44(9):1913-5.

3. Mousavi SM, Jalilpiran Y, Karimi E, Aune D, Larijani B, Mozaffarian D, et al. Dietary Intake of Linoleic Acid, Its Concentrations, and the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Dose-Response Meta-analysis of Prospective Cohort Studies. Diabetes Care. 2021;44(9):2173-81.

4. Schulze MB, Minihane AM, Saleh RNM, Risérus U. Intake and metabolism of omega-3 and omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids: nutritional implications for cardiometabolic diseases. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2020;8(11):915-30.

5. Forouhi NG, Imamura F, Sharp SJ, Koulman A, Schulze MB, Zheng J, et al. Association of Plasma Phospholipid n-3 and n-6 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids with Type 2 Diabetes: The EPIC-InterAct Case-Cohort Study. PLoS Med. 2016;13(7):e1002094.

6. Wu JHY, Marklund M, Imamura F, Tintle N, Ardisson Korat AV, de Goede J, et al. Omega-6 fatty acid biomarkers and incident type 2 diabetes: pooled analysis of individuallevel data for 39 740 adults from 20 prospective cohort studies. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2017;5(12):965-74.

7. Kröger J, Schulze MB. Recent insights into the relation of  $\Delta 5$  desaturase and  $\Delta 6$  desaturase activity to the development of type 2 diabetes. Curr Opin Lipidol. 2012;23(1):4-10.

8. Jäger S, Cuadrat R, Hoffmann P, Wittenbecher C, Schulze MB. Desaturase Activity and the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes and Coronary Artery Disease: A Mendelian Randomization Study. Nutrients. 2020;12(8).

9. Prada M, Wittenbecher C, Eichelmann F, Wernitz A, Drouin-Chartier J-P, Schulze MB. Association of the odd-chain fatty acid content in lipid groups with type 2 diabetes risk: A targeted analysis of lipidomics data in the EPIC-Potsdam cohort. Clinical Nutrition. 2021;40(8):4988-99.

10. Eichelmann F, Sellem L, Wittenbecher C, Jäger S, Kuxhaus O, Prada M, et al. Deep Lipidomics in Human Plasma - Cardiometabolic Disease Risk and Effect of Dietary Fat Modulation. Circulation.0(0).

11. Lankinen MA, Stančáková A, Uusitupa M, Ågren J, Pihlajamäki J, Kuusisto J, et al. Plasma fatty acids as predictors of glycaemia and type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2015;58(11):2533-44.

12. Wang L, Folsom AR, Zheng Z-J, Pankow JS, Eckfeldt JH, ARIC Study Investigators. Plasma fatty acid composition and incidence of diabetes in middle-aged adults: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2003;78(1):91-8.

13. Gieger C, Geistlinger L, Altmaier E, Hrabé de Angelis M, Kronenberg F, Meitinger T, et al. Genetics meets metabolomics: a genome-wide association study of metabolite profiles in human serum. PLoS Genet. 2008;4(11):e1000282-e.

14. Marklund M, Morris AP, Mahajan A, Ingelsson E, Lindgren CM, Lind L, et al. Genome-Wide Association Studies of Estimated Fatty Acid Desaturase Activity in Serum and Adipose Tissue in Elderly Individuals: Associations with Insulin Sensitivity. Nutrients. 2018;10(11):1791.

15. Boeing H, Korfmann A, Bergmann MM. Recruitment procedures of EPIC-Germany. European Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Annals of nutrition & metabolism. 1999;43(4):205-15. 16. Wittenbecher C, Cuadrat R, Johnston L, Eichelmann F, Jäger S, Kuxhaus O, et al. Dihydroceramide- and ceramide-profiling provides insights into human cardiometabolic disease etiology. Nat Commun. 2022;13(1):936.

17. Lazar C. ImputeLCMD: A Collection of Methods for Left-Censored Missing Data Imputation. In R Package, Version 2.0. 2015 [Available from: : <u>https://cran.r-</u> project.org/web/packages/imputeLCMD/imputeLCMD.pdf.

18. Kalisch M, Mächler M, Colombo D, Maathuis MH, Bühlmann P. Causal inference using graphical models with the R package pcalg. Journal of Statistical Software. 2012;47(11):1-26.

19. Prentice RL. A case-cohort design for epidemiologic cohort studies and disease prevention trials. Biometrika. 1986;73:1-11.

20. Imamura F, Fretts AM, Marklund M, Ardisson Korat AV, Yang WS, Lankinen M, et al. Fatty acids in the de novo lipogenesis pathway and incidence of type 2 diabetes: A pooled analysis of prospective cohort studies. PLoS Med. 2020;17(6):e1003102.

21. MacDonald JI, Sprecher H. Phospholipid fatty acid remodeling in mammalian cells. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1991;1084(2):105-21.

22. Zhou L, Nilsson Å. Sources of eicosanoid precursor fatty acid pools in tissues. Journal of Lipid Research. 2001;42(10):1521-42.

23. Barneda D, Cosulich S, Stephens L, Hawkins P. How is the acyl chain composition of phosphoinositides created and does it matter? Biochem Soc Trans. 2019;47(5):1291-305.

24. Sgoutas DS. Fatty acid specificity of plasma phosphatidylcholine: cholesterol acyltransferase. Biochemistry. 1972;11(2):293-6.

25. Yang SJ, Kwak S-Y, Jo G, Song T-J, Shin M-J. Serum metabolite profile associated with incident type 2 diabetes in Koreans: findings from the Korean Genome and Epidemiology Study. Scientific Reports. 2018;8(1):8207.

26. Suvitaival T, Bondia-Pons I, Yetukuri L, Pöhö P, Nolan JJ, Hyötyläinen T, et al. Lipidome as a predictive tool in progression to type 2 diabetes in Finnish men. Metabolism. 2018;78:1-12.

27. Wang-Sattler R, Yu Z, Herder C, Messias AC, Floegel A, He Y, et al. Novel biomarkers for pre-diabetes identified by metabolomics. Mol Syst Biol. 2012;8:615-.

28. Razquin C, Toledo E, Clish CB, Ruiz-Canela M, Dennis C, Corella D, et al. Plasma Lipidomic Profiling and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes in the PREDIMED Trial. Diabetes Care. 2018;41(12):2617-24.

29. Ganna A, Salihovic S, Sundström J, Broeckling CD, Hedman AK, Magnusson PKE, et al. Large-scale metabolomic profiling identifies novel biomarkers for incident coronary heart disease. PLoS Genet. 2014;10(12):e1004801-e.

30. Yea K, Kim J, Yoon JH, Kwon T, Kim JH, Lee BD, et al. Lysophosphatidylcholine activates adipocyte glucose uptake and lowers blood glucose levels in murine models of diabetes. J Biol Chem. 2009;284(49):33833-40.

31. Heath RB, Karpe F, Milne RW, Burdge GC, Wootton SA, Frayn KN. Selective partitioning of dietary fatty acids into the VLDL TG pool in the early postprandial period. Journal of Lipid Research. 2003;44(11):2065-72.

32. Hodson L, Eyles HC, McLachlan KJ, Bell ML, Green TJ, Skeaff CM. Plasma and Erythrocyte Fatty Acids Reflect Intakes of Saturated and n–6 PUFA within a Similar Time Frame. J Nutr. 2013;144(1):33-41.

33. Fall T, Salihovic S, Brandmaier S, Nowak C, Ganna A, Gustafsson S, et al. Nontargeted metabolomics combined with genetic analyses identifies bile acid synthesis and phospholipid metabolism as being associated with incident type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2016;59(10):2114-24. 34. Zhao S, Poursharifi P, Mugabo Y, Levens EJ, Vivot K, Attane C, et al.  $\alpha/\beta$ -Hydrolase domain-6 and saturated long chain monoacylglycerol regulate insulin secretion promoted by both fuel and non-fuel stimuli. Mol Metab. 2015;4(12):940-50.

35. Yary T, Voutilainen S, Tuomainen TP, Ruusunen A, Nurmi T, Virtanen JK. Serum n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids,  $\Delta 5$ - and  $\Delta 6$ -desaturase activities, and risk of incident type 2 diabetes in men: the Kuopio Ischaemic Heart Disease Risk Factor Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2016;103(5):1337-43.

36. Lasserre M, Mendy F, Spielmann D, Jacotot B. Effects of different dietary intake of essential fatty acids on C20:3 omega 6 and C20:4 omega 6 serum levels in human adults. Lipids. 1985;20(4):227-33.

37. Montoya MT, Porres A, Serrano S, Fruchart JC, Mata P, Gerique JA, et al. Fatty acid saturation of the diet and plasma lipid concentrations, lipoprotein particle concentrations, and cholesterol efflux capacity. Am J Clin Nutr. 2002;75(3):484-91.

38. Sobczak AIS, Katundu KGH, Phoenix FA, Khazaipoul S, Yu R, Lampiao F, et al. Albumin-mediated alteration of plasma zinc speciation by fatty acids modulates blood clotting in type-2 diabetes. Chem Sci. 2021;12(11):4079-93.

39. Zhao X, Fritsche J, Wang J, Chen J, Rittig K, Schmitt-Kopplin P, et al. Metabonomic fingerprints of fasting plasma and spot urine reveal human pre-diabetic metabolic traits. Metabolomics. 2010;6(3):362-74.

40. Hallaq Y, Szczepiorkowski ZM, Teruya J, Cluette-Brown JE, Laposata M. Stability of plasma nonesterified arachidonate in healthy individuals in fasting and nonfasting states. Clinical Chemistry. 1996;42(5):771-3.

41. Gray RG, Kousta E, McCarthy MI, Godsland IF, Venkatesan S, Anyaoku V, et al. Ethnic variation in the activity of lipid desaturases and their relationships with cardiovascular risk factors in control women and an at-risk group with previous gestational diabetes mellitus: a cross-sectional study. Lipids Health Dis. 2013;12:25-.

42. Warensjö E, Rosell M, Hellenius ML, Vessby B, De Faire U, Risérus U. Associations between estimated fatty acid desaturase activities in serum lipids and adipose tissue in humans: links to obesity and insulin resistance. Lipids Health Dis. 2009;8:37.

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

# Plasma lipidomic n-6 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids and Type 2 Diabetes Risk in the EPIC Potsdam Prospective Cohort Study

Marcela Prada; Fabian Eichelmann; Clemens Wittenbecher; Olga Kuxhaus; Matthias B.

Schulze

Variable	Median (µM)	25th Percentile	75th Percentile
Total 18:2	46.82	41.01	55.05
Total 18:3	2.69	2.08	3.58
Total 20:2	0.50	0.39	0.62
Total 20:3	3.27	2.67	3.99
Total 20:4	13.49	11.31	15.95
Total 22:2	0.02	0.02	0.03
Total 22:4	0.34	0.28	0.42
Total 22:5	1.27	1.04	1.51

Table S1. Concentrations of the sum of each polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) across all the different lipid classes measured in total plasma from the subcohort participants (n = 1137)

Table S2. Prospective associations of PUFAs and desaturases activities with type 2 diabetes (subcohort n = 1137, cases= 775)

Damamatar			Hazard Ratios (95% C	Confidence Intervals) *	
		18:2	20:3	20:4	D5D
Total plasma	Model 1 Model 2	1.53 (1.37-1.71) 0.81 (0.62-1.06)	2.05 (1.81-2.33) 1.48 (1.16-1.89)	1.47 (1.32-1.65) 1.03 (0.85-1.24)	0.60 (0.54-0.67) 0.84 (0.73-0.96)
Total phospholipids	Model 1 Model 2	0.95 (0.84-1.08) 0.81 (0.64-1.03)	1.90 (1.66-2.16) 1.65 (1.29-2.10)	$1.30\ (1.16-1.47)$ $1.08\ (0.87-1.35)$	$0.62 (0.56-0.70) \\ 0.84 (0.73-0.96)$
PC	Model 1 Model 2	$0.96\ (0.85-1.09)\ 0.83\ (0.66-1.05)$	1.86 (1.63-2.11) 1.61 (1.27-2.05)	1.27 (1.14-1.43) 1.05 (0.85-1.30)	0.62 (0.56-0.69) 0.84 (0.73-0.96)
PE	Model 1 Model 2	1.37 (1.21-1.54) 0.84 (0.64-1.12)	1.84 (1.63-2.07) 1.63 (1.22-2.17)	1.49 (1.32-1.67) 0.92 (0.65-1.29)	0.69 (0.62-0.76) 0.82 (0.72-0.94)
PEP	Model 1 Model 2	0.89 (0.81-0.99) 0.91 (0.74-1.11)	1.27 (1.15-1.41) 1.42 (1.13-1.79)	1.14 (1.03-1.26) 1.19 (0.80-1.76)	0.81 (0.73-0.91) 0.86 (0.76-0.98)
PEO	Model 1 Model 2	0.90 (0.82-1.00) 0.95 (0.79-1.13)	1.21 (1.09-1.34) 1.19 (0.96-1.46)	1.07 (0.97-1.18) 1.36 (1.00-1.84)	0.81 (0.73-0.90) 0.95 (0.83-1.09)
PI	Model 1 Model 2	1.08 (0.97-1.21) 0.83 (0.69-1.01)	1.56 (1.39-1.76) 1.28 (1.02-1.59)	$1.37 (1.21-1.54) \\ 0.91 (0.70-1.19)$	0.78 (0.70-0.86) 0.86 (0.76-0.98)
LPC	Model 1 Model 2	0.62 (0.56-0.69) 0.69 (0.54-0.90)	$1.06\ (0.95-1.18)$ $1.14\ (0.94-1.40)$	0.83 (0.75-0.93) 0.95 (0.77-1.16)	0.71 (0.63-0.79) 0.88 (0.78-1.00)
LPE	Model 1 Model 2	0.84 (0.75-0.93) 1.22 (0.88-1.71)	1.07 (0.96-1.18) 1.21 (0.98-1.48)	$0.94\ (0.84-1.04)\ 1.06\ (0.85-1.34)$	$0.83 (0.74-0.93) \\ 0.93 (0.82-1.05)$

FFA	Model 1	1.14(1.04-1.26)	1.38 (1.25-1.53)	1.36 (1.22-1.51)	$0.89\ (0.81-0.98)$
	Model 2	0.93 (0.80-1.09)	1.28 (1.05-1.55)	1.30 (1.06-1.59)	1.01 (0.88-1.16)
CE	Model 1	1.24 (1.12-1.37)	1.61 (1.43-1.80)	1.21 (1.08-1.35)	0.60 (0.53-0.67)
	Model 2	0.95 (0.72-1.24)	1.45 (1.13-1.86)	0.92 (0.74-1.15)	0.78 (0.68-0.89)
MG	Model 1	1.87 (1.64-2.13)	1.51 (1.36-1.68)	1.51 (1.36-1.69)	1.15 (1.05-1.26)
	Model 2	1.40 (1.16-1.67)	1.22 (1.06-1.41)	1.11 (0.95-1.29)	0.95 (0.84-1.07)
DG	Model 1	1.95 (1.74-2.19)	1.76 (1.58-1.96)	1.92 (1.72-2.14)	1.35 (1.21-1.50)
	Model 2	0.68 (0.50-0.93)	0.77 (0.61-0.98)	0.89 (0.70-1.12)	1.09 (0.96-1.23)
TG	Model 1	1.86 (1.67-2.09)	2.04 (1.82-2.29)	2.14 (1.91-2.40)	1.07 (0.97-1.19)
	Model 2	0.52 (0.36-0.74)	1.04 (0.73-1.49)	1.06(0.80-1.40)	1.01 (0.90-1.14)

\*Hazard ratio (HR) and 95% confidence interval (CI) per 1 standard deviation higher plasma concentration of each parameter, derived from covariable-adjusted models: Model 1: for age (as underlying time variable) and sex

10.0, 10.1–20.0, 20.1–40.0, or >40.0 g/d), fasting status at blood draw, total energy intake, blood pressure (systolic and diastolic), blood lipids (TC, HDL-C and standard clinical Model 2: for age (as underlying time variable), sex, waist circumference, height, leisure-time physical activity (hours/week), highest achieved education level (in or no training, skilled worker, technical school, or university degree), smoking status (never, past, current, <20 cigarettes/day, or current >20 cigarettes/day), alcohol intake (0, 0.1–5.0, 5.1– TG -except in the TG class), antihypertensive medication, lipid-lowering medication, acetylsalicylic acid medication, and respective lipid class sum

Lipid Class	Beta estimate	p-value	R squared
			(Explained variance)
PC	-0.53	7.54E-51	0.18
PI	-0.75	1.3E-47	0.16
LPC	-0.24	4.26E-45	0.16
CE	-0.57	8.11E-44	0.15
PEP	-1.30	2.85E-42	0.15
PE	-0.95	2.45E-28	0.10
FFA	-0.14	2.04E-25	0.09
LPE	-0.44	2.43E-20	0.07
PEO	-1.34	6.48E-16	0.05
TG	-0.11	7.62E-09	0.03
DG	0.00	0.90544	0.0003
MG	0.00	0.963385	0.0002

Table S3. Associations between rs174546\* (FADS1) and estimated delta-5 desaturase activity in different classes in subcohort participants (n = 1137)

\* rs174546 was a lead SNP selected as a proxy of FADS1 SNPs



# **Figure S1. Participant flow chart** T2D, Type 2 diabetes



Figure S2. Correlations between n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids concentrations measured in plasma phospholipids by gas chromatography <sup>1</sup> with the concentrations of lipids containing the same fatty acid in each lipid class (measured by mass spectrometry, Metabolon Complex Lipid Panel)<sup>2</sup>, based on the subcohort population (n=1137)

<sup>1</sup> Relative proportion of total plasma phospholipids

<sup>2</sup> Relative proportion of total fatty acids within each class (%)



**Figure S3.** (**A**) Network showing intercorrelations between lipids containing polyunsaturated fatty acids and (**B**) Intraclass correlations (lipids from the same class with different FA) and interclass correlations (lipids from different classes containing the same FA), based on the subcohort population (n=1137)



# Figure S4. Sensitivity analysis of n-6 PUFAs in different classes and their associations with type 2 diabetes

**Model 1:** Fully adjusted model age (as underlying time variable), sex, waist circumference, height, leisure-time physical activity (hours/week), highest achieved education level (in or no training, skilled worker, technical school, or university degree), smoking status (never, past, current, <20 cigarettes/day, or current >20 cigarettes/day), alcohol intake (0, 0.1–5.0, 5.1–10.0, 10.1–20.0, 20.1–40.0, or >40.0 g/d), fasting status at blood draw, total energy intake, blood pressure (systolic and diastolic), blood lipids (TC, HDL-C and standard clinical TG -except in the TG class), antihypertensive medication, lipid-lowering medication, acetylsalicylic acid medication, and respective lipid class sum

Model 2: Model 1 with further adjustment for FAs: 15:0, 17:0, 16:0, 18:0, 16:1n-7c, 18:1n-7c



Figure S5. Estimated desaturases activity (ratio of 20:4/20:3) in each lipid class

	Ľ	Fr	Dh	DO	2	2 2	PF P	PED	OJ J	à	Jogy	Jd7
CE		0.42	0.03	0.13	0.36	0.87	0.61	0.60	0.46	0.64	0.81	0.66
FFA	0.42		-0.01	0.28	0.40	0.42	0.27	0.32	0.25	0.37	0.48	0.36
MG	0.03	-0.01		0.09	0.09	0.03	0.10	0.05	0.03	0.08	0.01	-0.01
DG	0.13	0.28	0.09		0.82	0.15	0.08	0.20	0.12	0.21	0.16	0.12
TG	0.36	0.40	0.09	0.82		0.41	0.31	0.35	0.23	0.43	0.41	0.28
PC	0.87	0.42	0.03	0.15	0.41		0.68	0.64	0.50	0.70	0.85	0.67
PE	0.61	0.27	0.10	0.08	0.31	0.68		0.77	0.58	0.78	0.51	0.23
PEP	0.60	0.32	0.05	0.20	0.35	0.64	0.77		0.61	0.73	0.58	0.41
PEO	0.46	0.25	0.03	0.12	0.23	0.50	0.58	0.61		0.52	0.43	0.30
PI	0.64	0.37	0.08	0.21	0.43	0.70	0.78	0.73	0.52		0.62	0.39
LPC	0.81	0.48	0.01	0.16	0.41	0.85	0.51	0.58	0.43	0.62		0.75
LPE	0.66	0.36	-0.01	0.12	0.28	0.67	0.23	0.41	0.30	0.39	0.75	

Figure S6. Intercorrelations between D5D estimated activity (ratio of 20:4/20:3) in different lipid classes

#### 5. Discussion

Plasma FAs have been associated with T2D risk, but associations remain poorly understood. Whether industrial TFAs and ruminant TFAs exert the same influence on T2D risk has been unclear. Higher plasma OCFA concentrations were inversely associated with T2D incidence when analysed in phospholipids, however, the OCFA distribution across a range of lipid classes was unknown, and evidence of the associations of the abundance of OCFAs in lipid classes with incident T2D was lacking. Similarly, several circulating n-6 PUFAs were linked to higher or lower T2D risk in prospective studies, depending on their conformation. An open question was whether the associations with T2D depend on the plasma fraction where n-6 PUFAs are measured.

To further understand these associations, this thesis includes the systematical analysis of the association of FAs (TFAs, OCFAs, and n-6 PUFAs) with self-reported dietary intake and prospective T2D risk. The novelty of my thesis relied on the depth of molecular profiling data. It included seven types of TFAs in plasma phospholipids and deep lipidomics profiling data from fifteen lipid classes in prospective nested case-cohort studies within the EPIC Potsdam Study. In each manuscript, the distribution and intercorrelation of the FAs and the prospective association with T2D risk in unprecedented detail and depth were examined. Moreover, the cross-sectional association of TFAs and OCFAs in plasma phospholipids with self-reported dietary intake was analysed. My results extend the evidence on the relationship between diet, lipid metabolism, and subsequent T2D risk. In addition, my work generated several potential new biomarkers of dietary intake and prospective T2D risk and provided insight into early diabetogenic pathways. The three manuscripts contributed to current research by (1) identifying contrasting robust associations of ruminant TFAs subtypes with T2D risk, (2) describing the abundance of OCFAs and PUFAs in diverse lipid classes, (3) discovering class-specific associations of OCFAs and PUFAs with T2D incidence, (4) analysing ruminant TFAs and OCFAs as potential biomarkers of dairy intake.

#### 5.1 Trans Fatty Acids (Manuscript 1)

#### **TFA subtypes**

In plasma phospholipids, we identified seven TFAs subtypes. Although most TFAs are found in ruminant and industrial fats, the proportions are different (22). Therefore, we classified 16:1n-7*t*, 18:1n-7*t*, *c*9*t*11-CLA, *t*10*c*12-CLA as ruminant TFA and 18:1n-6*t*, 18:1n-9*t*, 18:2n-6,9*t* as industrial TFA. From the ruminant TFAs, the most abundant was *c*9*t*11-CLA, followed by 18:1n-7*t*, and only a small portion was 16:1n-7*t*. The most abundant of the industrial TFAs was 18:1n-9*t*. The TFAs subtypes were intercorrelated with the other TFAs, other FAs, and different food sources. 16:1n-7*t*, 18:1n-7*t*, and *c*9*t*11-CLA were positively correlated with the intake of fat-rich dairy foods. Industrial TFA 18:1 isomers were positively correlated with margarine.

#### Not all ruminant TFAs are the same

In previous meta-analyses of prospective studies, total TFA intake was not associated with T2D risk (26, 61). Total TFA intake includes TFAs industrially and ruminant-derived subtypes. This thesis revealed that the association of TFA subtypes with T2D risk is heterogeneous. Numerous reports indicate that industrial TFA intake is linked with a higher risk of coronary heart disease and all-cause mortality (26), but prospective cohort studies of industrial TFAs and T2D incidence were lacking. When analysing circulating TFA subtypes in total plasma phospholipids, we found no indication of a harmful effect of the three industrial TFA subtypes on T2D risk. Still, it remains justified to recommend reducing industrial TFA intake and from the food supply as part of public health initiatives (62) because of their link with other outcomes (26).

The results in this thesis exposed diverse significant associations of ruminant TFAs with T2D risk. Ruminant TFA intake has been inversely associated with T2D risk in a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies (26); however, the five analysed studies only examined 16:1n-7*t* (63-67). In our study, 16:1n-7*t* was not associated with T2D risk when accounting for other TFAs and confounders in the regression models. Hence, the previously reported inverse associations of 16:1n-7*t* with T2D risk may have been confounded by unmeasured TFAs.

Moreover, novel and contrasting associations of the other three ruminant TFAs with T2D risk were identified. After adjustment for confounders and other TFAs, we found inverse associations of 18:1n-7t and t10c12-CLA with T2D incidence, whereas c9t11-CLA was associated positively. The directions of the associations remained unchanged when models were further adjusted for other FA biomarkers of dairy fat (15:0, 17:0), FAs in the de novo lipogenesis pathway, n-6 PUFAs, and major food correlates (butter, total dairy, margarine). These results provide novel evidence of the association of two CLA isomers in plasma with T2D incidence, as it has not been investigated in other large prospective cohort studies. Furthermore, the inverse associations between 18:1n-7t and T2D risk after accounting for

other TFAs are also novel. 18:1n-7*t* was not associated with T2D risk in the Cardiovascular Health Study (67), but their models did not account for other TFAs. Previous evidence on specific ruminant TFA subtypes, their effect on the risk of incident T2D, and the underlying mechanisms for these associations is sparse. The findings in this thesis indicate that further research should consider the TFA conformation carefully.

#### TFA as potential biomarkers of dairy intake

We found that c9t11-CLA was correlated with the same dairy fat sources (full-fat dairy, fullfat cheese, butter, desserts) as the other ruminant TFAs. 80% of CLA in dairy products is c9t11-CLA (68). In intervention studies, c9t11-CLA plasma concentration increased after consumption of cheddar cheese (69) and dairy products naturally enriched in CLA (by altering cattle feedings) (70-73). Besides dairy intake, the circulating c9t11-CLA concentration may be influenced by other factors, like endogenous synthesis or oxidation rate. c9t11-CLA (= c9,t11-18:2) is likely endogenously synthesised from 18:1n-7t (= t11-18:1) (74, 75). The strong association with increased T2D risk in our analysis provides a strong rationale to study determinants of plasma c9t11-CLA availability and its metabolic effects in depth.

Full-fat dairy intake was correlated with plasma phospholipid concentrations of 18:1n-7*t* and *t*10*c*12-CLA, which were associated with a lower risk of T2D. Adjustment for total dairy intake had only a minor impact on the TFA-T2D risk associations. Hence, these FAs may reflect T2D risk factors independent of total dairy intake. However, an alternative explanation for the robust T2D risk association is that FA biomarkers provide a more precise estimate of dairy intake than self-reported habitual consumption in FFQs, and thus, accounting for estimated dairy intake had little impact on the associations. In addition, these FAs may be mediators of potential protective effects of dairy intake (35) or indirect markers of other dairy components (e.g., calcium, vitamin D, proteins, fermentation products) (76). Controlled feeding trials assessing the effects of different dairy types on circulating TFA subtypes may provide conclusive evidence of their applicability as dairy intake biomarkers.

The fact that some ruminant TFA subtypes were associated with T2D in opposite directions could be attributable to being derived from different types of dairy products o dairy products with different TFA profiles. It has been reported that the type of dairy food consumed has different effects on T2D risk (35). For example, significant inverse associations were reported for cheese and yoghurt, while milk consumption showed no association with diabetes risk (35). In addition, the FA profile of the same type of dairy products can be modified through altered cattle feeding regimens. For example, the milk from cows that eat fresh forages, whole

oilseeds, or oil supplements have higher concentrations of c9t11-CLA (77), and cows eating fish and sunflower oil have higher 18:1n-7t (78). Other aspects influencing FA profile are cow genetics, season, farming conditions, and food processing (79). To validate these TFA as biomarkers of intake, it remains crucial to distinguish what exactly they are reflecting (total dairy, dairy fat, or specific dairy subgroups) and what determines their content in food sources and plasma.

## 5.2 Odd Chain Fatty Acids (Manuscript 2)

#### Plasma OCFAs distribution across the different lipid classes

The comprehensive lipidomics approach in this study detected OCFAs in the lipid classes of TG, FFA, CE, PC, PE, LPC, LPE, MG, and DG, but not in PI, Cer, dhCER, LacCer, HexCer, and SM. The integration of 15:0 and 17:0 in these lipid classes was heterogeneous. For example, although MGs represent merely 0.1% concentration of total plasma lipids, the relative OCFA abundance in MGs was more than ten times higher than other lipid classes and had a particular enrichment of 15:0. In phospholipid classes (LPC, PC, LPE, PE), 17:0 was more abundant than 15:0. The heterogeneous distribution of OCFAs across the examined lipid classes indicates complex metabolic regulation. Possible mechanisms include differences in the FA-selectivity of the synthesis and degradation enzymes across lipid classes.

#### Class-specific associations of OCFAs with T2D risk

Pooled analyses of prospective studies have reported inverse associations of 15:0 and 17:0 in total plasma phospholipids with T2D risk (27). Our results extend these findings through detailed analyses of the OCFA-T2D risk associations in specific phospholipid classes. We observed pronounced inverse associations of PC(15:0), PC(17:0), and LPC(17:0) with T2D risk, suggesting enrichment in these specific lipid classes as potential drivers of the inverse association of total plasma phospholipid OCFAs with T2D risk in previous reports. Noteworthy, PC was the most abundant phospholipid and LPC, derived from PC (80), was the third most abundant.

Phospholipids, the main components of cell membranes and part of the surface layer of lipoproteins, play an essential role in cellular signalling (19). The FA composition of PC (and hence a large part of cell membranes) may modulate insulin action (81). LPC are predominantly part of high-density lipoproteins (HDL). The lipid profile of the HDL surface

may influence their polarity, which could contribute to HDL dysfunctionality (82), an aspect that has been implicated with T2D (83). In a cross-sectional analysis, LPC(17:0) was significantly lower in individuals with T2D than in individuals without T2D (84), and in a prospective cohort study, LPC(17:0) was inversely associated with T2D risk (85). Moreover, LPC(17:0) was also inversely associated with incident myocardial infarction (86). Future research on LPC(17:0) as a potential cardiometabolic risk biomarker is warranted.

Moreover, plasma concentrations of the glycerolipids MG(15:0) and DG(15:0) were associated with lower T2D risk. It is unknown if MG(15:0) and DG(15:0) correlate with 15:0 in plasma phospholipids and reflect the same protective effects for T2D incidence (27, 31). Surprisingly, it was not the case for 15:0 as part of TG. In fact, TG(15:0) was associated with a higher risk in men. TG(15:0) was inversely correlated to 15:0 in plasma phospholipids in a cross-sectional study (87). These contrasting associations of 15:0 in plasma glycerolipids is a novel finding that merits further research.

Besides the heterogeneity across lipid classes, the T2D risk associations of OCFAs in this study differed by sex. Higher abundance of 15:0 in PC and DG, and 17:0 in PC, LPC, and CE were inversely associated with T2D risk in women. Higher 15:0 in MG was inversely associated with T2D in men and women. However, higher 15:0 abundance in LPC and TG was associated with higher T2D risk in men, while women with a higher 17:0 FFA concentration were at higher T2D risk. Stronger inverse associations of circulating metabolites involving 15:0 and 17:0 with T2D risk in women were previously reported in a meta-analysis of sixteen prospective cohorts (27). In addition to the potential sex differences in OCFA metabolism, another possible explanation for the sex differences is that OCFA biomarkers reflect different dietary exposures in men and women.

Most prospective studies on T2D risk only measured OCFAs in total phospholipids or CE (16), limiting the comparisons that may be made between multiple lipid classes. The results of this thesis expand the previous evidence by providing class-specific and sex-specific associations that differ in direction and strength of association.

#### 15:0 and 17:0 as potential biomarkers of dairy intake

Plasma phospholipid OCFAs have been proposed as biomarkers of total dairy and dairy fat intakes (33). In our analyses of phospholipid classes, full-fat dairy intake was correlated with the abundance of 15:0 and 17:0. Thus, considering the inverse associations with T2D risk, OCFAs could also be mediators of the previously reported protective effects of dairy intake

(35) or markers of some other dairy components (76). We found that participants with higher yoghurt intake had stronger inverse associations between OCFAs and T2D. The associations of the OCFA biomarkers with T2D may reflect the contributions of specific sources of dairy fat, such as yoghurt. Future studies should aim to investigate associations of OCFA in plasma lipid classes with a diversity of dairy food types.

Their value as dairy biomarkers has been questioned because small concentrations are found in other foods like meats, for example, (38) and because of the possible endogenous synthesis of 17:0 from fibre-rich foods (36). In our study, both 15:0 and 17:0 in different phospholipid classes correlated negatively with red meat intake but were positively correlated with dairy fat intake and fibre-rich foods (whole grains). It should also be noted that, compared to 17:0, 15:0 has been more strongly correlated with dairy fat (33) and, in some studies, 17:0 was more strongly correlated with fibre intake than with dairy intake (88). However, in the phospholipid classes analysed in this thesis, differences between 15:0 and 17:0 in their association with dairy or fibre-rich foods intake were not apparent.

We, however, found stronger inverse associations of concentrations of 17:0 than 15:0 in lipid classes, which was the case in earlier studies with phospholipids and CE (27, 31). We also found stronger inverse associations of OCFAs with T2D in people with higher fibre intakes, and fibre is inversely related to T2D risk (89). The extent to which the inverse associations of OCFAs reflect dairy or fibre intake should be further explored. It thus seems sensible to encourage future research of 15:0 and 17:0 independently, considering the different strengths in associations with T2D and potential differences in food sources.

#### 5.3 N-6 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids (Manuscript 3)

#### **Class distribution of PUFAS**

In this thesis, n-6 PUFAs were quantified as part of TG, DG, MG, FFA, CE, PC, PE, PI, LPC, and LPE. The percentage of 18:2 was high in phospholipid classes, particularly PC. Similar concentrations were found in TG and CE. CE had higher concentrations of 18:2 than of 20:4, also found in a previous study (90). The enzyme lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) catalyses the synthesis of CE by transferring one FA from PC to CE and has a greater preference for 18:2 compared to 20:4 (91). PI had the highest proportions of 20:4 among all phospholipids, as previous evidence has pointed (92), by the selective incorporation of 20:4 into PI (93). In contrast, TG contained low concentrations of 20:4 because 20:4 is a poor

substrate for TG synthesis (92). 20:3 represented only a small fraction of the FAs in most lipid classes. The heterogeneous distribution of PUFAs across the lipid classes highlights a differential role and metabolic control of PUFAs in the different lipid classes.

#### Class-specific associations of PUFAs with T2D risk

Pooled analyses of prospective cohort studies have reported inverse associations of 18:2n-6 in total plasma phospholipids (49). Our results extend these findings by identifying LPC as the phospholipid group with the stronger inverse associations for 18:2. Previous prospective cohort studies have also linked higher LPC(18:2) with decreased T2D risk (85, 94, 95). LPC(18:2) was also inversely associated with the risk of developing impaired glucose tolerance (94). Our observations of LPC(18:2) associated with a lower risk of T2D corroborated previous findings. It is noteworthy that LPC(18:2) was also inversely associated with incident myocardial infarction (86) and with incident coronary heart disease (96). The accumulating evidence on the protective role of LPC(18:2) calls for research into biological mechanisms.

We also found higher relative concentrations of 18:2 in DG, and TG associated with lower T2D incidence. TG has been proved to reflect dietary FA intake (97, 98), and specifically, TG(18:2) increased after higher n-6 PUFA intake in randomised trials (17, 99). It is unknown if DG(18:2) also reflects LA intake, however, it was strongly correlated with TG(18:2). Thus, the observations of TG(18:2) and DG(18:2) may reflect the inverse associations of LA intake with T2D that were reported in a large prospective study (100). Nonetheless, the associations between 18:2n-6 intake and T2D are inconsistent when considering other studies (101), whereas the associations of 18:2n-6 biomarkers were more robust (40). Previous observational studies on circulating 18:2n-6 have primarily investigated total plasma/serum, erythrocyte phospholipids, plasma phospholipids, and cholesteryl esters (40). This thesis extends the evidence by showing that DG and TG were also inversely associated in our cohort. It should be noted that higher concentrations of the same FA, 18:2, in MG were associated with higher T2D risk. The reason why MG(18:2) is associated with T2D is currently unknown but stands in line with previous prospective cohort studies that revealed that MG(18:2) was positively associated with T2D incidence (102) and even coronary heart disease (96). These results highlight that the abundance of 18:2n-6 is associated with T2D risk in different directions depending on the lipid class.

Besides the higher concentrations of 18:2 in MG, higher concentrations of 20:3 in MG were also linked to higher T2D incidence, as was 20:3 abundance in other lipids: the phospholipids

(PC, PE, PEP, PI), FFA, and CE. These findings are consistent with different prospective studies using plasma concentrations in total phospholipids (41-44, 47), and CE (30, 42, 103). Our findings provide additional evidence of positive associations of 20:3 in specific phospholipid classes and FFA with higher T2D incidence. The exact biological mechanisms behind these associations are unclear, but CE(20:3) has been associated with insulin resistance (104, 105) and, in total serum, 20:3 was associated with lower insulin sensitivity (106).

The concentrations 20:3 and 20:4 are influenced by the activity of D5D, enzyme that catalyses the insertion of a double bond into 20:3. Unlike the observations for 20:3, we noted that higher concentrations of 20:4 in most PL classes and CE were not associated with T2D risk, as it was also observed in a pooled analysis of prospective cohort studies (49). However, the estimated D5D activities (represented by the ratio 20:4/20:3) in CE and PL classes, which were highly intercorrelated in our study and a previous one (107), were inversely associated with T2D risk. These results align with prospective cohort studies that observed inverse associations of higher estimated D5D activity with T2D risk in total PL (42, 52) and CE (42). Our results confirm and extend these previous findings by highlighting that, among the phospholipid classes, the estimated D5D activity in the PC, PE, and PI had the strongest inverse associations.

Some factors have been reported to be involved in regulating D5D activity, for example, glucagon, adrenaline, glucocorticoids, and thyroxin may depress D5D activity (108). Moreover, accumulating evidence has shown that the estimated D5D activity and circulating n-6 PUFAs concentration are affected by genetic variation (109). The estimated D5D activity in PC, PI, LPC, PEP, PE, and CE were stronger associated with genetic variants within *FADS* genes (desaturase encoding genes), more strongly than in other classes. In agreement with our results, *FADS1* variants were strongly associated with the estimated D5D activities in individual phospholipids species (PC, PE, PI) (56). Similarly, findings from Swedish cohorts also revealed that the lead SNP was significantly inversely associated with estimated D5D activity in serum CE (60). The estimated D5D activity in phospholipid classes and CE was inversely associated with T2D risk, suggesting that the plasma lipidome may reflect T2D-related endogenous PUFA metabolism. In contrast, in glycerolipids (MG, DG, and TG), which were not associated with T2D incidence, the explained variance of estimated D5D activity by genomic variation in the *FADS* locus was not notable, therefore, they may not be good proxies of D5D enzyme activity.

Overall, our results point in the same direction as those who noted an increased risk of T2D associated with a low estimated D5D activity. Furthermore, our results support the notion that the associations of PUFA intake with T2D are likely to be attributable not only to dietary intake but also to genetic variation. The metabolic pathways explaining the differences observed for different lipid classes on their association with T2D risk must be confirmed.

### 5.4 Strengths and Limitations

The analyses forming the basis of this thesis offered several strengths. (1) We had a large sample size within a prospective cohort study. The prospective design decreased the risk of reverse causation because the FA biomarker analyses were conducted before T2D was diagnosed, which allows for the definition of temporal sequence. The longitudinal nature also has the advantage that the outcome is unknown at baseline, preventing selection bias. Because of the detailed baseline assessment of the participants (demographics, metabolic markers, clinical factors, lifestyle), we could account for a wide range of potential confounders. By adjusting the models for confounding factors, the effects of the confounders that could distort the observed associations between the FA biomarkers and T2D risk are reduced. (2) The availability of a comprehensive plasma TFA profile with seven different subtypes allowed the identification of TFA biomarkers, an objective exposure measurement (both diet and biological processes). Other studies on TFAs that used self-reported questionnaires (64, 110-115) have limitations in measuring these TFAs intake accurately at very low levels. Furthermore, many studies have only measured one or two TFAs or have collapsed them (total trans 18:1(64)). With the seven TFAs subtypes, we were able to compare the strength of their association with T2D independently of each other, as the concentrations of the other TFAs could be accounted for in the fully adjusted models. (3) The comprehensive metabolite profiling approach allowed us to investigate the abundance of OCFAs and PUFAs across lipid classes and their association with T2D. These analyses refined previously reported associations of OCFAs and PUFAs generated commonly from the total phospholipids or total plasma. (4) Our study profited from information on dietary intake by combining classical methods of dietary assessments by self-report and the objective biomarkers of intake.

Several limitations must also be acknowledged. (1) The observational design cannot provide causal evidence of the effect of any biomarker on the development of T2D. Although the models accounted for extensive relevant risk factors as confounders, the potential for residual confounding remains a possibility that limits causal interpretation. (2) The interpretation of the results as biomarkers of intake is limited in terms of how well the FA reflects intake and

to what extent other factors might influence the circulating metabolites. Examples of other factors affecting the concentrations are genetic factors, endogenous synthesis, different rates of digestion and metabolism, and FA storage sites. (3) For analysis of OCFAs and PUFAs in different lipid classes, we only considered the PUFA or OCFA concentration in each lipid class for our exposure classification. However, some lipid molecules have more than one FA (PC, PE, DG, and TG). Thus, the diversity of other FAs present in these lipids was not considered. (4) We quantified the FAs concentration as percentages instead of absolute amounts. TFAs were expressed as a percentage of total FA concentration in plasma phospholipids. The OCFAs and PUFAs were evaluated as a percentage of the total FA abundance in each class. Such an approach overlooks decreases in other FAs as a consequence of higher percentages of the FA of interest —a higher concentration of a FA is linked to a FA that is reduced, which can be heterogeneous (4) The lack of specification of the n-structure of molecular species involving PUFAs (i.e., the position and configuration cis/trans of double bonds) does not allow to be sure of the exact characterisation (n-6 vs. n-3). Still, we evaluated the correlations of PUFAs abundance in lipid classes with several n-6 PUFAs measured previously in total phospholipids, and they were high, supporting that the exposures reflect n-6 PUFAs. (5) It should also be acknowledged that not all participants provided fasting blood samples. However, fasting time or most recent food intake before sampling could bias T2D risk associations if linked to the disease status. However, because of the prospective study design, it is unlikely that the future disease status influenced the fasting state. Still, random variation in food eaten before sampling could have contributed to random variation in measured lipids and, therefore, a higher chance of false-negative results. (6) The dietary measurements were self-reported with an FFQ, which is limited by recall bias. Still, FFQ is a reliable and valid method (116) and is suitable for ranking participants within a study population according to intake, as was the case in this research. Even so, assessing total dairy intake is complicated by the hidden dairy sources in sauces, dressings, desserts, mixed preparations, and cooking fat. Also, we collapsed subtypes of products into a category. For example, types of cheeses are all included in the cheese category. This could obscure the identification of associations of heterogeneous food groups with the FAs. (7) As our study participants were middle-aged people from one region in Germany, the generalisability of these results to other groups is limited.

# 6. Conclusions and Future Perspectives

Overall, this thesis presented novel evidence about novel lipid biomarkers of T2D risk. The quantification of seven TFAs subtypes in plasma phospholipids and OCFAs and n-6 PUFAs across plasma 15 lipid classes allowed the identification of their altered plasma concentrations preceding the onset of T2D by a median of 6.5 years. Higher plasma concentrations of 18:1n-7*t* and *t*10*c*12-CLA in total phospholipids, MG(15:0), LPC(18:2), DG(18:2), TG(18:2) and, in women, PC(15:0), DG(15:0), PC(17:0), LPC(17:0), CE(17:0) were associated with a lower T2D risk. Higher plasma concentrations of phospholipid *c*9*t*11-CLA, MG(18:2), PC(20:3), PE(20:3), PE(20:3), PI(20:3), FFA(20:3), CE(20:3), MG(20:3), PEO(20:4), FFA(20:4), and FFA(17:0) in women, and LPC(15:0) and TG(15:0) in men, were associated with a higher T2D risk. The findings confirmed that the conventional classification of FAs into TFAs, n-6 PUFAs, or SFAs is not determining the direction or strength of the associations with T2D risk and disregards biological differences between FAs with different structures. Moreover, the direction and strength of associations depended on the FA and lipid class evaluated.

The results indicated that plasma phospholipid TFAs' relationship with T2D risk depends on their specific conformation. No harmful associations between industrial TFAs and incident T2D were detected, which provides new prospective evidence for the relationship between industrial TFAs and T2D development. Previous studies have already highlighted that a distinction should be made between ruminant and industrial sources. The presented results have further expanded the evidence by showing that some ruminant TFAs have opposing relations to diabetes risk, thus, additional distinctions should be made among ruminant TFAs and even among CLAs. The mild difference in structure (t10c12-CLA vs. c9t11-CLA) resulted in significant differences in their impact on T2D incidence. The role of CLA isomers and their determinants could represent a new direction for TFA research.

TFAs and OCFAs in plasma phospholipids associated with reduced T2D risk were also correlated with total dairy intake. A question to be further investigated is whether the analysed TFAs and OCFAs metabolites have causal benefits or if they are markers for other beneficial substances in dairy, specific types of dairy, or other foods associated with dairy intake. Further research should investigate the associations of TFA subtypes and OCFAs in different lipid classes with dairy subgroups (types of cheese, yoghurt) in controlled feeding studies. Furthermore, understanding their determinants and involvement in T2D aetiology may be relevant for food production because of the possible FA profile modification by the cattle feed and other factors related to production. The findings indicated a heterogeneous distribution of OCFAs and n-6 PUFAs across lipid classes. These FAs were differently linked to T2D risk depending on lipid class and, in the case of OCFAs, sex, which indicates that these variables are essential to consider in epidemiological studies investigating these FA biomarkers. The identified prospective associations of the abundance of OCFAs and n-6 PUFAs across plasma lipidomics profiles with T2D diabetes risk highlight the potential of a detailed approach that characterises diverse lipid metabolites in further prospective studies.

We observed that ratios of 20:4/20:3 (as proxies for D5D activity) across PC, PE, PI, and CE were strongly associated with T2D incidence and were more strongly influenced by genomic variance than the activity estimated in glycerolipids. These findings suggest that the PUFA composition in phospholipid classes and CE may reflect T2D-related PUFA metabolism.

The identified FA abundances associated positively or negatively with the risk of T2D are candidate biomarkers of T2D risk to be confirmed in future prospective observational and interventional research. If their pathogenic importance is confirmed, a better characterisation of their determinants and metabolic pathways involved with T2D is necessary. With the corroboration of the present findings in future research, monitoring these biomarkers will allow identifying individuals at risk, providing evidence-based recommendations and, thus, preventing or delaying the development of diabetes.

In conclusion, my results have contributed to the open question of how TFA subtypes in plasma phospholipids from different sources are associated with T2D risk. The industrial TFAs were not associated with T2D, and the direction of association of ruminant TFAs with T2D depended on the exact conformation. The OCFAs and PUFAs were heterogeneously distributed in plasma lipid classes, and the direction and strength of the longitudinal associations with T2D risk depended on the lipid class. The findings from this thesis expand the growing literature showing that complex FA metabolism is associated with T2D risk and that deeper characterisation through a detailed lipidomics profile is desirable to unravel the associations. The findings of this thesis are a new foundation on which future research can build to explain the mechanisms and causality of the associations between diet, plasma biomarkers, and diabetes.

# 7. References of Introduction and Discussion

1. American Diabetes Association. Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus. Diabetes Care. 2014;37(Supplement\_1):S81-S90.

2. International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas. Brussels, Belgium. 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.diabetesatlas.org</u>.

3. Bergman M, Buysschaert M, Medina JL, Tuomilehto J. Remission of T2DM requires early diagnosis and substantial weight reduction. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2022;18(6):329-30.

4. American Diabetes Association. 2. Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes—2021. Diabetes Care. 2021;44(Supplement\_1):S15-S33.

5. Rintamäki R, Rautio N, Peltonen M, Jokelainen J, Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi S, Oksa H, et al. Long-term outcomes of lifestyle intervention to prevent type 2 diabetes in people at high risk in primary health care. Primary Care Diabetes. 2021;15(3):444-50.

6. König D, Hörmann J, Predel HG, Berg A. A 12-Month Lifestyle Intervention Program Improves Body Composition and Reduces the Prevalence of Prediabetes in Obese Patients. Obesity Facts. 2018;11(5):393-9.

7. Diabetes Prevention Program Research G. 10-year follow-up of diabetes incidence and weight loss in the Diabetes Prevention Program Outcomes Study. The Lancet. 2009;374(9702):1677-86.

8. Salas-Salvadó J, Bulló M, Babio N, Martínez-González M, Ibarrola-Jurado N, Basora J, et al. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with the Mediterranean diet: results of the PREDIMED-Reus nutrition intervention randomized trial. Diabetes Care. 2011;34(1):14-9.

9. Schwingshackl L, Hoffmann G, Lampousi AM, Knüppel S, Iqbal K, Schwedhelm C, et al. Food groups and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. Eur J Epidemiol. 2017;32(5):363-75.

10. Jannasch F, Kröger J, Schulze MB. Dietary Patterns and Type 2 Diabetes: A Systematic Literature Review and Meta-Analysis of Prospective Studies. J Nutr. 2017;147(6):1174-82.

11. Churuangsuk C, Hall J, Reynolds A, Griffin SJ, Combet E, Lean MEJ. Diets for weight management in adults with type 2 diabetes: an umbrella review of published metaanalyses and systematic review of trials of diets for diabetes remission. Diabetologia. 2022;65(1):14-36.

12. Fats and fatty acids in human nutrition. Report of an expert consultation. FAO Food Nutr Pap. 2010;91:1-166.

13. Schwab U, Lauritzen L, Tholstrup T, Haldorssoni T, Riserus U, Uusitupa M, et al. Effect of the amount and type of dietary fat on cardiometabolic risk factors and risk of developing type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, and cancer: a systematic review. Food Nutr Res. 2014;58.

Arab L. Biomarkers of Fat and Fatty Acid Intake. J Nutr. 2003;133(3):925S-32S.
 Jenab M, Slimani N, Bictash M, Ferrari P, Bingham SA. Biomarkers in nutritional

epidemiology: applications, needs and new horizons. Human Genetics. 2009;125(5):507-25.

16. Hodson L, Skeaff CM, Fielding BA. Fatty acid composition of adipose tissue and blood in humans and its use as a biomarker of dietary intake. Prog Lipid Res. 2008;47(5):348-80.

17. Eichelmann F, Sellem L, Wittenbecher C, Jäger S, Kuxhaus O, Prada M, et al. Deep Lipidomics in Human Plasma - Cardiometabolic Disease Risk and Effect of Dietary Fat Modulation. Circulation. 2022(Online ahead of print).

18. Beynen AC, Hermus RJ, Hautvast JG. A mathematical relationship between the fatty acid composition of the diet and that of the adipose tissue in man. Am J Clin Nutr. 1980;33(1):81-5.

19. Quehenberger O, Dennis EA. The human plasma lipidome. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(19):1812-23.

20. Nakamura MT, Nara TY. Structure, Function, and Dietary Regulation of  $\Delta 6$ ,  $\Delta 5$ , and  $\Delta 9$  desaturases. Annual Review of Nutrition. 2004;24(1):345-76.

21. Christison JK, Rye KA, Stocker R. Exchange of oxidized cholesteryl linoleate between LDL and HDL mediated by cholesteryl ester transfer protein. J Lipid Res. 1995;36(9):2017-26.

22. Stender S, Astrup A, Dyerberg J. Ruminant and industrially produced trans fatty acids: health aspects. Food & nutrition research. 2008;52:10.3402/fnr.v52i0.1651.

23. Downs SM, Bloem MZ, Zheng M, Catterall E, Thomas B, Veerman L, et al. The Impact of Policies to Reduce trans Fat Consumption: A Systematic Review of the Evidence. Curr Dev Nutr. 2017;1(12).

24. Bendsen NT, Christensen R, Bartels EM, Astrup A. Consumption of industrial and ruminant trans fatty acids and risk of coronary heart disease: a systematic review and metaanalysis of cohort studies. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2011;65(7):773-83.

25. World Health Organization. Draft guidelines on saturated fatty acid and trans-fatty acid intake for adults and children. Public Consultation May to June 2018. 2018 [Available from:

 $\label{eq:https://extranet.who.int/dataform/upload/surveys/666752/files/Draft%20WHO%20SFA-TFA%20guidelines_04052018%20Public%20Consultation.pdf.$ 

26. de Souza RJ, Mente A, Maroleanu A, Cozma AI, Ha V, Kishibe T, et al. Intake of saturated and trans unsaturated fatty acids and risk of all cause mortality, cardiovascular disease, and type 2 diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. BMJ. 2015;351:h3978.

27. Imamura F, Fretts A, Marklund M, Ardisson Korat AV, Yang WS, Lankinen M, et al. Fatty acid biomarkers of dairy fat consumption and incidence of type 2 diabetes: A pooled analysis of prospective cohort studies. PLoS Med. 2018;15(10):e1002670.

28. Kraft J, Collomb M, Möckel P, Sieber R, Jahreis G. Differences in CLA isomers distribution of cow`s milk. Lipids. 2003;38:657-64.

29. Eyre H, Kahn R, Robertson RM, Clark NG, Doyle C, Hong Y, et al. Preventing Cancer, Cardiovascular Disease, and Diabetes. Circulation. 2004;109(25):3244-55.

30. Wang L, Folsom AR, Zheng Z-J, Pankow JS, Eckfeldt JH, ARIC Study Investigators. Plasma fatty acid composition and incidence of diabetes in middle-aged adults: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2003;78(1):91-8.

31. Forouhi NG, Koulman A, Sharp SJ, Imamura F, Kroger J, Schulze MB, et al.

Differences in the prospective association between individual plasma phospholipid saturated fatty acids and incident type 2 diabetes: the EPIC-InterAct case-cohort study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2014;2(10):810-8.

32. Kröger J, Zietemann V, Enzenbach C, Weikert C, Jansen EH, Döring F, et al. Erythrocyte membrane phospholipid fatty acids, desaturase activity, and dietary fatty acids in relation to risk of type 2 diabetes in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)–Potsdam Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2010;93(1):127-42.

33. Pranger IG, Joustra ML, Corpeleijn E, Muskiet FAJ, Kema IP, Oude Elferink SJWH, et al. Fatty acids as biomarkers of total dairy and dairy fat intakes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Nutrition Reviews. 2018;77(1):46-63.

34. Sellem L, Jackson KG, Paper L, Givens ID, Lovegrove JA. Can individual fatty acids be used as functional biomarkers of dairy fat consumption in relation to cardiometabolic health? A narrative review. Br J Nutr. 2022:1-14.

35. Drouin-Chartier J-P, Brassard D, Tessier-Grenier M, Côté JA, Labonté M-È, Desroches S, et al. Systematic Review of the Association between Dairy Product Consumption and Risk of Cardiovascular-Related Clinical Outcomes. Adv Nutr. 2016;7(6):1026-40.

36. Weitkunat K, Schumann S, Nickel D, Hornemann S, Petzke KJ, Schulze MB, et al. Odd-chain fatty acids as a biomarker for dietary fiber intake: a novel pathway for endogenous production from propionate. Am J Clin Nutr. 2017;105(6):1544-51.

37. Bishop CA, Schulze MB, Klaus S, Weitkunat K. The branched-chain amino acids valine and leucine have differential effects on hepatic lipid metabolism. Faseb j. 2020;34(7):9727-39.

38. Ratnayake WN. Concerns about the use of 15:0, 17:0, and trans-16:1n–7 as biomarkers of dairy fat intake in recent observational studies that suggest beneficial effects of dairy food on incidence of diabetes and stroke. Am J Clin Nutr. 2015;101(5):1102-3.

39. Imamura F, Micha R, Wu JHY, de Oliveira Otto MC, Otite FO, Abioye AI, et al. Effects of Saturated Fat, Polyunsaturated Fat, Monounsaturated Fat, and Carbohydrate on Glucose-Insulin Homeostasis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Randomised Controlled Feeding Trials. PLoS medicine. 2016;13(7):e1002087-e.

40. Mousavi SM, Jalilpiran Y, Karimi E, Aune D, Larijani B, Mozaffarian D, et al. Dietary Intake of Linoleic Acid, Its Concentrations, and the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Dose-Response Meta-analysis of Prospective Cohort Studies. Diabetes Care. 2021;44(9):2173-81.

41. Forouhi NG, Imamura F, Sharp SJ, Koulman A, Schulze MB, Zheng J, et al. Association of Plasma Phospholipid n-3 and n-6 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids with Type 2 Diabetes: The EPIC-InterAct Case-Cohort Study. PLoS Med. 2016;13(7):e1002094.

42. Lankinen MA, Stančáková A, Uusitupa M, Ågren J, Pihlajamäki J, Kuusisto J, et al. Plasma fatty acids as predictors of glycaemia and type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2015;58(11):2533-44.

43. Hodge AM, English DR, O'Dea K, Sinclair AJ, Makrides M, Gibson RA, et al. Plasma phospholipid and dietary fatty acids as predictors of type 2 diabetes: interpreting the role of linoleic acid. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007;86(1):189-97.

44. Akter S, Kurotani K, Sato M, Hayashi T, Kuwahara K, Matsushita Y, et al. High Serum Phospholipid Dihomo- $\gamma$ -Linoleic Acid Concentration and Low  $\Delta$ 5-Desaturase Activity Are Associated with Increased Risk of Type 2 Diabetes among Japanese Adults in the Hitachi Health Study. J Nutr. 2017;147(8):1558-66.

45. Yary T, Voutilainen S, Tuomainen TP, Ruusunen A, Nurmi T, Virtanen JK. Serum n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids,  $\Delta 5$ - and  $\Delta 6$ -desaturase activities, and risk of incident type 2 diabetes in men: the Kuopio Ischaemic Heart Disease Risk Factor Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2016;103(5):1337-43.

46. Krachler B, Norberg M, Eriksson JW, Hallmans G, Johansson I, Vessby B, et al. Fatty acid profile of the erythrocyte membrane preceding development of Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases. 2008;18(7):503-10.

47. Weir NL, Nomura SO, Steffen BT, Guan W, Karger AB, Klein R, et al. Associations between omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids, hyperinsulinemia and incident diabetes by race/ethnicity: The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. Clin Nutr. 2020;39(10):3031-41.

48. Harris WS, Luo J, Pottala JV, Margolis KL, Espeland MA, Robinson JG. Red Blood Cell Fatty Acids and Incident Diabetes Mellitus in the Women's Health Initiative Memory Study. PLOS ONE. 2016;11(2):e0147894.

49. Wu JHY, Marklund M, Imamura F, Tintle N, Ardisson Korat AV, de Goede J, et al. Omega-6 fatty acid biomarkers and incident type 2 diabetes: pooled analysis of individuallevel data for 39 740 adults from 20 prospective cohort studies. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2017;5(12):965-74. 50. Miao Z, Lin J-s, Mao Y, Chen G-d, Zeng F-f, Dong H-l, et al. Erythrocyte n-6 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids, Gut Microbiota, and Incident Type 2 Diabetes: A Prospective Cohort Study. Diabetes Care. 2020:dc200631.

51. Mahendran Y, Ågren J, Uusitupa M, Cederberg H, Vangipurapu J, Stančáková A, et al. Association of erythrocyte membrane fatty acids with changes in glycemia and risk of type 2 diabetes. Am J Clin Nutr. 2014;99(1):79-85.

52. Patel PS, Sharp SJ, Jansen E, Luben RN, Khaw K-T, Wareham NJ, et al. Fatty acids measured in plasma and erythrocyte-membrane phospholipids and derived by food-frequency questionnaire and the risk of new-onset type 2 diabetes: a pilot study in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)–Norfolk cohort. Am J Clin Nutr. 2010;92(5):1214-22.

53. Ahola-Olli AV, Mustelin L, Kalimeri M, Kettunen J, Jokelainen J, Auvinen J, et al. Circulating metabolites and the risk of type 2 diabetes: a prospective study of 11,896 young adults from four Finnish cohorts. Diabetologia. 2019;62(12):2298-309.

54. Jacobs S, Schiller K, Jansen EH, Boeing H, Schulze MB, Kröger J. Evaluation of various biomarkers as potential mediators of the association between  $\Delta 5$  desaturase,  $\Delta 6$  desaturase, and stearoyl-CoA desaturase activity and incident type 2 diabetes in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition-Potsdam Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2015;102(1):155-64.

55. Jäger S, Cuadrat R, Hoffmann P, Wittenbecher C, Schulze MB. Desaturase Activity and the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes and Coronary Artery Disease: A Mendelian Randomization Study. Nutrients. 2020;12(8).

56. Gieger C, Geistlinger L, Altmaier E, Hrabé de Angelis M, Kronenberg F, Meitinger T, et al. Genetics meets metabolomics: a genome-wide association study of metabolite profiles in human serum. PLoS Genet. 2008;4(11):e1000282-e.

57. Schaeffer L, Gohlke H, Müller M, Heid IM, Palmer LJ, Kompauer I, et al. Common genetic variants of the FADS1 FADS2 gene cluster and their reconstructed haplotypes are associated with the fatty acid composition in phospholipids. Hum Mol Genet. 2006;15(11):1745-56.

58. Shin S-Y, Fauman EB, Petersen A-K, Krumsiek J, Santos R, Huang J, et al. An atlas of genetic influences on human blood metabolites. Nature Genetics. 2014;46(6):543-50.

59. Jäger S, Wahl S, Kröger J, Sharma S, Hoffmann P, Floegel A, et al. Genetic variants including markers from the exome chip and metabolite traits of type 2 diabetes. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):6037.

60. Marklund M, Morris AP, Mahajan A, Ingelsson E, Lindgren CM, Lind L, et al. Genome-Wide Association Studies of Estimated Fatty Acid Desaturase Activity in Serum and Adipose Tissue in Elderly Individuals: Associations with Insulin Sensitivity. Nutrients. 2018;10(11):1791.

61. Neuenschwander M, Barbaresko J, Pischke CR, Iser N, Beckhaus J, Schwingshackl L, et al. Intake of dietary fats and fatty acids and the incidence of type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. PLoS medicine. 2020;17(12):e1003347-e.

62. World Health Organization. Countdown to 2023: WHO report on global trans-fat elimination 2020. Geneva; 2020.

63. Yakoob MY, Shi P, Willett WC, Rexrode KM, Campos H, Orav EJ, et al. Circulating Biomarkers of Dairy Fat and Risk of Incident Diabetes Mellitus Among Men and Women in the United States in Two Large Prospective Cohorts. Circulation. 2016;133(17):1645-54.

64. Wang Q, Imamura F, Ma W, Wang M, Lemaitre RN, King IB, et al. Circulating and Dietary Trans Fatty Acids and Incident Type 2 Diabetes in Older Adults: The Cardiovascular Health Study. Diabetes Care. 2015;38(6):1099-107.

65. Santaren ID, Watkins SM, Liese AD, Wagenknecht LE, Rewers MJ, Haffner SM, et al. Serum pentadecanoic acid (15:0), a short-term marker of dairy food intake, is inversely associated with incident type 2 diabetes and its underlying disorders. Am J Clin Nutr. 2014;100(6):1532-40.

66. Mozaffarian D, de Oliveira Otto MC, Lemaitre RN, Fretts AM, Hotamisligil G, Tsai MY, et al. trans-Palmitoleic acid, other dairy fat biomarkers, and incident diabetes: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). Am J Clin Nutr. 2013;97(4):854-61.

67. Mozaffarian D, Cao H, King IB, Lemaitre RN, Song X, Siscovick DS, et al. Transpalmitoleic acid, metabolic risk factors, and new-onset diabetes in U.S. adults: a cohort study. Ann Intern Med. 2010;153(12):790-9.

68. Fritsche J, Steinhart H. Amounts of conjugated linoleic acid (CLA) in German foods and evaluation of daily intake. Zeitschrift für Lebensmitteluntersuchung und -Forschung A. 1998;206(2):77-82.

69. Huang Y-C, Luedecke LO, Shultz TD. Effect of cheddar cheese consumption on plasma conjugated linoleic acid concentrations in men. Nutrition Research. 1994;14(3):373-86.

70. Tricon S, Burdge GC, Jones EL, Russell JJ, El-Khazen S, Moretti E, et al. Effects of dairy products naturally enriched with cis-9,trans-11 conjugated linoleic acid on the blood lipid profile in healthy middle-aged men. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006;83(4):744-53.

71. Raff M, Tholstrup T, Sejrsen K, Straarup EM, Wiinberg N. Diets Rich in Conjugated Linoleic Acid and Vaccenic Acid Have No Effect on Blood Pressure and Isobaric Arterial Elasticity in Healthy Young Men. J Nutr. 2006;136(4):992-7.

72. Burdge GC, Tricon S, Morgan R, Kliem KE, Childs C, Jones E, et al. Incorporation of cis-9, trans-11 conjugated linoleic acid and vaccenic acid (trans-11 18 : 1) into plasma and leucocyte lipids in healthy men consuming dairy products naturally enriched in these fatty acids. Br J Nutr. 2005;94(2):237-43.

73. Pintus S, Murru E, Carta G, Cordeddu L, Batetta B, Accossu S, et al. Sheep cheese naturally enriched in  $\alpha$ -linolenic, conjugated linoleic and vaccenic acids improves the lipid profile and reduces anandamide in the plasma of hypercholesterolaemic subjects. Br J Nutr. 2013;109(8):1453-62.

74. Turpeinen AM, Mutanen M, Aro A, Salminen I, Basu S, Palmquist DL, et al. Bioconversion of vaccenic acid to conjugated linoleic acid in humans. Am J Clin Nutr. 2002;76(3):504-10.

75. Kuhnt K, Kraft J, Moeckel P, Jahreis G. Trans-11–18: 1 is effectively δ9-desaturated compared with Trans-12–18: 1 in humans. British Journal of Nutrition. 2006;95(4):752-61.
76. Rice BH, Cifelli CJ, Pikosky MA, Miller GD. Dairy components and risk factors for cardiometabolic syndrome: recent evidence and opportunities for future research. Adv Nutr.

2011;2(5):396-407.

77. Lock AL, Bauman DE. Modifying milk fat composition of dairy cows to enhance fatty acids beneficial to human health. Lipids. 2004;39(12):1197-206.

78. Jones EL, Shingfield KJ, Kohen C, Jones AK, Lupoli B, Grandison AS, et al. Chemical, Physical, and Sensory Properties of Dairy Products Enriched with Conjugated Linoleic Acid. J Dairy Sci. 2005;88(8):2923-37.

79. Hanuš O, Samková E, Křížová L, Hasoňová L, Kala R. Role of Fatty Acids in Milk Fat and the Influence of Selected Factors on Their Variability—A Review. Molecules (Basel, Switzerland). 2018;23(7):1636.

80. Law S-H, Chan M-L, Marathe GK, Parveen F, Chen C-H, Ke L-Y. An Updated Review of Lysophosphatidylcholine Metabolism in Human Diseases. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20(5):1149.

81. Chang W, Hatch GM, Wang Y, Yu F, Wang M. The relationship between phospholipids and insulin resistance: From clinical to experimental studies. J Cell Mol Med. 2019;23(2):702-10.

82. Amigó N, Mallol R, Heras M, Martínez-Hervás S, Blanco-Vaca F, Escolà-Gil JC, et al. Lipoprotein hydrophobic core lipids are partially extruded to surface in smaller HDL: "Herniated" HDL, a common feature in diabetes. Scientific Reports. 2016;6(1):19249.

83. Xepapadaki E, Nikdima I, Sagiadinou EC, Zvintzou E, Kypreos KE. HDL and type 2 diabetes: the chicken or the egg? Diabetologia. 2021;64(9):1917-26.

84. Diamanti K, Cavalli M, Pan G, Pereira MJ, Kumar C, Skrtic S, et al. Intra- and interindividual metabolic profiling highlights carnitine and lysophosphatidylcholine pathways as key molecular defects in type 2 diabetes. Scientific Reports. 2019;9(1):9653.

85. Yang SJ, Kwak S-Y, Jo G, Song T-J, Shin M-J. Serum metabolite profile associated with incident type 2 diabetes in Koreans: findings from the Korean Genome and Epidemiology Study. Scientific Reports. 2018;8(1):8207.

86. Ward-Caviness CK, Xu T, Aspelund T, Thorand B, Montrone C, Meisinger C, et al. Improvement of myocardial infarction risk prediction via inflammation-associated metabolite biomarkers. Heart. 2017;103(16):1278-85.

87. Santaren ID, Bazinet RP, Liu Z, Johnston LW, Sievenpiper JL, Giacca A, et al. The Distribution of Fatty Acid Biomarkers of Dairy Intake across Serum Lipid Fractions: The Prospective Metabolism and Islet Cell Evaluation (PROMISE) Cohort. Lipids. 2019;54(10):617-27.

88. Pertiwi K, Küpers LK, Wanders AJ, de Goede J, Zock PL, Geleijnse JM. Associations of dairy and fiber intake with circulating odd-chain fatty acids in post-myocardial infarction patients. Nutr Metab. 2019;16(1):78.

89. The InterAct Consortium. Dietary fibre and incidence of type 2 diabetes in eight European countries: the EPIC-InterAct Study and a meta-analysis of prospective studies. Diabetologia. 2015;58(7):1394-408.

90. Quehenberger O, Armando AM, Brown AH, Milne SB, Myers DS, Merrill AH, et al. Lipidomics reveals a remarkable diversity of lipids in human plasma. J Lipid Res. 2010;51(11):3299-305.

91. Sgoutas DS. Fatty acid specificity of plasma phosphatidylcholine: cholesterol acyltransferase. Biochemistry. 1972;11(2):293-6.

92. Zhou L, Nilsson Å. Sources of eicosanoid precursor fatty acid pools in tissues. Journal of Lipid Research. 2001;42(10):1521-42.

93. Barneda D, Cosulich S, Stephens L, Hawkins P. How is the acyl chain composition of phosphoinositides created and does it matter? Biochem Soc Trans. 2019;47(5):1291-305.

94. Wang-Sattler R, Yu Z, Herder C, Messias AC, Floegel A, He Y, et al. Novel biomarkers for pre-diabetes identified by metabolomics. Mol Syst Biol. 2012;8:615-.

95. Suvitaival T, Bondia-Pons I, Yetukuri L, Pöhö P, Nolan JJ, Hyötyläinen T, et al. Lipidome as a predictive tool in progression to type 2 diabetes in Finnish men. Metabolism. 2018;78:1-12.

96. Ganna A, Salihovic S, Sundström J, Broeckling CD, Hedman AK, Magnusson PKE, et al. Large-scale metabolomic profiling identifies novel biomarkers for incident coronary heart disease. PLoS Genet. 2014;10(12):e1004801-e.

97. Heath RB, Karpe F, Milne RW, Burdge GC, Wootton SA, Frayn KN. Dietary fatty acids make a rapid and substantial contribution to VLDL-triacylglycerol in the fed state. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2007;292(3):E732-E9.

98. Heath RB, Karpe F, Milne RW, Burdge GC, Wootton SA, Frayn KN. Selective partitioning of dietary fatty acids into the VLDL TG pool in the early postprandial period. J Lipid Res. 2003;44(11):2065-72.

99. Hodson L, Eyles HC, McLachlan KJ, Bell ML, Green TJ, Skeaff CM. Plasma and Erythrocyte Fatty Acids Reflect Intakes of Saturated and n–6 PUFA within a Similar Time Frame. J Nutr. 2013;144(1):33-41.

100. Zong G, Liu G, Willett WC, Wanders AJ, Alssema M, Zock PL, et al. Associations Between Linoleic Acid Intake and Incident Type 2 Diabetes Among U.S. Men and Women. Diabetes Care. 2019;42(8):1406-13.

101. Schulze MB. Dietary Linoleic Acid: Will Modifying Dietary Fat Quality Reduce the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes? Diabetes Care. 2021;44(9):1913-5.

102. Fall T, Salihovic S, Brandmaier S, Nowak C, Ganna A, Gustafsson S, et al. Nontargeted metabolomics combined with genetic analyses identifies bile acid synthesis and phospholipid metabolism as being associated with incident type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2016;59(10):2114-24.

103. Vessby B, Aro A, Skarfors E, Berglund L, Salminen I, Lithell H. The risk to develop NIDDM is related to the fatty acid composition of the serum cholesterol esters. Diabetes. 1994;43(11):1353-7.

104. Corpeleijn E, Feskens EJM, Jansen EHJM, Mensink M, Saris WHM, de Bruin TWA, et al. Improvements in glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity after lifestyle intervention are related to changes in serum fatty acid profile and desaturase activities: the SLIM study. Diabetologia. 2006;49(10):2392-401.

105. Kurotani K, Sato M, Ejima Y, Nanri A, Yi S, Pham NM, et al. High levels of stearic acid, palmitoleic acid, and dihomo- $\gamma$ -linolenic acid and low levels of linoleic acid in serum cholesterol ester are associated with high insulin resistance. Nutr Res. 2012;32(9):669-75.e3.

106. Takkunen MJ, Schwab US, de Mello VDF, Eriksson JG, Lindström J, Tuomilehto J, et al. Longitudinal associations of serum fatty acid composition with type 2 diabetes risk and markers of insulin secretion and sensitivity in the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study. Eur J Nutr. 2016;55(3):967-79.

107. Gray RG, Kousta E, McCarthy MI, Godsland IF, Venkatesan S, Anyaoku V, et al. Ethnic variation in the activity of lipid desaturases and their relationships with cardiovascular risk factors in control women and an at-risk group with previous gestational diabetes mellitus: a cross-sectional study. Lipids Health Dis. 2013;12:25-.

108. Brenner RR. Hormonal modulation of delta6 and delta5 desaturases: case of diabetes. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids. 2003;68(2):151-62.

109. Zietemann V, Kröger J, Enzenbach C, Jansen E, Fritsche A, Weikert C, et al. Genetic variation of the FADS1 FADS2 gene cluster and n-6 PUFA composition in erythrocyte membranes in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition-Potsdam study. Br J Nutr. 2010;104(12):1748-59.

110. Dow C, Mangin M, Balkau B, Affret A, Boutron-Ruault MC, Clavel-Chapelon F, et al. Fatty acid consumption and incident type 2 diabetes: an 18-year follow-up in the female E3N (Etude Epidémiologique auprès des femmes de la Mutuelle Générale de l'Education Nationale) prospective cohort study. Br J Nutr. 2016:1-9.

111. Guasch-Ferre M, Becerra-Tomas N, Ruiz-Canela M, Corella D, Schroder H, Estruch R, et al. Total and subtypes of dietary fat intake and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus in the Prevencion con Dieta Mediterranea (PREDIMED) study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2017;105(3):723-35.

112. Salmerón J, Hu FB, Manson JE, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Rimm EB, et al. Dietary fat intake and risk of type 2 diabetes in women. Am J Clin Nutr. 2001;73(6):1019-26.
113. Song Y, Manson JE, Buring JE, Liu S. A Prospective Study of Red Meat Consumption and Type 2 Diabetes in Middle-Aged and Elderly Women: The Women's Health Study. Diabetes Care. 2004;27(9):2108-15.

114. van Dam RM, Willett WC, Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ, Hu FB. Dietary Fat and Meat Intake in Relation to Risk of Type 2 Diabetes in Men. Diabetes Care. 2002;25(3):417-24.

115. Meyer KA, Kushi LH, Jacobs DR, Jr., Folsom AR. Dietary fat and incidence of type 2 diabetes in older Iowa women. Diabetes Care. 2001;24(9):1528-35.

116. Bohlscheid-Thomas S, Hoting I, Boeing H, Wahrendorf J. Reproducibility and relative validity of food group intake in a food frequency questionnaire developed for the German part of the EPIC project. European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Int J Epidemiol. 1997;26(suppl\_1):S59-S.
## Acknowledgments

This page contains personal data. Hence, it is not part of this online publication.

## Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Hiermit erkläre ich an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit selbstständig verfasst und ausschließlich die angegebenen Quellen genutzt habe. Weiterhin versichere ich, die Arbeit bei keiner anderen Hochschule eingereicht zu haben.

MPradaA

Potsdam, den 15.06.2022

Marcela Prada Acuña